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Tableau n°1

VARUN BEVERAGES MOROCCO

 Assets PREVIOUS YEAR

Gross Depreciations Net Net

and provisions 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

PROPERTY VALUE IN NO (a) 9 049 879,40 7 515 644,91 1 534 234,49 2 358 194,49

Preliminary expenses

Expences Deferred 9 049 879,40 7 515 644,91 1 534 234,49 2 358 194,49

Bond redemption premiums

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (b) 126 646,00 69 290,62 57 355,38 75 496,38

Capital Research & Development

Patents, trademarks, rights, and similar 126 646,00 69 290,62 57 355,38 75 496,38

goodwill

Other intangible assets

PROPERTY & EQUIPMENT (c) 1 152 658 238,85 385 692 154,78 766 966 084,07 534 205 750,41

Land 80 551 444,10 80 551 444,10 80 551 444,10

Constructions 214 982 833,59 42 676 087,74 172 306 745,85 61 632 974,32

Plant, machinery and equipment 805 945 691,36 320 686 573,87 485 259 117,49 249 740 857,84

Transportation Equipment 17 080 807,47 14 488 657,19 2 592 150,28 3 472 937,67

Furniture, office equipment & facilities various 14 432 008,01 7 840 835,98 6 591 172,03 4 652 052,48

Other tangible assets

Assets under construction and Asset in progress 19 665 454,32 19 665 454,32 134 155 484,00

FINANCIAL ASSETS (d) 6 943 264,33 6 943 264,33 5 237 516,13

Term loans

Other financial receivables 6 943 264,33 6 943 264,33 5 237 516,13

Equity securities

Other investments

TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS - ASSETS (e) 9 936 144,92 9 936 144,92 7 102 919,93

Decrease in nonperforming loans

Increase in borrowings 9 936 144,92 9 936 144,92 7 102 919,93

TOTAL  I   ( a+b+c+d+e) 1 178 714 173,50 393 277 090,31 785 437 083,19 548 979 877,34

STOCKS (f) 257 389 383,89 257 389 383,89 221 237 276,10

Trading Goods 48 221 968,09 48 221 968,09 64 257 556,76

Consumable raw materials and supplies 136 871 663,93 136 871 663,93 104 085 469,67

Work in progress 23 931 660,17 23 931 660,17

Intermediate products and residual products

Finished goods 48 364 092 48 364 092 52 894 250

CURRENT ASSETS  (g) 233 633 482,69 233 633 482,69 281 879 528,63

Supplier receivables, advances 33 151 498,91 33 151 498,91 49 323 163,39

Accounts receivable 128 908 385,29 128 908 385,29 156 896 700,55

Staff and Employees 2 027 506,35 2 027 506,35 1 332 020,76

State and taxes 28 962 549,42 28 962 549,42 46 119 820,56

Accounts associated & Account of shareholder

Other receivables 1 127,18

Accrued Assets& Prepaid  Exp 40 583 542,72 40 583 542,72 28 206 696,19
SECURITIES AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES (h)

Exchange difference- ASSETS (i) 475 128,81 475 128,81 1 000 270,01

  (Circulating items)

TOTAL  II   ( f+g+h+i) 491 497 995,39 491 497 995,39 504 117 074,74

CASH - ASSETS 24 605 274,65 24 605 274,65 9 642 083,04

Checks and cash values   ... 7 029 688,17 7 029 688,17 7 845 338,84

Bank T.G. and C.C.P. 17 389 066,60 17 389 066,60 1 641 196,22

Cash, Imprest and flow- 186 519,88 186 519,88 155 547,98
TOTAL  III 24 605 274,65 24 605 274,65 9 642 083,04

TOTAL GENERAL  I+II+III 1 694 817 443,54 393 277 090,31 1 301 540 353,23 1 062 739 035,12

Balance Sheet (Assets)

EXERCISE CLOSED ON  31/12/2024

EXERCICE



Tableau 1

Balance Sheet (Liabilities)

VARUN BEVERAGES MOROCCO

Liabilities Exercise Exercice

PREVIOUS YEAR

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

EQUITY

Capital 869 638 000,00         869 638 000,00         

fewer shareholders, subscribed capital uncalled

                                             called capital

                                              which paid .........................................

Premium, merger, contribution

Revaluation

Legal reserve

Other reserves

Retained earnings (2)& Acumulation of losses and gains -505 535 610,03 -557 585 140,71

Net results pending allocation (2)

Net profit for the year (2) 47 508 532,23 52 049 530,68

TOTAL Equity (a) 411 610 922,20 364 102 389,97

ALLIED CAPITAL  (b)

Investment grants

Regulated provisions

Donations

DEBT FINANCING ( (c) 397 365 806,26 288 889 885,71

Bonds

Other borrowings 397 365 806,26 288 889 885,71

Others Debt Financing

SUSTAINABLE PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (d) 9 936 144,92 7 102 919,93

Provisions for charges

Provisions for risks 9 936 144,92            7 102 919,93

Exchange difference- Liabilities  (e)

Increase in nonperforming loans

Decrease in borrowings -                             

TOTAL  I  ( a+b+c+d+e ) 818 912 873,38 660 095 195,61

DEBT FOR CURRENT LIABILITIES 219 173 916,55 258 180 019,89

Accounts payable 159 156 609,23 189 428 426,59

Customers payable, advance payments 11 831 869,71 11 167 545,47

Staff and Employees 677 308,25 409 503,87

Social security 5 108 821,63 3 403 743,84

State and Taxes 33 446 388,50 38 248 887,37

Accounts associated&Account of shareholder 6 386 455,49 13 124 335,31

Other creditors

Adjustment accounts - liabilities (Interest Payable) 2 566 463,74 2 397 577,44

OTHER PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES(EXCHANGE) (g) 475 128,81 1 000 270,01

Exchange difference- Liabilities  (Circulating items) 326 568,43 1 430 316,13

TOTAL  II  ( f+g+h ) 219 975 613,79 260 610 606,03

CASH - LIABILITIES 262 651 866,06 142 033 233,48

Discount credits 8 976 562,87 32 494 214,68

Credits CASH 95 000 000,00 25 000 000,00

Banking regulation(credit balance) 158 675 303,19 84 539 018,80

TOTAL  III 262 651 866,06 142 033 233,48

TOTAL   I+II+III 1 301 540 353,23 1 062 739 035,12

(1) Capital personnel debiteur

(2) Beneficiaire (+) . deficitaire (-)

EXERCISE CLOSED ON  31/12/2024



Tableau n°2

PROFIT & LOSS 

VARUN BEVERAGES MOROCCO

Totals of Totals of

Relating for earlier the exercise PREVIOUS

to the year  years 31/12/2024 YEAR

1 2  3 = 1 + 2 31/12/2023

I OPERATING INCOME

Sales of  Trading goods  (Turnover trading) 243 779 626,21 243 779 626,21 231 133 415,53

Sales goods&services produced &Turnover 
Manufact 1 264 888 020,05 1 264 888 020,05 1 112 762 477,60

Change in product inventory (+ -) 1& stock 19 401 502,20 19 401 502,20 9 677 582,01

Asset Produced by  the company itself

Operating subsidies

Other operating income
Operating  Provision  Reversed, transfers 
charges

TOTAL  I 1 528 069 148,46 1 528 069 148,46 1 353 573 475,14

II OPERATING EXPENSES

Trading goods 159 644 076,76 159 644 076,76 168 127 876,59

Consumed  raw materials and  supplies 513 178 737,12 513 178 737,12 480 171 689,90

Other external expenses 487 249 216,61 487 249 216,61 385 284 847,33

Taxes 110 274 834,59 110 274 834,59 96 310 996,02

Staff costs 123 155 704,20 123 155 704,20 101 100 690,72

Other operating expenses

Operating allowances &Depreciation 55 081 779 55 081 778,66 43 109 620,67

TOTAL  II 1 448 584 347,94 1 448 584 347,94 1 274 105 721,23

III OPERATING INCOME  ( I - II ) 79 484 800,52 79 467 753,91

IV FINANCIAL PRODUCTS

Income from equity securities and  other 
investments

Foreign exchange gains 5 151 822,70 5 151 822,70 3 509 112,45        

Interest and other financial products 39 452 39 452,05

Financial times, transfers charges 8 103 190 8 103 189,92 15 332 454,01      

TOTAL  IV 13 294 464,67 13 294 464,67 18 841 566,46

V FINANCIAL CHARGES

Interest expense 25 676 578,22 25 676 578,22 18 447 056,98

Foreign exchange loss 4 665 267,06 4 665 267,06 4 253 892,15

Other financial charges

Provision  exchange loss 10 411 273,73 10 411 273,73 8 103 189,92

TOTAL  V 40 753 119,01 40 753 119,01 30 804 139,05

VI FINANCIAL RESULTS ( IV - V ) -27 458 654,34 -11 962 572,59

VII CURRENT INCOME ( III - VI) 52 026 146,18 67 505 181,32

1) Variation de stocks : stocks final - stocks initial ;augmentation (+) ;diminution (-)

2) Achats revendus ou consommes : achats - variation de stocks.

EXERCISE CLOSED IN  31/12/2024

           OPERATIONS



Tableau n°2

PROFIT & LOSS 

VARUN BEVERAGES MOROCCO

           OPERATIONS Totals of Totals of

Relating for earlier The exercise PREVIOUS

to the year years 31/12/2024 YEAR

1 2  3 = 1 + 2 31/12/2023

VII CURRENT RESULT( Report ) 52 026 146,18 67 505 181,32

VIII NO-CURRENT RESULT

Proceeds from sale of Asset 31 369 827,92 31 369 827,92 20 446 881,21

Balancing subsidy

Reversal of capital grants

Other No-current  income 20 271,21 20 271,21 26 947,79

Non-current times, transfers charges 7 473 481 7 473 481,29

TOTAL  VIII 38 863 580,42 38 863 580,42 20 473 829,00

IX NO-RECURRING EXPENSES

Net value of depreciation assets sold 30 448 254,31 30 448 254,31 20 454 286,14

Grants

Other non-current expenses 9 133 134,17 9 133 134,17 12 103 418,54

Allocations to non-current amortization and 
provisions

TOTAL  IX 39 581 388,48 39 581 388,48 32 557 704,68

X NO-CURRENT INCOME ( VIII- IV ) -717 808,06 -12 083 875,68

XI PROFIT AND LOSS BEFORE TAXES ( VII+ X ) 51 308 338,12 55 421 305,64

XII INCOME TAX 3 799 805,89 3 371 774,96

XIII NET PROFIT AND LOSS ( XI - XII ) 47 508 532,23 52 049 530,68

XIV TOTAL INCOME ( I + IV + VIII ) 1 580 227 193,55 1 392 888 870,60

XV TOTAL EXPENSES( II + V + IX + XII ) 1 532 718 661,32 1 340 839 339,92

XVI NET PROFIT AND LOSS ( XIV - XV ) 47 508 532,23 52 049 530,68

EXERCISE CLOSED ON  31/12/2024
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Vo ru n Beverarses {Zom bi o ) Li rn ited
Annuol report ond finoncial stctements
For the yeor ended 31 December 2A24

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors submit their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
which disclose the state of affairs of 

.the 
Company.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company manufactures and distributes carbonated soft drinks, bottled drinking water and dairy products.

2024
ZMW

2023
ZMWRESULTS

(Loss) before tax
Tax (charge)

(Loss) for the year

DIVIDEND

141,1A4,384t (94624,643]

(47,744,384) (94,6?4,643)

The directors do not recommend the declaration of a dividend for th€ year (2023: Nili.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING DATE

There were no events after the reporting date that requires disclosure or adjustment to these financial statements-

DIRECTORS

The directors who heid office during the year and to the date ofthis report are shown on page 1.

GOIN6 CONCERN

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company recognised a net loss ofZMW 47,144,185 (2023: ZMW
94,624,643), accumulated losses of (2024: ZMw 93,707,532), (2023: ZMW 46,563,I47), as of rhar date. The parent
Company will provide thc necessary financial support to ensure that the company is continuing to run the business
smoothly. lt has further confirmed that it is not its intention to call up inter-company indebtedness owed to jt in the
near Future in any way that might give rise to a liquidity shortage.

The directors believe that the Company will continue as a going concern from the end ofthe reporting date, that is,
31 December 2024, The directors have prepared the financial statements cn a going concern basis based on cash
flow projections which include cost control measures, current availability of funds, commitments of continued
support from the shareholders and an expectation ofsr:stained profitability at the conclusion of the projected
period.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The CompanY's auditor, PKF Zambia Chartered Accountants, has indicared willingness to continue in office
in accordance with the Companies I\ct, 2017.

OTHER

ln accordance with Section 249 and 277 of the Companies Act, 2017 the board of directors also report that
during the year:

- the company made donations amounting to ZMW Nil (2023: ZMW Nil);
- Director's remuneration amounted to ZMW 1,932,687 (2OZ3iZMW 1,919,006 );
- Auditor's renumeration amounted to ZMW 370,137 12023:ZMW 37A,f3l)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

LUSAKA

2

l_5. 03 202s

\
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Varun Beverages (Zombio) Limited
Annuol repott ond finonciol statenents
For the yeor ended 31 December 2024
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBITITIES

The Zambian Companies Act,2017 requlres the directors to prepare financial statements for each frnancialyear
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of its profit
or loss for that year. lt also requlres the directors to ensure that the Company keeps proper accounting records that
are sufficient to show and explain the transactrons of the Companyj that disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the
financial position of the Company and that enable thenr to prepare financial statements of the Company that comply wlth
the lnternational Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of
Zambian Companies A*,2AL7. The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties.

The directors accept responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards for 5mall and l\4edium-sized Entities and in the
manner required under Zambian Companies Act,2071. They also accept responsibility for:

i. Designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control as they deterrnine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or
eraor;

ii. Selecting and applying appropriate accountinB policies; and
iii. Making accounting estimates and judgements that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The Directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2024 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with lnternational Financial Repofting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities and the
requirements of the Zambian Companies Act, 2017.

ln preparing these financial statements the directors have assessed the Company's ability to continue as a gorng
concern. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Company will not remain a gorng
concern for at least the next tr,rrelve months from the date of this statement.

The directors acknowledge thatthe independentauditofthefinanclal statements does not relieve them oftheir
res po nsibilities.

So far as each of the directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information which the auditor is unaware of,
and each of the directors has taken ail the steps that ought to have Lreen taken in order to become aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is alvare of that informatron-

Approved by the boardof directors cn | 9tl Nlat rh 2025 signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Suhhasis Rath Mr. Vibhay Singh Chauhan
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF VARUN BEVERAGES (ZAMBIA) LIMITED

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Varurr Beverages (Zambia) Limited set out on pages I ia21,,

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 Decenrber 2024, the statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income, statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

ln our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the'
company as at 31 December 2A24, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended

in accordance with lnternational Frnancial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for
SMEs) and the Companies Act, 2017.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternatlonal Standards on Auditing (lSAs). Our responsibilities

under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the lnternational
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Zambia, and we

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Company

information, report of the directors, statement of directors' responslbilities and the schedule of expenditure

but does not include the financial statements and our report ofthe independent auditorthereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon,

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information

and, in doing so, considerwhetherthe other information is materially inconsistent with the financial

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially mrsstated. lf, based

on tlre work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in

accordance with IFRS for SMEs and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017, and for such internal

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of firrancial statements that are free

from rnaterial misstatement, vrhether due to fraud or error.

Partners: Antony C, Ranjan (Managing Partner), Steven Chib\rye, Simon Njelemba, Thulile L, Kavimba, lVusonda M. Kambikambl

PKF Zambia Chartered Accountants is a member of PKF Global, the network of menrber firms of PKF lnternational Limited. each of whicir
is a separate and independent legal entity and does not accept any responsibility or liatrility for the actjons or inactions of any individual
member or correspondent f;rm(s).
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REPORT OF THE TNDEpENDENT AUDTTOR TO THE MEMBERS OF VARUN BEVERAGES (ZAMBIA) LtMITED

(coNTTNUED)

ln preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Cornpany's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Tlrose charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company's financiai reporting process

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about v;hether the financial statements as a whole are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an

audit conducted in accordance with lSAs will always detect a material misstatementwhen it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materral if, individuatly or in the

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the

basis of these financial statements.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
As part of an audit in accordance with lSAs, we exercise professionaljudgment and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

i. ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detectrng a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentionalomissions, misrepresentations, or override of internal control.

ii. Obrain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in orderto design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
appropriateness of the company's internal control.

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

iv. Concludeontheappropriatenessof director'suseof thegoingconcernbasisof accountingand
based on the audit evldence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the conrpany's ability to continue as a going concern. lf
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report of the
independent auditor to the related disclosures in the financial statements, or if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

v. Evaiuate the overall presentation, structure and content ofthe financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audlt and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit,

5
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF VARUN BEVERAGES (ZAMBIA)

LtMTTED (CONTTNUED)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by the Compan es Act, 2017 we report to you, based on our audlt, that;

i. there is no relationship, interest, or debt which we have in the Company;

ii. there were no serious breaches of corporate governance principles or practices by the directors

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resultlng in this report of the independent auditor is

Thulile Kavimba Mumba - membership number AUD/F0008077.

fl(r Zfliv gtfr
Chartered Accountants
LUSAKA

Thulile

\/llt

O ui' Reference : AR/LSK/0012/25

tl



Varun Beveroges {Zambia) Limited
Annual report ond finonciol stotemefits
For the yeor ended 31 Decentber 2024
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Revenue

Cost.of sales

Gross profit

Other operating income

Administrative expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Employment costs

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

Operating (loss)

Finance costs

{Loss} before tax

Tax charge

(Loss) for the year

Accumulated losses

At start of year
(Loss) for the year

(41,744,384) 194,624,6431

Notes
2424
zMw

1,070,693.653

(s82,768,263 )

2423
ZMW

829,842,t263

4

5

I

6

7

487,925,390

3,743,83A

{180,026,s20)

i128,020,8s9)

(1s0,378,018)

(43,s1.1,759)

363,2s9,839

810,610

(192,06A,754)

(98,061,234)

(104,s33,s97)

(43,089,043)

(73,674,17s)

(20,9s0,464)

{70,661,936)

(36,476,448\

a

(4t,144,3841 \94,624,643)

(46,s63,147)

(47,144,384)
48,061,496

(94,6)4,643\

At end of year

The notes on pages 10 to 21 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Report of the independent auditor - pages 4 to 6"

707,53L) (46,563,147]l

7



Vorun Beverages (Zombia) Limited
Annuol report ond finonciol stotements
For the yeor ended 31 December 2024
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Other non currenl assets

Current assets

I nventories
Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

EQUITY

Share capital
Accumulated (losses)

Other equity

Equity attributable to the owners of the company

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

As at 31 December

2024 2023
ZMW ZMWNotes

9 487,334,241.

1-1 6,481,519
371,979,806

21,892,464

493,815,760 393,872,270

1.0

1"2

13

203,348,759

1L3,927,959
5,633,696

1,64,705,322

103,3 18,403

5,406,469

321,970,414 273,$4,fiA

817,726,174 667,302,464

1a(a)

16

207,890,000
(93,707,s31)

23L,075

207,890,000
(46,563,147)

36,8s614(b)

114,413,544

16 2-71,842,L09 25 1,03s,156

271,842,109 251,035,156

15 256,816,713
714,653,8A8

780,117,879
14,725,780

431,470,5?t 254,903,599

811 ,126,r7 4 667 ,302,464

The financial statements on pages 7 to 21 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
Directors on I 025 and were signed on its behalf by:

\\ RECTOR DIRECTOR

The notes on pages 10 to 21 form an integral part ofthese financial statements

Report of the independent auditor - pages 4 to 6.

I

1"61,,363,709



Varun Beveroqes (Zambio) Limited
Annual report ond financio! stotements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss) before tax

Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
lnterest expense
Foreign exchange losses

Net cash from operations before working capital changes

Changes in working capital:
- (lncrease)/decreasein inventories
- Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
- Decrease/increase in trade and other payables

lnterest paid

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash paid for purchase of property, plant and equipment
Share based payment to employees
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net cash (used in)lgenerated from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds/(re-payment) of borrowings

Net cash used in financing activities

Decrease in cash and cash eouivalents

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
At start of year

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate changes

147,144,384) (94,624,643\

Notes
2024
zMw

43,911,759

33,292,1"87

43,527 ,02{)

2023
ZMW

43,669,864

20,592,009

110,132,513

o

7

73,586,582

(38,643,437)

4,801,390
76,638,894

(33,292,181)

80,369,803

(37,38s,848)

27,665,937

10,20 1,Bs 1

(20,s92,009)

Net cash from operating activities after working capital changes 83,A91,242

7

9

60,259,734

{178,21s,027:)
1qa ? 1q

18,948,832

(41,108,83s)

36,8s6
2,484,399

(Ls9,071,976) (38,s87,s80)

124,734,981 89,223,019

720,134,981 89,223,079

44,154,247 110,895,233

5,406,469
44,754,247

\43,s27,020)

s,243,848
1 10,895,233

(1L0,732,573]l

l'otal cash at end of the year 11 6,633,696

The notes on pages 10 to 2l- form an integral part of these financial statements,

Report of the independent auditor - pages 4 to 6.

5,406,469

o



Vorun Beveraqes (Zambio) Limited
Annual report ond financiol stotements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES

The prirrcipal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These poiicies have been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless otherwise stated.

1) General lnformation

The Company manufactures and distributes carbonated soft drinks, bottled drinking water and dairy products.

Plot No. 37426 Mungwi Road

Heavy lndustrial Area
P.O. Box 300C7

Lusaka

Zambia

2) Significantaccountingpolicies

a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Varun Beverages (Zambia) Limited have been prepared in accordance with the
lnternational Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). They

have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires the use of certain

critical accounting estrmates. lt also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Company's accounting policies. Areas involving a higher degree of .ludgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimations are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in

note 2 (b).

These financial statements compiy with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017. The statement of
profit or loss and retained earnings represents the profit and loss account referred to in the Act. The

statement offinancial position represents the balance sheet referred to in the Act.

Going concern

The financial performance of the Company is set out in the report of the directors and in the statement of
profit or Ioss and retained earnings. The financial position of the Company is set out in the statement of
financial position.

Based on the financial performance and position of the group and its risk management policies, the

directors are of the opinion that the group is well placed to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and as a resultthe financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assers and Iiabilities within the next financial period are disclosed as follows.

10



Varun Beverages (Zambio) Limited
Annuol report ond finoncial stofements
For the year ended 31- December 2024
NOTES (CONTTNUED)

2) Significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Key sources tif estimation uncertainty (continued)

- Useful lives of property, plant and equlpment - l\4anagement reviews the useful lives and residualvalues

of the items of property, plant anC equipment on a regular basis. During the financial year, the directors

determined no significant changes in the useful lives and residual values.

- lmpairmentoftradereceivables-theCornpanyreviewstheirportfoliooftradereceivablesonanannual
basis. ln determining whether receivables are impaired, the managemeot makes judgement as to
whetherthere is any evidence indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows expected.

c) Significant judgements made by management in applying the Company's accounting policies

The directors have made the following judgenrents that are considered to have the most signrficant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
- Revenue recognition - ln making their.judgement, the directors considered the detailed criteria forthe

recognition of revenue from the sale of goods set out in Section 23 and, in particular whether the
Company had transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods-

d) Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fairvalue of the consideration received or receivable forthe sale of goods in the
ordinary course of the Comparry's activities. Revenue is shourn net of sales value-added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts.

The Company recognises revenue when: the amount of revenue can be reliably measu[ed; it is probable

that future economic benefits willflow to the entity; and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Company's actrvities.

i) Sales of goods are recognised upon delivery of proCucts and customer acceptance

e) Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and thereafter stated at historical cost less

depreciation. Historical cost comprises expenditure initially incurred to bring the asset to its location and

condition ready for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associaled w;th the ltem will flow to the Company and

the cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs

and nraintenance are charged to profit or loss during tlre financial year ln which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on straight line method to write down value (WDV} the cost of each asset, to its
residualvalue, over its estimated useful life using the following annual rates:

Estimated useful life
Land and buildings
- Land

- Buildings
Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

Furniture and fittings
lT equipment
Computer equipment
Vlsi-coo ler

Over the lease period

50 years

20 years

4 years

5 years

3 years

3 years

7 yea rs

11



Varun Beveroqes (Zambia) Lirnited
Annuol report and finonciol statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024
NOTES (CONTTNUED)

2) Significant accounting policies (continued)

e) Property, plant and equipment icontinued)

An asset's carrying amollnt is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

The assets residual values and usefuI lives are reviewed, and adjlsted if appropriate, at each statement
of financial position date.

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit/loss.

f) Financial assets

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at the transaction price. Most sales are made on the
basis of normal credit terms, and the receivables do not bear interest. Where credit is extended beyond
normal credit terms, receivai:les are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

C) Financialliabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at the transaction price (less transaction costs). Trade
payables are obligations on the basis of normal credit terms and do not bear interest. lnterest bearing
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest merhod.

h) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks, net of bank overdrafts.

ln the statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities

i) lnventories

lnventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisahrle value. Cost is determined bv the "weiehted
average cost method''. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour. other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity), but excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
costs of completion and selling expenses.

j) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at the transaction price (that is, the present value of cash payable to
the bank, including transaction costs). Borrowings are subsequently stated at anrortised cost. lnterest
expense is recognised on the basis ofthe effective interest method and is included in finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current iiabililies unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the Iiability for at least l-2 months after the reporting date.

k) Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred,

12



Vorun Beveragles (Zambio) Limited
Annuol report and t'inoncial stotements
For the yeor ended 31. December 2024

NOrEs (CONTlNUED)

2) Significant accounting policies (continued)

l) Translationofforeigncurrencies

Iransactions in foreign currencies during the year ar€ converted into Zambian K\/acha (functicnal
currency) at rates ruling at the transaction dates. Assets and liabilities at the statement of financial
position date ivhich are expressed in foreign currencies are translated into Zambian Klvacha (functional

currency) at rates ruling at that date. The resulting diJferences from conversion and transiation are dealt
with in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

m) Leases

Leases in which substantielly all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases. Paynrents made under operatir'lg leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the oeriod of the lease.

The Company leases certain items of property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and

equipment where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified

as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's commencement at the lower of the fair
value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is appoftioned bet\,veen the liabllity and finance charges using the effective interest
method. Rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings in the statement of
financial positiolr. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over
th€ shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term,

n) Employee benefit obligations

Gratuity
Employee entitlements to gratuity are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for such entitlements as a result of services rendered by employees up to the

reporting date.

Pension obligations
The Company and its employees contribute to the National Pension Scheme Authority (NAPSA), a

statutory defined contribution scheme registered under the NAPSA Act. The Company's contributions to
the defined contribution scheme are charged to profit or loss in the period to which they relate. There are

no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

Accrued leave

The estimated monetary liability for employees' accrued annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is

recognised as an expense accrual.

o) lmpairment of non-financial assets other than inventories

Assets that are subiect to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is any indication that an asset

may be irnpaired, the carrying value of the asset (or cash-generating unit to which the asset has been

allocated) is tested for impairment. An imparrment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's

carrying amount exceeds lts recoverable amount, The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's (or

CGU's) fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets

are companied at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs).

Non-financial assets otherthan goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversalof

the impairment at each reporting date.



Varun Beveroges (Zambio) Limited
Annuol report and finoncial stotements
For the yeor ended 31 Decernber 2024

NOTES {CONTTNUED)

2) Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)

p) Current a4d deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets

and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements and on unused tax losses or tax

credits in the Company. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

The carrying amount ofdeferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and a valuation
allowance is set up against deferred tax assets so that the net carrying amount equals the highest

amount that is nrore likely than not to be recovered based on current or future taxable profit.

q) Share capital

Ordinarv shares are classlfied as equitv

r) Comparatives

Where necessarv, conrparative figures have been adiusted to conform with changes in presentation in
the current year.
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Vorun Beveroges (Zambio) Limited
Annuol report ond financiol stotements
For the year ended 37 December 2024

NOTES (CONTTNUED)

3. Revenue

Carbonated soft drinks
Bottled drinking water
Other sales - Trading

Scrap sales

Sale of dairy
Sale account
Trade discount

4. Cost of sales

Opening stock
P u rcha ses

Closing stock

5. Other operating income

Bad debts wratten back

Profit on disposal

6. Operating loss

The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving
at operating loss:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 9)

Auditor's rem uneration
Directors' emoluments
Trade receivables - impairment
Staff costs

- Salaries and wages

- Pension
- Other staff cost

7. Finance costs

lnterest expense:
- holding company
- others

Processing fees

Corporate guarantee

582,768,263 466,582,287

2074
ZMW

542,837,844
158,430,859

7,430,728
1,388,467

380,232,799
993,860

(20,620,304)

7023
ZMW

- 475,409,055

87,43L,723
1 Aqn llq

939,701

290,486,909
(s,2L2)

(25,910,16si

1,410,693,653 829,842,126

164,745,321
62T,4L1-,70r

(203,348,7s9)

L27,319,474

503,958,134
(1.64,7A532L],

262,s77 8 10,6 10

8 10,6 103,743,830

43,91"L,759

11"9,597

L,932,681

6,820,078

1,25,5?5,t47

8,175,694

L5,617,2L7

43,089,043

831,855

1,9 19,006

6,644,213

90,749,280
4,140,271

9,827,1.L1.

1"8,446,527

14,84 5,660

2,1.97,230

987,03 r-

L4,841,22l
5,144,182

3s8,4ss

15
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Vorun Beveroges (Zambio) Limited
Annuol report and financiol statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024
NOrES (CONTTNUED)

8. Tax.

Current tax
Deferred tax

Cost

At start of year
Addltions
Dis posa ls

Depreciation
At start of year
Charge for the year

Disposals

At end of year

Net book value

2024
zMw

2023
ZMW

There is no tax charge for the year as the company has an investment license |TDA/L46/A3/70O9\
under the Zambia Development Agency (ZDA) Act, No,11 of 2006. The company's profits are
sub.lect to tax as below:
- From the year 2018 to 2022,the company will pay tax at the rate of 0%.

- From 2023 to 2025 the company r.vill pay tax on 50% of its taxable profits-

- trom 7026 to 2027 the company will pay tax on 7 5% of its taxable profits.

- From 2028 the company will pay tax on 100% of its taxable proflts.

Nodeferredtaxhasbeenrecognisedinthesefinancial statementsbecauseofthetax holidaythe
Company is currently enjoying-

9. Property, plant and equipment

Land

zMw

51 ,296,605

Buildings

zMw

87,010,504

25,916,r82
(342,198)

Plant and

machinery
ZMW

369,550,503

).75,24L,952
(15,69L,79LJ

Motor
vehi cl es

zMw

36,375,104
75,936,963

(882,s76)

Fu rn itu re

and fittings
ZMW

Total
ZMW

55 1,825,404

778,2r5,427
(26,971 ,55s1

1,592,088

119,930
(1L,000)

At end of year 57,296,645 113,s84,488 469,100,614 61,430,091 1,701,018 703,717,816

13,650,923
) )14 'JA1

L39,798,527

35,1"23,675
(7,139,8s9)

25,1L8,122
6,427,77 4

{838,269)

L,118,A27
oo (10

(sss)

179.845,599

43,9lL,759

17,978,7731

7L5 167,787,343 30,8AL,621 266,950 2L5,778,635L,

31 Decenrber 2024 57,296,505 97,656,773 1 434,068 481 ,314,24L

31 December 2023 57,296,605 73,359,581 229,751,976 11.,t51 ,587 4L4,062 371,979,806
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Vorun Beverages (Zombio) Limited

Annuol report and t'inancio! stotements
For the yeor ended 31- December 2024

NOTES (CONTTNUED)

10. lnventories

Finished goods

Consumables and advertising materials
Raw materials

Other Non-current
Capital advances
Security deposit

12. Trade and other receivables

Current
Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment

Net trade receivables

Prepayments and other receivables

Receivables from relatec parties (Note 17)

13. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances

14(b). Other Equity
Promoter Contribution in Equity (ESOP Cross - Charge)*

?.024

zMw

38,426,650

31 ,476,459
r?7,845,650

202?
ZMW

26,347,657
29,103,136

ro9,254,529

203,348,759 164,745,322

tL

5,947,454

534,069

20,709,422

1,183,042

5,48 1,519 21.,892,454

L41,264,9t9
(6,820,078)

L03,744,L69

{6,644,113\

94,444,841.
il tEE a.a

7,127,906

71,505,777

6,2L8,s07
25,594,1.19

959 103,318,403

6,633,696 5,406,469

For the purpose ofthe statement of cash flows, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following:

Cash and bank balances 5,633,696 5,406,469

6,633,696 5,406,469

14(a). Share capital

Authorised, issued and fully paid

207,890,000 (2023: 207,890,000) Ordinary shares of ZN,4W 10 each 207,890,000 207,890,000

23r,O75 36,856

*The ESOP cross-charge from Varun Beverages Limlted - lndia for the year errded 31 December 2024 amounts to
ZMW 23L,O75. This represents the allocation of the ESOP cost attributable to KMP of Varun Beverages (Zambia)

Limited.

t/



Vartin Beveroges (Zombio) Limited
Annuol report and finoncial stdtements
For the year ended i1 December 2024

NOTES

15. Trade and other payables

Current
Trade payables

Payables to related parties (Note 17)

Security deposits
Other payables and accruals

2024
ZMW

56,887,414
82,374,08s
29,710,769

87,844,445

2423
ZMW

70,650,752
42,6\4,1,32

29,143,756

37, ,1"19

256,816,713

256,876,713

784,fl1,819

1"80,177,81.9Total trade and other payables

Security deposits
This relate to amounts paid by distriblltors for empty containers as security.
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Varun Beveroges (Zombio) Limited
Annual repart ond finonciol gtotements

I or the year ended 31 December 2024
NOTES (CONTINUED}

2024
ZMW

2423
ZMW16. Borrowings

Non-current
Loans from related parties (Note 16 (v)) 271,842,709 251,035,156

271,842,7A9 251,035,156

Current
Bank overdrafts 174,653.808 74,775,784

174,653,808 74,725,780

Total borrowings 446,495,9L1 325,760,936

Borrowings from HQ

The unsecured loan has no specific repayment terms except the loan from Varun Beverages lndia Limited which is

repayable as per the terms of the respective agreement i.e.

Principal amount 5 9,555,198 with interest rate Three month SFOR plus 2.5 %

Bank overdrafts
Tlre borro'ruing facilities expiring within one year and are subject to revierv durinB the next financial year

First National Bank {FNB) Zambia - The overdraft facility with a limit of USD 5,000,000 wiII attract interest at flxed rate of 6.5%

lnterest on the Dollar Facility will be charged at the appiicab,e Term SOFR, plus a magin of 1.2%.

First National Bank (FNB) Zambia - This overdraft facility has a limit of ZM\r'/ 54,000,000. The variable interest rate

will be charged at Bank of Zambia Monetary Policy Comnrittee Rate (,,MPR,,) (currently 13.5% per annum) plus a margia of 37o

which may be revlsed during the lifetime of this Facility in response to changes in economic fundamentals including,

but not limited to the following:
a) A change in the Monetary poficy rate (MPR) as announced by the'Bank of Zambia's Monetray Policy Committee'(l'4PC)

b) Disproportionate changes in annuaI inflation, in comparison to MPR rate;

c) Disproportionate changes in the cost ofdeposits in comparison to MPR;

d) Any changes in the regulatory environment; and

e) Any other money market factors which may impact the Bank's ability, and7'or cost of funding this Facility,

Based on current MPR rates, the applicable interest rate would be 16.5%

The overdrafts are secured by:
First National Bank(FNB) USD 5,000,0000 and ZMW 54,000,000

i) First legal mortgage securing the sum of United States Dollars Five Million only plus interest on Floating Charge over Company Stock.

StandardCharteredBank-TheoverdraftfacilityhasalimitofZMW54,000,000,Thefacilityischargedataninterestrateof3.596 perBnnum

over Bank of Zambia Monetary Policy Rate. The lnterest is tr: be paid monthly in arrears.
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Vorun Beveroges (Zambio) Limited

Annual repart ond finonciol stotements
for the yeor ended i7 December 2A24

NOrES (CONTTNUED)

17. Related party transactions and balances

The Company is controlled by Varun Beverages Limited, registered in lndia, which owns
90% of the Company's shares.

The following were the transaction carried out with related parties and the outstanding
balances as at the reporting date:

2024
ZMW

i) Sale of goods and services
Other related partie.,

2023
ZMW

,906
The amounts due from related parties are interest free, unsecured and no fixed repayment period.

ii) Purchase of goods and services
- Other related parties

iii) Receivables from related parties (Note 11)

Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt Limited
Varun Beverages (Mozambique) SA

Non-current
v) loans from related parties (Note 15)

Varun Beverages(india) Limited

iv) Payables to related parties (Note 14) Relationship

Varun Beverages(lndaa) Limited Parent

Lunarmach Technologies Common Shareholding

Varun Beverages (Zimbabwei pty Ltd Common Shareholding

Varun Bevarages International Comnron Shareholding

Varun Foods anC Beverages (Zambia) Limited Common Shareholding

88,458, i28 88,458,128

88,458,128 88,458,128

69,944,386

69,944,386 69,944,386

987,s02
6,140,404

25,594,1 19

119

33,218,8 r"5 16,516,345

2,832,529
8,082,1005,038,809

29,L66,694
L4,949,t67 15,183, 1 58

82,37 4,485 42,6L4,1"32

109 251,035,156

21L,842,109 251,035,156

43,466,234 23,778,965

43,466,234 23,778,965

Relationship

Common Shareholding

Common Shareholding

Relationship

Parent

The amounts due to related parties are interest free, unsecured and no fixed repayment period.

Current
- lnterest payatile

Principalamount $ 9,655,198 with interest rate Three month SFOR plus2.25%.

,n

69,944,386



Varun Beveroges (Zambio) Limited
Annual report ond t'inanclal stotements
For the yeor ended il December 2024
NOTES (CONTTNUED)

.17. Related party transactions and balances

vi) Key management compensation

ZMW
?024

6,L7',t,81,9

2023
ZMW

5,300,744

6,L17,81,9 5,3C0,7 44

18. Events after the 6nd of the reportinE date

There were no events after the reporting date that requires disclosure or adjustment to these financial statements.

19. Going concern
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company recognised a net loss of ZMW 47,L44,385 (2023: ZMW
94,624,643), accumulated losses of (202a: ZMW %,7a7,532\, as of that date. The parent Company will provide the
necessary financial support to ensure that the company is continuing to run the [:usiness smoothly. lt has further
confirmed that it is not its intention to call up inter-company indebtedness owed to it in the near Future in any way
that might give rise to a liquidity shortage.

The directors believe that the Company wili continue as a going concern from the end ofthe reporting date, that
is, 31" De.ember 2024. The directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis based on
cash flow projections which include cost control measures, current availability of funds, commitments of
continued support from the shareholders and an expectation of sustained profitability at the conclusion of the
projected period.

20. Presentation currency

The flnancial statements are presented in Zarrrblan Kr,vacha.
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Vatun Beveroget (2ambio) Lihned
Annuol report and lindncjal stotements
Fat the yeor ended 31 December 2024

SCHEDUL€ OF EXPENDITURE

1 SEILIN6 AND D!STRIBUTION EXPENSIS

Freight expense

Load and unload - Plant

Seandsry vehicle expense

Vehicle expense

ixport handling char€es

Bnd debts

Publicity materials
Merchandiser expense

Sales promotion

Spon5or of evefitt
Execise duty on sale

Total ielling and di5tribution expens€s

2 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Employment:
Salaries and wages

Ovenime
Bonus

Employer Napsa

Gratuity expense

Skilis Developemnt Le!y
Notice paV

Staff incent,ves

Leave encashm€nt

Guest house expenae!
testival expense

Labdur charges hired
Education expense

Workers CompensBtion

Sraffwelfare
Stsff uniform
NHIMA

Medical erpen!es
5taff ttaioing
FuneGl expenaes

Share based payment to employees

Toral €mployment aosts

Other adfr inistrative €rpenses:
Auditor's temuneration
In5urance expenSe
Postage and courier
TA / DA fired Zambia

Loss on di5posal

Subscription {ees

Laboratory and testinE
Rent, rates and licenses

Security charges

House keeping charges

Telephone and internet
Printlng and statione.y
Staf, vehicle expenses

Travel etpenses

VISA and immigration expenses
Legal expenses

Profes5ionBl fees

LLcense fees

Benk charges

ElectrictV

5taff recruitment
Nel foreiBn exchange losse5

RepJirs and maintehance
Fuel consumed

Total other admini5trative expenses

Total administrative expenseS

7 79,sgi
3,O41,766

47,121

1,609,706

447,348

574,650

7,:52,854
1,098,91 8

1, S61,799

1.2\1,111

6,4 22,916

9.54 1,163

830,749

924,488

7,789,'t 5)
9,751,517

46,000

1,492,381

9,166,389

630,377

41,521 ,A2A

32,7 7),445

831,855

2,227,O27

108,589

I,AA3,A4L

3,065,220

434,653

354,3A1

3,476,123

1,o81 ,924
1,240,122

1,166.891

711,9S5

5,279,810

6,691,444

1,161,023

7 23,77 9

t,16t,66e
zl7,a71
103,154

r,385,988

7,241,Or4

8,625,885

7I0,1 37.513

19,665,670

39,091,130

t.80,026,520

330,404,533

1 2,O17,550

192,060,754

296,s94,351

2024

zMw
2021

zMw

5 3,317,150

1,952,507

21,516,736

14,2\6,962

338,869

175,645

4,505,2 50

4,O84,677

u,2aLio4
2.,463,340
.,1,908,079

45,737,781

73,661,526

10,9 14,938

2.624,495

6,616,784

5,43 r,267
2,444,531

6,161,24d

i 1,9 26

2,416,4O1

1.28,O20,859 9A.A67,234

),14,43 1,269

3,781,546

846,47i
3,000,993

5,538,688

621,36A

3,422,L89

411,9A5

409,305

473,621

290,901

9,22A,316

580,921

7 16,259

537,033

1,214,AA7

1,020,546

!.374,704
3,000

104,630

194,219

s1,9:6,S37
2,630,268

758.85s

2,47 5,'t 6A

4,4t3,114
440,132

291,7 8 3

1,390,108

335,330

3 37,735

395,OO5

353,596

5,500,232

463,7 20

465,9 19

479,851

186,760

]8,911
1,219,523

43,590

36,856

I 50.378.018 104,;31,59 7

)2



























































Chartered Accountants
House No. 199

Tanka Prasad I\,'larg

Old Baneshwor Helght
Kathmandu, NePal

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF Varun Beverages (Nepal) Pvt' Ltd'

Ooinion
r** urait"a the accomPanying Financial Statements of VaIu Beverages (NePal) P!'t Ltd which comPries the

sratemenr oI linancial position as at Ashaat 31, 2081, Sratement of ftofit or Loss & other comPrehensive Income statemmt

of Chmges ir Equity & Statement of Cash llows for the year ended Ashad 31' 208t ud Noles to Iinancial Statement

including Summaiy of SiSf,ificant Accounting Poli'ies

InouroPinionandtothebestofourinJormatimandaccordinstothedPlanationssiventou'theaforesaidlinancial
Stat€me;ts Sive a true ard fair view in conformitv with NePal Financial RePortin8 Standards (NFRss)' of tne state of affairs

of Varur Beierages (Nepal) Pi't. Ltd. as at Ashad 31, 2081, and its Fofi! 'ash 
flows for the vear end€d on that date'

Basis of Opisg4
we conducted our audit of the financial statements in a.ordance with the Nepal standard on Auditing (NSAS) & aPPlicable

law. Our respoNibilities uder those Standards are turther d€s'ribed in the Auditols Responsibility for the audit of the

Iinancial Srat€ments section o( our rePort.

We are independent of the ComPany in accordance with the Co'le of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Acountants

of Nepal (ICAN), and we have tullilled our ethical resPonsibilities in accordane with the$ r€quir€mets'

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sulficient and aPProPriate to Provide a basis of our audit oPinion on

financial statements.

Key Audit Matter(6)
Kw audit mtters are those lratters that, in our ProfessiotuI judgment' were of most signi6cdce in our audit of the

r_j".iJl""-*" 
"r 

o" currmt year. rhes€ matterc were addressed in the co.rext or our a udit of the financial starements

as a whole, and in forming our oPinion thereon, and we do not provide a seParate oPinion on thes' matters'

We have determined that there are no key audit matters to commuicate in our report

Managements Respellibilig.l!9!Ec-E!!a4!iell!eteE!4!!
il"c*,*, t" .""p"""rbl" for preparatton and fair pres4ration of the liftancial sratemenrs in accordan@ with the Nepat

rimid neporting stand*as 1-Nrnss; a"a ror su*.internal conrrol as management determin€s is n€c€ssary ro €nable the

p."pu.utio. of fi.-"iut Statements that are free from mterial misstatemeni' whether due to ftaud or emr'

ln Feparing the linancial Statements, management i5 resPomible for assesirg its ability to conlmue as a soins conce[r

dis:l;in& ;s applicable, matters related io Soing 'oncem 
md using the Soing concem basis of accountins unless the

-unage-"nt eith". int""as to liquidate or cease oPerations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so'

Those charg€d with govemance are resPonsible for overseeing the ComPany's Financial RePo ing Process'

Auditor's Resl]onsibilitY for the

ourobjeciivesaletoobtainrcasonaueassuran.eaboutwhetherthelinancialStatemcntsasawhol.arefrccflommaterial
misstatement, wherh.r .t e 10 fraud or error, an.l to is e an Au.tito/s Report that in'ludes our opinion Rearcnable

assurance is a hi8h lcvel ol assurance but is not a 8uarantee that an au'lit conclucted in e@danc withN'o:*tllYL"

::il";".;"i;;".i-i.. n 
""o". 

,'""temenis can arisc kom riaud or error and are 
'onsidered 

maieriar it

Susunsu & Co. I el A1 -4597 223, 4582239

P.O. Box: 129, Kathmandu
E-mail: info@snco.com.nP

individually or in the assresatc, thev courd reasonablv be sP{terBg{'e.
basis o, thesc Financial Statcments.

e.onomic dccision of users taken on the



AsPailofanau.litinaccor.lancewjthNSAS,wecxerciseProfessionaLjudgcmentandmainiainProfessionalskepticism
throughout thc audit We alsol

i)Identifyandassesstheriskolmaierialmissiatemcntofthefinancialstatements,wheihelduelofraudorerror,designand
pulormauditptoeduLesresponsiblelothoserjsks,andobiainauditcvidencethatissufficientandaPPropriatctoprovidea
basisforouropinion..Iheriskolnoidetectinsamaicria]misstatemenircslt]tinSfrom{raudishigherthanroroncresuliinS
from eror, as fraud may involve collusion, fotgery, intentionaL omissions' mistePresentatiort or the ovedde of intemal

il) Obtain an understanding of lntcrnal Control relevant io audit in order to desiSn audit Procedurcs that arc aPPropdate in

the .ircumstances, but not for ihe PurPose of erpressing an opinion on ihe ellectiveness of Company's Intemal Control

iii)EvaluatctheapPropriaienessofaccountingPo]icicsusedandthereasonablenessofaccountingesiimalesandrelaied
dlsclosures madc by the management.

iv)Con.ludcontheaPProprlatcnessofmanagemcnt'suseofiheSoinS'onccmbasisofaccounlingand'basedontheaudil
eviden.e obla,.e.t, whether a material uncertainty cxists relatecl to evcnts or condltions that may cast siSnificant doubt on its

abilityto.ontinueasagoinSconcem,]fwcconcludcthatamaterialunceriaintycxists,wcarerequircdtodrawattentionin
our;L1dftols Report io the relatcd dts.losurcs in ihe Financial statemenis or, if such disclosures are inadequate/ to modify

Our conclusions are bascd on thc audit evi.len.e obtained uP to the date of our Audit RePort However' Futurc events or

.onditions may cause the ComPany to.ease iocontinuc as a going concern

v)EvaluatetheoveraLlpresentation,structurc,andconientoftheiinancialstatcments,includinSthedisclosures,and
whetherthefinan.ialstatementsrePresenttheundcllyinstransactionsandeventsinamanne,thaiachicvesfanPresentation.

wecornmuni.alcwiththosecharScdwithSovcrnancerc8arding,amongolhc.mattels,thePlannedScopeandtimingorthe
auditandsignilicantauditfindings,incllldin8anysignificantdeficienciesinintemalconkolthaiweidentifydurinSour

Wealso.omunicatewiththose.harscdwlthSovernanccthatwehave.ompliedwiihrelevaniethicalrequirements
i€gardingindependence,andioconrmunicatewiththemallrelationshiPsandothermattersthatmayreasonablybethought
tobcaron our independen.e, and where aPPlicable, related safeSuards

Repori on the Othel Lega

(i)wehaveobtaincdinformationandexPlanaiionsaskedfor,whicbiothebesiofourknowledSeandbelie'wereneccssary
for ihe prrposc of our audjt.

(ii)comPanyhaskePiproPerbooksolaccountsasrequiredbylaw,sofarasitaPPearsflomihe.raminaiionofthos€books

(iii)StatementollinancialPosiiio4statcmentofPrctiiorLoss&othcrComPrchensivelncome,SlaicmentofChanqesin
Equiiyan.lstaiementofCashr]owshavcbeenprePare.linaccordancewiththercquj.ementsofthecomPaniesAct,2063
and are in agrccment with the books ol ac.ount of ihe Company'

(iv) DurlnS our examination ol thc books ol accouni of the ComPanp wc have not come across the 
'as's 

where the Board of

Dire.tors or any mcmber of there or any represcntative or anv office holder or anv emplovee of the ComPany has acted

iqns oflaw or caused loss or damagetothe ComPany, and

any haudlent activities in thebooks ol accounis.

1i
Chadered Ac.outants

Date 2024-09-12

UDIN: 241006CA00062u5Ju6

Panner \S
cA.

SUBHASH



vuun Bererasrs (Netrl) Pvr. Lni

Statenlcnl ol Iinan.iil l'osition

As At l5th July, 202.r (Ashad 31, 2081)

IFia.I'r NPIII

1sth Iulr 2024 16thJ!ly,2023

l\operty, l'lant & EquiPment

Capital Work ln ProSress

Other Non-Current Assels

3(b), 3(a) 3(c)

4

5

4,382,n7,542

39,297,474

147,858,633

679,340,629

3,523.174,295

1,0011,063,923

142,683,779

6!A,774,323

Total Non CuE€nt Assets s,249,214,674 5,374,992,320

Cash & Cash Equivalenl

Banl Brlmce other the Cash & C.sh Equivarenl

In omeT Assets {Net)

8

10

11

19

471,313313

29,689,271

2.3 t2,947,741

149,160,r34

7,taa,n3

1,257,193,372

533,6L1,722

23,OO4,419

1,693,283,604

209,993,252

76,208,464

5832,113

4,706,956,7s6 3,799,726,9s0

9,956,230,774 9,174,179,210

12 (a)

12(b)
z001,5oo,ooo 1,,150370,000

1,929,999,t32

4,298,749,068 3,380,369,132

Non ctrr€nt Liabilities

\45,5s3,273

20678&305

3,2t9,281.12t)

133,023,689

t69,705,246

3,237,022,731

13

14

Total Non Current riabilities 3,s71,622,694 3,539,757,676

Short Tem SoEowings

Other Fimcial Liabil ies

Orher Clrrenl Liabilities

INome Td Liabilities (Net)

15

l6
13

13

19

3559ozo5o

845,570,663

13,011,353

479,,169,i51

344,927,124

t4,524,944

403,739,291

14,457,412

Total current riabilities 2,036,499,008 2,19J,998,467

SuMary of Significmt A.counling Policies

The Accompanying Noles are an Integral Part of Financial Statemenrs

Dat.: 12lh SePtemb.r 2024

y'.r.ua4



\ Jnir Bev",rge. ,\cpJlr l\,. I ld.

Statencnl of Prcfitor Loss & Other ComPrehcnsjve ln.ome

tor Period 17th Iuly,2023 - 15thJuly,2024
(Year Ended Upto Ashad 31,2081)

lFig.In NPRI

15th lulv. 2024 16th luly,2023

"o'"' ,n,h"a ,,, zoa,t (e.r"a:r,zoeot

In.ome:

Revenue f rom Operaiions 7,716,560,040

322,621,719

7 ,626,793,076

26A,619,829

20

21

Raw Materials Consthption
ChanSes in Invotori$ of Finished Goods & Work-ln-Progress

Employee Benefi t Experees

Depr{iation & Amortization ExPenses

other Expenses

22

23

24

3,2 |,01,6,759

105,365,021

691,986,417

360,808,836

1,767,559,966

86,415,941

3,$5,474,796

\67,043,912)
621,212,132

327,942,328

2,049,522,504

121,671,914

25

26

Net Profit/(Loss) Beforc Tax \445,024,419 7,402,047,143

27 238,539,334 '\89,324,593

(32083,049) {19,655,698)

Net Profir(Loss) Ior The Y€ar 7,570,406,436 1,193,066,452

Other Comprehensive In.ome
Acturial GanVLoss on Defined Bcncfii I'ensn,n S.hemes

Tax Relatina to Components ofOther Comprehcnsivc lncome

Total Other CompEhensive In.ome (OCI)

Total Complehensive lncome (TCI) 7,570,406,436 1,193,066,452

Basic EaNnrss Per Sharc (NPR) 744.61 1,045.74

Diluted Eaninss Per Share (NPR) 744.6L 822.4O

Summary of Significant Accomiing Policics

Thc Accompanying Notes are an Integral Part oflinancial Statements

Date 12ih September 2024

As Per Our Aiiached Report of Even Date

Ior: SUBHASH & CO.

Aru,'-r r-u--"-^,.J*'6,., ['"'

6r.iu
agj

4,069,141,,759 7,447,412.905

Total Expen6e5 6223,15L9fi 6,485,365,752



v un Beleras6 (Nepil) Pvt. Ltd.

Sritencntof Cash Flos

rorl€iod 17rnlulr2023- 15thl!ly, 2024

(Year Ended Upro Ashad 31,2031)

15ihltrly,202,1 16th]uly,2023
(Ashad3l,2031) (Ashad31,2030)

Cash rlow Iom Opcnlrry Adiri€s:

Adjutnent or Non c.rh charg.s

Dapi*iation on Poperly, Planl & Euipnenl
Depre.iation on ROU Assers

(Pro6D,,bs on Sar€ of Prcperly, Plbl & rquipnenl
P.opdry, Plml & Euipmenl - Written Oft

Csh !lo* B.foE Wor*in8 C.pital Change

Ch..g6 In Woiki.g Cipital
Dercse/0nd6*) In lnventory

Decrease/(Inuee) In Trade RRivables
D*rease(Inciee) ln Other linecial a$els
Dec.se/gn@e) In olha A*t6
lnse*/(De@) In sudry credho6
In.rea*/(D{ree) ln Fimiar Uabliries

L\crea*/(D{lse) ln orher uablities

lnd6*(D<l@e) In ?rcvisjons

cEi Cen*lted Fm Opdationg

354,945,134

(109,153,013) l?2,329,531)

\195,t32239)

(401,614,121)

1t62,919,017)

l%,53L370)

\x7,259,214)

\396,779,695r G77,341,26q)

(ze,3e5es4) \1e6.623,726)

Ner Cash flow Fmn operarinc A.riviries I1l

Cash now rion Inveting Activiries
Ac,tuhitions of koperry, I'lant & lquipnents
Proceeds lrom Sale ol Propeily, Plahl & Equipmeiis

Inv.skoe.ts in Dcposit Ac.ou.t!
Maiuaty of Deposit Ac.ouni

roirl crsh rlow ron lnv.stinsAdivirics I2l (562,299,070) 0,23r,320,406)

Casn FIo, Im Finr.ina A.riYiti.s
Pceeds Irom Borowings

Repayment of Bo owings

Repayment of lla6e Liabililies net of linece c6l

P.deeds lion hsue oI Share C.pilal
Prdeeds tuon Shre henim

(38,E21,124)

G2,013)
(39,26s,333)

(6sL666,5s))

Torar cash FlowFron Finan.insadiviries l3l

NelI.deasv(D.rte,se)Incash &cashlquivale .lr+2+31
aash & casl Eqnivilerls At Blgirf i"r.rThp Yeir/re'iful

conponenG oI cash & cash Equivalerk

Gsh Flow Statdent hf b.m piepaed using lndn{r Me$od in Acordance wilh NAS 7 lslalemenl oI C.sh llowsl
TheAccdnpdrtugNol6ae t regralPa oIFinancialstatddt6

Drie 12ih S.Prember 2024

'A*5,.r.37 -F't'"tu



!anD Be!c,ages (NePa)) I'vt. Litl.

statemen t of changes ln EquilY

ror te'ioa 17th J!ly, 2023 - lsll July, 2024

(Y.ai [nded Utto Ashad 31,2031)
Fig, in NIR

Balan.e a on 20794l{1

Prior Pedod Adiustm6t

Prcfivorss) lor ihe Year

Other Compreheroive In ome for the Year

1,030,000,000 s3,600,356

629,629,000

900,159,168

12543,7s6

2,033,759,524

999,999,000

L7,543,756

t,793,066,A52 1,793,066,852

(864,000,000) (864,000,000)

B an.e as on2030'03 31 1,450,370,000 6A3,229,356 7,246,769,716 3,380,369,132

Balan e d on 2080-04-01

Pf,or Period Adjstmenl

Bonus Share isued frcm Retained Eamings

Profiv(lss) lor the Year

1,450,370,000

551,130,000

643,229,3s6 3,380,369,132

551,130000

(7,2cf,796,500) (1,203,796,500)

1,570,406,46 1,570,406,436

orher ComDrehensiv€ Incon.Ior the Year

Balance as on 2031-03-31 z001,5oo,o0o 6A3,229,356 'r,673,379,772 4,298,709,054

As P.r Our Atta.hed RePort oI Even Date

Date: 12th Scptember 2024

.-\,.\..ir i
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varun Bpver.ses (Nepal) Pvl Ltd.

N oi€s ro the Fin.t.ial S tal€tuents

For P€riod 17th Julv, 2023 - 15ih .Julv, 2024

(Year Ended Upto Ashad 31 2081)

siuifi@nt Infomaiion Ac.ouniinr Policizs & Not€s b ln€ A"ouats

M/s vau BeveIaS6 NePal Pvt, Lt.l', is a @mPany inorPorated sder lhe comPanis A.i, 2063 ol NePal, lls PrinciPal Place oI busines is Located at

shamangal.3zKarhmandu,NePal.ItismgaS€dinrhebusinsstomanula.ture&bottlecarbonatedsollDrinl6,water&Iuica,

In order to m€et rhe increasng market demftl of fts ca.bonated solt Drinls, water & Iui.6, the atity has dPanded itt exiting caP..itv with ituialation

olanewbotdi^gPlantinR4SEmM@i.ipality,warilNo.lo,NawaPa.asiunderIn.lustryReSrstratidNo,4oToDated20T4|0a|1|(2077112nso
issu€d by the D.partmot of lndustry i( .aPaoty of Bran'h Unit l'

The !rd.h unit r has begun its tnal prcduction fiom 251 APdl I 2018 & start€d its mmer.iat Prcducrion & disPatch Ircn 02 Mav 2018 which harke the

b€giMing ol its o?erarion at the said Unit _ I

Dunngthe.ure^tyertlEcmPanyhdsetuPdadditionatbottlinglineinUnit-IBdtinsinerPsionolit3.apacity,The.mmecal?roduction
6om ihis nry tne hs started lrom 1 lApril12024 & dGPat h6 fro^ 271Mav12024

Siatdenr of ComPlidce
The Finan ial Staromts luve bm p.ep ed in aNrdanc€ dth the Nepal rinancial Repo.6ng Stddard5 NrRg i5su€d bv the NePal Accoalmg

stan.lardjBodd(NASB),6PdthePrcvisioreorThelnshtuteofchaltde<lAc@untdisolNePalAc'197,Th*@16rrlinmaterialr6Pe.ltoIFRSas
ts$edbyt}elntmahonalAeountingstan<lardsBoaid'TheFinancialslalem4t'havebe^PrePareddagoingconehbas,s,ThetmNFRS,includes
a1l the standadt and the related hterPretatioro which ate (mist6[v ue'd'

Basb of Med!rcnenr
The Finmcial Statements have ben prep €d on rhe hGrorical 6sr basG *ept for lollowna Assets & Lialilities whi.r have t'm mesred at lair value

i cdain linmcial Assets & Liabilitid
n. Defned &nploYe Bde6t!

Historic.l c6t is geretaly Fair Value oI the @tuidtration Sivo in schange ror Eoods & swi'6'

Fai. value is the prie that would be rdeiv€d to 6€ll asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly kansacuon betw@ martet ParticiPdts at the

neasutmdt da;, regddl* of wherher that prie is diB{y obswaue or 6timated 6ing dother v.luation t{lnique. h 6umating the Fal! value oI an

Aset or a Liabitity, tie Compdy ta*6 into amut the charact€ristiG oI the Asset or LiabiUty if market Parhcipmts would take th@ characteristic into

a@unr who Pri.ing the Aset or Liab,fty ar the n€dutq€lt date, Fair value for m&surdent md ol disdosure PurPcs in th6e Fim.ial stat46t6

is.lei€mined.n sucn a basis, excepr for, neasummts that have sme sinilaiitis to Fair Value but are noi lair Val!€/ such as Net Realizble Vahe in

NAS 2 "Inv6tones" or Value in ue in NAs 36 "ImPaimnt oI As*tt"'

tn arldition, aor Finmcial R€lorting purpc6, Fai! Value measurcnmts are cateSorizd into LdeL 1, oI z of 3 based on the d€aree to {hi.h the inPuts to

rhe tair Value measurmenLe arc obs able & the siBnifica.e oI the input. to the Fair value mesurdmt in its entiret, which are dsribed as {oliows:

. Levet 1 - rnpurs are quored pnc6 (@<ljuste.l) h adive narl€ls lor idmtical Asets o. Liabilities that th€ mtity ce access at the measuremmt date;

r lw€t 2 - tnpurs are inputs, orher rhm quoted pric6 includ€d within lev€l 1, that are obsewabb ro. the Asret or Liabilit , eithd dire{v o! jndir4tlv, and

. tlvel 3 - Inputs de unobseflable inPuB for the Asset or Liabilitv



vatun B€verages (NeP,l) lvl Ltd

Not€s to the Financial Statempnts

For r€riod 17tn Jury,2023 - lsth Jul,2024
(lear Ended upro Athad 31, 2o8l)

Siuifi.ant lrromation, A.rotnting Polici* & Noiestorle A.counts

The Egures to! previous ye s are reaffged dd rdasified wherener n@ary for tle pu.pok of lacilitath8 omPanson to rhe exbnr Permitted 6v lhe

NFRS. Appropnate di*l6ur6 are mad€ wh€rever ntrGsary, Th€ €ntity prGents asts and liabilities in Stat@Pnt oa Finan ial Position based on Clrrdv

Non- Cu!rent .lassificahon The dtity cla$i6s an a$et as orent whm it isl

- Expe.r€d to be rcali4d or intoded io be sold or @nslmed in nomai oPerating cy'le,

- Held pnmady for tt\e PurPoF of tradinE

- Expftted !o be rcal2ed within twelve months afrer the rePonitrg Pedod; or

- cash or cash Equivalent u.les r€stnded rrom being qchuged or ced ro ettle a liability for at lest twel4e monttu afte! the r€poriing Penod.

Allou.r a$er",Pd,$,fied N non cum'
The entity .lassi66 a liability as Cul6t when it is:

-lxpsted to b€ settled in nomal oPerating cycle;

Held Primarily ior Lh.PulPGeortEdin&
It is due lo be snled within twelwe months ater the rePorting !€riod or

'Theeisnouncondltionalnghtiorl€Ierthe*ttlmmtolrheliabiuty{olatleasttwelevemonrhsaftdtherePortjnsPenod,
fte Cimpany .1ssi66 all oth.r liabiliu$ d Non_ Clrmt.
Deftrrcd Td Asets dd Liabilitie de dassiff€d as Nm- Curmt'

Ttu operating cyde is rhe hm. beiws the a.quisitio oI asrets lor procNing dd its realizatio^ h .ash and .ath equivaldtt. The @nP6y hs idm66ed

tweleve months 6 its oPEabng cYcle

ThePleParationofth4eFinm.ialstatemenrsin@nfomitywithNFRSrcquir6mesmenttomakestinat6,judSemenrsdda$unPtim,Th*
eumateg ;uagmmts ana mumptioc dfie.t the erorted baldc6 oI Asets & Liah ins, dis.1osr6 retalm8 to contingdt Liabilitis as ar the date of the

Findoal Starement! d rhe eporreii amours of In@me & Exlens6 for the y€as presled Actual r€sdts may drlr€r rrom these stimats Estimat4

and uderlying a$mPnoE are r4ised on m onSoing basis'

chang6 in stimat6 are reflected in the Finafuial staremotr in rhe penod in which chag6 de made ad, iI matenar, th€ir elfecls ate di.do*d in the

Not6 ro the finandat statodrs. Chang6 in accdnting 6timates rsult lrom discovery oa n€w idomabon or new develoPmnts and a@rdinglv e not

.onerion of errcE.

The linanoal sratemdrd e prepared on a going onem basis. rhe Board of Diretors have .oroid*d a wide r ge of in{omalion relating to Prest
and 4ture condihotu, in luding turure prcj€.hotu oI prcfitaliliiy, .ash no s and c?pital r6NrG while asssing lhe Soing .oncm basis. Furthmore,

Boar<l is not aware of any matdial u@rrainrio that may cast si8 trIicmt doubt upon Compary's ability to entjnue as a Soing @tuem d thev do nor

nlend e h.r lo liquroalPor loedseoprahons o'ir.

!6ction.1 d Prcsenratior CuencY
The Financial Statemets are presented in Nepalse Rupe (NIR) wlich is also 6€ .ompany s Fun tional drencr, There was no chdg€ in Pre*ntation

and Frn.riDnal curocy dunng th. reportinS period. All 6Mn ial inlonation prsmted in NPR has been rounded to lhe nearest tupee *cePt where

A<omtin; policies are the sp€.itic prinoples, t*s, convdtim, rutes and pra.tics applied hy the company in prepanns and Presentins lindcial

sraremmrs. The Company is pem ted to.hange an accdnting poli.y only iI OE change is requned by a standard or intdlretatioq or results i^ the

Findcial statemenrs ploviding rcliable and more retaanr inromation about the effdts of transa.tio6, orhe. wdtt or condidom on the entitv s iindcial

pon6o& 6m.ial perlomdce, or caeh flows.

l



varun B€verages ( N€Pal) f vt, LId,

Noles io th. Find.ial Stal€menls

For Period 17ih July, 2023 - 15t[ Iul, 2024

(Year Ended uPto Ashad 3l- 2081)

Sienifiont I omation Accounthg Poli'i€s & Nol6 to th€ A'coots

3 Signi6@t a(olnting Polici.s
3.1 ReveN. R€@En ion

Revoue is reognized up@ rrmler oI cmtrcl ot prcmised goods or eflies to stomeE at an dost that r.n{Ls tle osidelation to which the

company is *pcted ro be qtrtled ro in qchange lor th@ goods or *nies. Rev€nue towards etisiactid oI a Perroom.e obligaud is measured ar the

anout ;f trma.tion pnc (net oI vanabb coroiderati@) arcated ro that pe omance ohtiSation as per conhactuary agreed tems with the Nsromers

ThetraN.tionPriceolgood53ol.lmd*Nic6Mdeedisnetolvanabbcomideradocona.countofvanousdlsmdtsmd$hem6ofieredbythe
companyaspartoftheontract,R€vmueisrNrded!rcvidedtherdoveryofonsidaatimisPrcbau€anddet@niMble,Raenue.rcmsaleofgoods
and seNie traretu to di.iributoB/lntemedian6 arc recognised at a Point in bme

Rdmue frcm rhe sate of manufactue<t Beds ptu.lucts ,s rdogni*d upon iraBtd oI @ntrcl of products b the dstomers wni.h coinorl6 with their

delivery to ffitomer and is me.surcd at iar value oI .oGirleration rdeive E€ivaue, net oI dissts, dount col€t€d on behall oI third Partid d

3.2 rnventori* (At r.ken, valued & Cetiified bv the m lgenent s Per ln'ome Td Act' 2l'58):

Inventori.s arc vrtu.d 6:
a) Ra* n.redak, F..tory FueL dlores and 3pd.s:

AtweiSht€ilA*ragec6t,cos!ofinventory.omPri#atlc6tsoIPurchas,dud6,td6(othdthmthNsubE€qumttyrecorerablelromtd
adhontie)dallothdostsineredinb.nsinatheinvdtorytotheirPl€stlocaiionddonditiqandisdeteminedonaweiSht€daveEgecosr

b) Wotk-in-pogt$.
At lower of cost dd net realilable value, Ccr for this pupG in lud€6 matmal, labour and aPPoPnate allocalion ol qerhea.ls including deprdation'

Cost is detemined on a weighted average b6is

At lowei or .ost and n€t realisabte value. cct for rhis PIrp@ jnclud6 natedal labonr and apPrcPriate alleation of ovdhed' C@t is detemin€d on a

weighted avdagp bdis.

Net rcalisabte value is the Erihated selting price in the ordjnary cdse of bsh6s, is eslnat€d.Gts ot.omPletion d etlmted c6ts nft€sry to

m.ke the sale, Pdison for obsol6c4€ G deterjned ba*d on m aSemmt,S assFsmi md is o\,r8pd io tlPstatdm! ol Pro6t or Lo$.

3.2 PDleil, ?lant & EquiPmsrt & D€Pre.iatton

i) Measr'm€nt at Recosritioo' 
, rhem into use, les aaumulatad .lepreia'onPrcperl, Pldt & EquiPmet are stated at ost indusive of all 4!ere6 inored in @hissioninB/Putfml

(Ourer thm Freehold L d) and accmulated imPairmst loses, if anv'

cost compnes the pufthde prica borMhg costs ii .apftalisation cnteria are net and any dirdtly attnbutable .ost of bringrng tha Net to its working

condition for rhe intoded use, Any kade dl$omrs d rcbares are dedu.t€d in arnving at the puthde pnce The cost oI d ilem or ProPert, Plut and

equipment shatl b. rfto8nised as an a$et it dd onlv iIl
a) it is prohable that tuture ftmomic benefits *ociar€d with the item wiU flow b the €nEt , 6nd

b, rhp cct ofrheitcm cr be m.a"urcd 
'el'ably.

slbsequent er?mditure related to an it6 ot prcp€rt/, plant and equipnot is added to its hook value only iI it inaeased the tuture !4e6rs Ircm tle

exisdng aset beyond its Psiously assdsed stddard oI Perlomance All othd qP€re6 m

aisdn; assets, inctudn g day-today rcpdr dd maintddce qpenditure and cct of replacing pa s, are charged to the statom! oI Prc8t or t ss lor the

penod-during whrch 6u.h expos are incuEed. Ex!€ndihre dire.tly Elating to cocrruction ac'bnty is caPjtalired, Indirftt qPmdlture inoned duing

otrtruction pdiod i5 .apitatiserl as a part or indirect ostrucuon est ro the *tat lhe dpdditurc is related to costruction or b incidental thereto.

Other in<liret @sts irmred during rhe construction lenods which are not r€lated to.mtru.tion achvit, no! ar€ inddstal thereto are.harged to the

sl,iemht oi Pro6torI6

D.prc.iabon on ?roPert,
is provided on "StraiSht

esiinutcd uselul livl's are

other than ftee.Iold Land ie. th.ConPany's Machin€ry, Vehcl.s & Other  ss.ls

r Usclul l.ife .stimated by tcchnical exP.rt

r.ir appfsarion of tlE lmod ovd whch the

l"-tffi-'
management b.li€ves t\at these



Vnrun Bever.ges (N€pal) Pvt Ltd,

Notes to the Fin .i.l Statements

Foi terio.l 17th ,ulv, 2023 _ 15Ih ,ul, 2024

(Y.arE.ded UPlo tuhad 31 m81)

Sidifi. t hfom.rion A..omting Poli.i.. & Not€s to th' A"o{nrs

Usetul Life oI Prcperty, Plant & Equipment hased on Skaight Une Method is categodsed 5s stated belowl

LGI ofA$et Calegories

visi/Ice Bor/IMX Machine

Conrainss l6las Bottlel shellsl

?8.44

20

10

8.39

4

4

3

6

TlE Asets U*tuI Life d Reidual valus are r4iewed at $e ReporrinS date dd the eliect of any change in 6timat6 aE a..ounred lor on a ProsP66v€

in) D€recoSrition of Ass€ts

An itm or ptupert, PIar and Equipneni is deregrizea up6n disposal or whm no Future Economic Benefits a.e qP6t€d to ari* Irom the continuea

u* oI the aset. Any gain or tos ansng on rhe disposal or retirenqt oI an item of Propdty, Plmt and Equilment is d&mined as the diiftrene b€rws
sal6 prcceds and th€ carrying amount of the 6et and is rNgniad in Statment of Prc6t o! Ls

iv) lmlaim€nt of Assets

assets 5re tested ror imlaiment whdde! events or .hang6 in .immstanc indicate that lhe carD.ng anoot may not be r*oYdable. An impaiment

los G reo8rize.l lor the ddnt by which the Assegs .arirg amount qce& its Hoverable anount. Asets thal sulfer an imPaimot arc rsiewed Ior

pcsible revmal oI the impaimmt at rhe end of each repodin8 penod. In .ase of su€h r*rsal, the caryinS amomt oI th€ as*t is h.rcased s as &t to

q@d the qrr)4ng amMt that would hav€ b€a detemined had thde bm no imPam6t loss.

v) Cnpit l woik in Pro6433

Th* are qpem of.apitat Mrure diEtly incu!red in rt€ corertuction of bunding: md major plant and ma.hjnery wlich are to be @Pitalizd. CaPiral

work in proCr6 would be htutaled to rh€ r€lwmt as*ts when n is available lor use. Capital Woi< in ProgIs is stated at cost l6s dy a.dmdated

Borcwins .osrs include inteFsr, mortisaiion of an iuary @6ts indred in @m€.tim w h the arrarSdet oI browinSs ard exchmSe dilfercs
alising lrom loreign tumcy lorrowings to OE qtdt they ale regaraed as m adjushnent

to the intelst cost. Borrcwhg costs, iI an, dir4tly a*riburable to tle a.quisitio& corotruction or production oI an a*l that 
^ftGsainy 

takes a sbstatrtial

pedod oa tiha ro gel r€ady for its intended use or sale are caPitatad, iI ny. All otLer

borcwing costs are qPe6ed to the Statement or PrcIit 6r rN in the Penod in which they occur.

3.3



vr.un Bevd.ges (Nepal) Pvl. Ltd.

Nores b the Finan.ial Sr.remenis

ror Period 17th ,uly, 2023 - lsth Jnly, 2024

(Ye.. E. d€d uPto Ash ad 31, 208r)

Sidifi.ant lnfoftation, A..ountinc Poli.i€s & Not€sro rhe A.(ourts

Tt€ Conpdy as a l6se€

Tne Cmpany mtds into an afangment Io! lece or buildings dd €qlipments. Su.h drangemmis ar€ g€neraUy for a nr€d Peliod but may have

dr€mion or tmination options. h a..ordan.e w h NFES 16 - Leas6, at incepiion oI ihe contract, the ComPany ssss6 whethd a .ontract it or

A lease is rleffned as 
,a contract, o. part of a @ntra.r, that conveys the nght to €ontrol the use an a$et (the undenying aet) Ior a penod or 6me in

*chanse for.onsideration.
To assss whe&er a contract conveys the righr to contrcl the use oI an ide'ti6€d 6set, the ComPdv se$6 whethd:

a) The contracl involv6 rhe use ot an idenrii€d asset tis may b€ sp<i6ed dpli.idy or implidtly, and shonld be Physically distin.t or rePrsmt

subshtially a! of tte.apa. y of a physi.rly dGtinct aset. ll the supplie. hs a substantive 6ubstitution nght thm the asset is not identiff€d;

b) The cmlay has the right to obtajn substanhaly a[ of the rcrchic bm€ffts from use oI the set throughout the Penod oI u*, and

O The Company asss whethd ft has the nght to diHt 'how and lor what purp@' the asset is u*d thrcuShout the Pdiod of use. At itu.Ption or on

eass6m€nt ol a cmtract that .onlains a lea* omPonml the comPnv almt6
the otuiderarion in the otract to ea.h l€a* mmponent on the basis or their relative stand-alme !ric, Eower, Ior the leas6 ol land md luildin$ in

which it is a les, the ComPm, has el<ted not io *Parate non_les omPondt!
d aceount for the lease and non-lease @mPonmts a a single lea* @mPmmt.

MedGmert dd rc.ognilior of leases as a l.es.e

Ihe compay Eogniz6 a nght-otuse asser and a lea* lialility at the leare comnqcomt date, The ri8ht-of-ur asFt i5 initially measured at cost, which

comprjm the itub.l mount or rh€ lese liabiXty adjusted fd dy lease parments made at or before the .omen€em6l date, Plus any iniial dird costs

incurcd and m stimate or costs to disnanrL d remove rhe mddlying asset or to restoe the uddlying asset o. the site on whi.h it i6 locate4 l6s any

lease incstiv6 reived.
The nsht-of'8 as*r is subsequenrly measur€d at cGi ls any ac@dated depreoahon, a.dmulat€d imPaimmt losses (urJes such riSht oI u* as*ts

6n6]ls the reqummLs of NAS lo - Invetrenr Properry and is a(dnted for s thde mder), iI dy dd adjusted lor any re_mesurendt ol ihe l€se

Liabitity. The ri8!t{f-!se asFt is depKiate<l using the stiaight-line method arom the omnecomt date over the shorre! ol lee tem or ureIul life of

nSht{iu* asret. xrght-otuk asset are tsted ior idpaimmt wh wer thd. is dy indication that th€ir carryinS mounts may not h€ rMvaable

Lnpaimmt lo$, il m, is re8ni*d in the Stato€nt of Pro6t md 1-c-
The lease liabitty n iritiatty heasured at the pr6mt value oI the lee paynmts that are not paid at the .olmmcment date, disomted using the inteEt

rate implicit in rhe lese or, iI rhar rate @or be readily det@in€4 the company's incrdmtal borcwing rate. cenehll, the comp y us6 its

incr@ral bo!rcwing rare as the discount rate

lEse payhents included in the mesuremot oI the lease liability .omPne the lollowingi

a) lixed paymmts, induding in{ubstan@ 6xed Paymets;
b) variabte lease paymenrs that dePdd on an indq or a rate, initially medured sinS the indd or rate as at lhe .omencement date;

c) Amounts qpected to be Payable under a r6idu.l value guarante; dd
d) The exerci* pnce under a purchase optio rhar the Company is reasonably cerhi. to exd.ise, lease Payn.nts in an oPtional ren€wal penod iI the

Company is reasonably certain to exerie an dtsion oPtior! md Pmalti6 lor e lv
temjnation or a l€ase unl6s the ComPmy is leasonably crtain not to tdniftt€ eadv.

The teare liabitity is measured at amorized cosr using rhe efl4hve intdBt r.te method, It is reneasured when L\.re is a chanSe in tuture l.ase Paymenls

ansing from a chmse in an in<ld o. rare iI there is a chdge in the Compan/s 6timate oI the amount dPdred to be Payable md€r a r6idual value

suar ree, or ia rhe Company .hanges ils asssenr oI whethe! it will exer.ise a purchase, exteBim or lermimtion oPrion. Wh€n the lede lial,lity is

remearured in this wa, a corespondins adjustnent is naae b rhe carrying anount .r the nght of use asset, or it r{orded in Pb6t or los iI the caElng

mount of the right otuse asset las bs redued to zerc, s the ca* nav be.

The conpmy pre*nrs iighroause asrets rhat do not m*t the dein ion ol investne^t prcperry rd lease liabilities as a seParate lhe ilm in the

rtandalone 6ftn ial statemdts of the Conpanv.

Tne Company has eleted nor to apply the rcquirdats oI NIRS 16 - Ledes to shorr-term leass ol aI asseb drat have a lease tem of 12 eonths oi l€ss

and leas6 lor which the underlying asset is oI low value, The lede Pavm€nts asrcciated

with the* lea$ are rdognized as an erPtre on a straight-line basie over the lede tam.

,4.-



vrrun a€verages (N€pal) Pvt. Ltd.

... I::": llifi ff:;f Tf ffi :,,,
(Y.arEnded Upto Ashad 31,2081)

Si6ifi..nt Infofr.tion.A..ourting Poli'ies & Note' to tn' A'counts

The entiiy has adopred NFRS I6 ,,tf,ass,, from 17 July 2022, which has resulted in chan86 h the a(ounting Policies and adiustments to llre amounts

!4ognized in the Enancial statoenrs. This stan.lard eliminat6 rhe distin 6on hwm oPeraung and limne Lea* and equir6 l6*e to reoSnize au

leass above 12 monttE in Starement oMnancial Posirion. The etity has applied NFRS 16 using the Modified RetrosPstive aPProach and thaelore the

.ompdanve inJomafon has not bM !*tated. The main changet arising u the adoPotion oi NFRS sse as follows:

i) rnterest bearing lease Liabitity and Non curent asers in@ased on idplmentation or &e sr.ndard as obligalions to male furure Payndts under

leas prcuosl/ clasified as opelatin8 lea66 were ,@8niEd on th€ Balance s!er, alonS with lhe r€lated 'Ri8ht oi use (Rou) s&. Rental Pavmmts

asciated with th€se leas6 ae rmgnized h the Inome srat€nmt on a etlaiSht-lire basis orer ihe lile oI th€ lea* as dePleiauon md iinane cosrs.

ii) lxpddftule on opdations has derea*d and 6nmce @sts have in@ased as ope.ating l€ase ccts have hm rePlaced !y dePreciahon dd lese intd6t

iii)The adoption or NFRS 16 reqln.d the ConPany to make a nmber oI judSments, 4timate and assmPtions Th"e i"luded:

, The apprcach ro be adopted on rrmsition - The Company sed the modined rctrospe.tive tra.sitrn aPPrcacn, Le* Iiabiliti$ wde determin€d hased on

rhe vab; or rhe remaining lease parrors, discounr€d by the appropnate in.r.mental lotuwing lats at tle date oI initial aPplication oulv 1Z 2022) Rou

assets were redure.l bed d rhe related lese li.bility 6 ar rhe date oI trNitio4 adjst€d for plepaid or a(rued 1e.5e Paymmts. A! the .omPanv

applied nodined retrospe.tive kansition approach as pe! para cs(h) read together with pah c8(bxii) oI NFRS 16, ther€ was no inpact on equitv d at Julv

1tr022. NIFS 16 do6 not allow ompaEtive iilomation to be r6tared iI rh€ modi6ed r€kospetive tracirion approa.h ir 8ed.
r The etimar€d lease t@ - Th€ rem oI ea.h lease was based on the on8iul lee t€m urJs managment was 'Mtmably certain' to exeEise oP60tr to

. Tlre dlecout rate lsed ro detemine rhe lede liabil y , The rare 6ed on haMition to di*o6t tuture lease Paymmts was the comPanv! inddfltal

i, Th€ Company elmted the ioINinB Practi.al dpedi@ts:

' has applied a single discoer rate to a Podiolio oi le6$ wth retonablv similar 'hdaddisti6'
, h6 ; to appty th€ ns 16re ac.omring modet ro leas6 lor which the leare tem mds within 12 monrhs arter rhe date of initial .Pllication. Isread, it

h6 a@unted lor thoF leas6 as shorrtem lees. The qpldanon of th. diff€!€re betwm operating leae connihlats disclosed as at l5th rulv 2022

whm appvng 1AS17 to the lea* Iiabilities rrcSrized as at 17th Inlv 2022 is Prsred in the taue below:

During rte y€ar mded 15 Jul 2024 ompany nodilied eisting lease on 1 Nov 2023 re$nting on increa* on ROU and r€6e Uabiliiy by NPR 11,033,502.

The tea* t€nure, liabrnry dd ROU were subsequently restated at dat. oI modifi@!@ as:

r-eased-assers Llsti4c

ROU 140,180,554

146,609,936

Modified

1s1,219,057

157,618,439

Mov.m€nt of Ri8lr of Use Ass.ts- l€.s€d Ldil is 6marized c:

Mov€menl ol L€*€ Liabilirio. lor l€aea Land is $mmarized a3:

Ixse Li,b iri6 (CuBeni d Non_CuEeni)

15Jul-24

r42.683,?74

11,033,502

5,4r3,648
't47,858,533

15Jul-24

747,544,G6

11,033,502

153,565,126

,*3
150,193,451

,,509,673

142,6A3,778

150,193,451

14,155,135

16,300,000

147,549636

Conkil,ution to Retir.ment and otn.r fmds
Retjmqt ba.6t in rhe tom oI social Seunty Fud is a defiled ontiibution sdEhe. Th€ Company has no obliSation, odtr thm rhe conhbution

payabte to tie sociar s€ority Fund, The company Eogniss contdbuti6n payable to the social sdrity Futrd sch€me as a qPece wlm m Plove
ades the re1at€d enie.

Cohpens,lcdAbse.ces



Varun Bevor,S..lNepdl) Pll.l ld.

Nor€s to lhe Finan.ial Statements

For P€riod :Uth Jul, 2023 - 15tn Julv, 2024

(Year Etrded Upto Ashad 31, 2081)

simiri. t lnfonarion. A..ountin, Poli.i€s & Nohs ro rn€ Accourts

The company lrears acohllatert l€ave qlcte<l io be carned foMard beyond twelve nonths, as lonSrem enllore beneff r wh trh arc .om!u ted ba;ed

o^ the actuanal valuation using rhe prcjcted unit oedir method ar the period 6d. A.tuarial gains/lGs are imediately tak4 to the Statment or Prolit

d.l t ss an<l de nor defeded. The Compmy pr6sis rhe leave as a .urmt liabnity in the balance sh&t to the exlent it a(E not hawe an scondihonal

light to defer s rettt€mmt ior twetve month, aftn tle reporrinS date. whm Compey has the uconditional legal md ontractual riSht to defer the

settldenr lor a penod b.yond twelve monthr the balane ir prEmted as a non-curat liability.Aeumulated leave, whi.h is exP{ted to be utilj4d

within rhe n€xl twelve monrhs, is treated as shorr tem enploye b€refft. The Compmy neasu@ lhe exPeted cost or such abenG as lhe additional

amount that it qp€.ts to pay as a result of the unused etitlmst that has a.dmulated at the rePo.ung date. AI other enPloyee boeits
payabie/available within twetve mo ns oI rendennS the swice arc classEed as sho.tlem dPloye bere6ts. Bd€6ts tuch as sabnes, wag6, bonus, etc,

are Hogrls€d in the Statdst oI Prolil and !6 in the Period in whi.h the mPloye r€ndes the relaled twi'e

Td qpeN i5 $e aSSregate aao6r includ€d in the d€tmimtion oI prclLt or loss ror the period in 6Pftt ol trrst tar ana d€Ief€d tax.

Cur6t income rai ij m.surcd at the anMr dpet€d to be paid to the tax authoriiiB in ac.ordd.€ wiih the lnconeTd Acr, 2058 and d6 thereud*

c@r incone tar a*rs d liabiuti6 a1e measured at ine mout expe.ted ro b€ rw@d frm or Paid to tie tdation .uthonti6. The td rates md tar

law6 userl to comPute the amolnt ae th* that are enacted or substdtivelv macte4 at the rePorting date'

Managdetrt psiodically datuats p6ib@ takft in the td r.rum with rdpftt 1o situauoE in which aPpli.able tar reSulalioru are subje.t lo

inrerprctauonmdGtablish6Pbvitioswh*aPPrcpri.ieinctudingdoutexP<tedtobePaid/Boveredlormdtahrax?osition'

Delered Td ir rmSrized on Toporary dilferenc6 berwM the .arrlnnS momis of A*b & Liabilities. Defered Iicone Td is rrcSrnad uinS the

Statmdt of Fimncial posrion dd its Ta Base, Del€r€d home Td Assers & Liabilities are recognired foi d€du.tihle and taxable temPorary diffmnc6

ansinSberwqrhetdbaseof Assets &Liabilfti6and their.dryin8mount in FimcialStatendts, d.ePtwh€n the Deamed IncomeT ans6flom

th€ initial r@8rtrrim of goodwill, d Asset or ualility in a trNaction that is not a businss @mbinadon dd all4ts neith4 accoEtins nor taxable Prclirs

or Loss at the lhe of ihe lraNction.

Delered Income T Asset! @ Mogflzed b me ertar rhat ,t is prcbabl€ rhat taable pb6t w l be avaJable aSaiGt which the d€ductible TemPorary

diffdac and fie .arry foMdd ol uused ta o€dits nd u.u*d td loss can be udlized.

DefeEed Td ual in6 are 8@rally regnted for aU tdabLrmpohry <nffd€nces.

Thec ryins am@nt ofDeidred T Assets i! reviewed at each reporiinS date and reduced to the extmt that it is no longer probable that suldcia axable

pro6rs willbe availabletoalow a,l orPdt oitheDefened InomeT Asset to!e utilized.

Operating Segnmts are reported in a mamer consistent wilh lhe intmal rcporting provided to the chieJ oPerating decision maker (CODrt{) a defined by

NFRS & "Opdatins Sesmenr,

compcny'. rn(ome & Expm6 rr!tudhg inlprBr cre cotuidered as pdn or ur-lo.,ble h.ome & tlptu6 whi.\ a'e not identrli,ble to any busines

segmml Cmpany's Aset & Liabilirics arc considered as part of un allocahle A$etr & Uabilitis whi.h arc not identiliable to any bush6s.

A 6nd.ial jsrrument is y contracr thai 8iv6 nse t6 a nnmial asset or one dtity md a nmnoal [a],ilfty or equiiy istrument or dother mlit,

Inirial Recogrition & Measu€hent

\\
\,.*rrj
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Vadn Bever.ges (N.p.l) Pvt Ltd.

Notes Io tte Find.ial Stat.m€nts

For Period 1?th July, 2023 _ lsth Inlv, 2024

(Ycar Erded Upto Ashad 3t 2081)

signifi.anl Infomarior' A"ounrin! Poli'iee & N'res ro the A"ours

All Iinanciat assers are rmSnised inftialy at fair value plus, in rhe case of inancial a$ets not €orded at lair value through Prolit or lo$ ("rv r),
transacrion osts that aie artributable to the acquistion ol the inanciat asset. How4er, kade Esvabl6 that do not ontain a signjEcant financinS

conponentarcmea$redaikansactionprice.Io!PurPossolsubsequmtm@surdent,6nan'ialassetsarcclsifi€aasrolows:

a) Fin cial Ass€ts at Arortiz€.I Co6t (AC)

A linancial A$et n medured at amortiad cost if it i! held within a busins model whos. obiective ie to hold the *€t in ordd to coUd contra.tual .ash

flows m.l the @ntractual rems of 0\e Fimcial ast give nse on spdiied date! to esh 11 s that ate slely Pard6ts of pnnciPal dd inte6t on the

prin ipal aho&t outstanding.

b) Fird.irl As6.ts ar Fait Value rhoush Olner ComPreh63iv. Incone fvrOCI)
a Finanoal Asset is mesure.l at rvToct it is hetd within a busims nodel whose objedve is..hi*d by both cou*tine contractual cash flNs and

*Ding rimcial Ass*s and the mntnctual t€lN oI th€ Filhcial Ast glve dse on spdified.tats to cash oows that arc elelv Pavme^t ofprin iPal and

inter*l on the pri^cipal momt outstandirS.

Th€ Compdy has not dcignated my delt ictrmmt in this .ate8ory.

.) Fid.ial Assels at Fan Vatu€ iftreu8h Polit oi Loss (FVTPL)

lair Value Thrclgh !rc6t or Ias ("FVTPL") i5 a rFidual category lor lild'itl A'sets' Any rila ial Assls' wlncn do6 not met the 
'ritdia 

lor

.at€Sorisation as at anodi4d @st or as Fr/TOCI/ i5 cLssidea 6 at EVTPL'

tn addrEoo rhe Company may elect io d6igMre a FiMndat A$ets whi.h othetri* m€€ts amortEed cost or TV1OCI cliteria, as at FVTr! Howeer, su.h

e1e.r1on is allowed ori, if doing so ldus or eliminat6 a mssuid€nt or r@Snition incocistency (reIded lo as'ac!:@ting mi@tch ).

Iinmcial As*rs inchded within the IVTIL cateSory d€ m4sule.l at fair lalue with aI .h 86 BoSltrsed in the sratment oI Prc6t d Lo*, lhe

C,mpany has not d€sSMted dy Fin cial A.seb in this category.

De-R.oArltion
A tnd.ial ast is deEoCnis€d whm the contraciual nglb ro r*ive cash flows ,ron the asrct hat dPn€d or the C,nPany hd baEfmed lts dghB to

reeive the contlacruat cash f,ows from rhe ast in a t @a.rion in wludr substanualy al1 the nstr dd tgards of omshiP oI the as*t arc tr@Iered.

lmpaim;nt of Flndcial A.set3

h ;mrdane w h NFRS 9 "rimn ial tn rMmf', the c,mpany ls'Exprted crdit Ls' (Ecx) Model ror evaruadrg imPdmsi oI Finanoal Asets

orha than ihose m€asured at ra; value thDugh iro6t or Los {FVI?L}

Exp..te.l Credlt lose are nedured thrcugh a loss allowane at an uomt equal tol

Tie 12 -onrhs Expe.red Cledit L6.s (Exp{ted Cre&t rnsres that Hulr from Gose default eenrs on the Fimcial Lsrrument that are Posible dthjn 12

hontu alter the rePordng dale), or

rdl Lifetime Expe.ted crert Loss6 {Erpected credt rlsss thar .6ulr tom all possible delault 4ents over the life oI the linancial In trumo

For Trade R4eivabls, the Company ap?li€s 'simplitied Appioach whi.h requirs lrpected Liletime L$es to be .egdzd from iNtial rdgnition oI

tne receivabtes. The Company uses nistorical defaultares ro detenitu lmpairmdt lnss on the Portlolio oI Trade R*ivables. At everv rePorting date,

tnese hktorical delauh rat6 are review€d md chdg6 in the foruard looking 6timates are dalru d'

For other asser!, the Compdy uses 12 monrhs Expeted Credit Lo*s to provide ,oi impairmat 1os wher€ therc is no signilicant incree in credit ndk. r
there is significant increse in .redit risk luu Liletime ECL is @d.

tr",ffi
i\ -/"1/>4r



Varun Beverag€s lNePal) fvt Ltd.

Not€s to the Fin cial Srat€m€nls

ForPetiod 17rhlulr2023 - rsth lulv, 2024

(Ye.r Erded Upto Aslud 31, 2081)

simifi..nr Inlomation- A(coutint Polici€s & NoI€s to the A('ounk

IL Finan.id Lialiliri€s
Iniriat Reco8rition & Meaeuement

l,*.i"r.'",uir'',*"...gniudwhd,donlywh6,thecomPanybmm€saPadytothe.onkactualprcvisionsoltheliltrcialllEtlrmmt,The
Cofrpany detemin6 th€ dassiE.alion of 15 linan.ial Liabiliti6 at ininal r@Snition'

Arl riMnciat Liabiliud arc r4oSnized iniliary at rair value, plus, in th€ .a* ot Fi@.i.I Liabilibs not at lan vahe rhouS! prc6t or lo$, tratuaction

costs th.t are attributabl€ to the Gsue oI the linmcial Uabiliiv'

Subscquenr MeatuEm€rt

The mdsurmmt oI 6nancial liabilities deP4ds on then dmificatioo as d6aibed below:

a) Findoal liabllities at ryTPL
Financial liabilitiE ar Fvrpl includ€ 6n .iaL liabiliti6 held lor hading and dMncial liabillti.s desigMted uPon initial re@gilnon s at lair value through

Prc6torloss,rinanoallisbilihedeclasid€.lashelrlldtradingiltheyaeilnrcdforth.PurPoseolrePur.hdingintlenurtem,
;pon irdtiar rmgnitio& hatuacrion c6rs are dir<rly attriburable to oe a.quisition are rmgnized in statdent of Pro6i or t ss as inqred' subs€quent

chang* in lair value is Hognizd at Statenent oI Prc6t or tiE'

!) Fin .irl liabilitied !t soludea o.t
AJtdinitialIsgDtioi,finafuialliabilitiddBignatedatanoriied@stsaPsubs€quotlymeasuredatamortisedc6tusingthellRnethod.Gaisand
to* arc.*g.,t;ed i. srat*mt ot pio6t and t s who the tiabilihe are d@ognised as wel as t]mugh the EIR anortisation ?roces

iii) D.'Re.o8nilion
a Finandal ;ability is dei*o8ni4d whm the obliSation m.Ier rhe xabiliry is dls.harSed o! .mered or dpiB, when an sistjnB riM.ial Liability is

replaed by dorhd from rhe sde l€nder on bstandary dillddt rems, or th€ r€ms of d aisting liability are substantiarv modii€d 6uch an schmge

o. .oain"utio. i" tetea u" o deEognition of the original liab,xty md the lN8rution of a w lia}ility, md the difi4ene in the regPe.tive .arryjng

amouts ts regnized in the statm toIPro6lorln$'

Olfsening of rilaci.l IGlt]ment3
linanciat a*ts and IiMn ial liabitin6 are offset and the net anout is reported in the baldce shet iI thm is a drentry enlor@ble legal nght to ofl*t

the !4osnised dounrs 6d there is an inrention ro setue on a net basi!, to realise tIe as€ts and settL the lialilitie! simultanouslv.

3,9 C.sh & Cash Equv.lenl
rortlrepurposeolpootatoninthestat4entolcashflows,cash&cashEquivalentsinclu<lscaslrlnHd,BantBalmc6,PosiliveBalanceofcash
CredilAccounrand ChPqre rn hdd.

Finan.iallnstrumentsissuedbythecomPdydeclasidedasEquityonlytot}egtatthattheyrlonotneetthedednihonolaFinmialLiabiiityor
Fim.ial Aset. The Cmlany! Equity ShaPt are classided as Eguitv IBtrummts induding lonus ShaE

3.11 Divid€rd dskibution ro equtv holdeE

Tte compa.y recogN6es a liability to make .dh or non cash distnbutioG ro equity loldds whd the disdbution is authorised and the dlsrribution is no

tonSs ar rhe;isqehon of rhe compmy. As pd tne compuiE Act 2063, a dGtib(tion is authorised when it is aPProved bv the shareholdeE in Gderal

Meeting. A @ sPondi^g mount is koghi*d di(dv in equftv'

3.12 Previ3ions, Contingert Li,bnites & Conrhgert ass'rs

ptuvisions are r{ocnized when tle company las a pr6dt legal or @ctrucrive obligation as a r*nlr 01 pdt dets, Ior whi.h it is Prclable ihat an

ouril@ oI r€sou@, mbodlng donomi. benedLe wil be r€quired to setue tne obligation and a reliable 6tim2ie or the mount cd be nado

pdisions de measured ar the p@nt vatue oi Magemdrs bst etmate o! the q?dditure required to setoe ihe P!6@t ohligation at the end oI the

.eporring penod. r the eflect oithe time value oI morey is material, provGions ae discounted GinS a (smt pEtax rate rhat ren4t8, whm arPropriate,

the ns!;edffc ro the liabixry. when dis.ounting is used the in.re* in the provision due to the pa$age oI time is r€.ognikd as a 6nmce osi
provisioG lor Contingdr Liabitfty are Eosniad in rhe h@ks as a matter oI abundant prdaution md coBflarive aPPtuach based on mmaSment! be6t

estimate. Eowder, Manag€mot believs rhat .hances oi these marteE going against the .ompany are lmote and there will not be anv Pronade esh

A( .^"*s* li'i

Q;d':l'
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Varun Beveraged (N€Pal) P!t, Ltd

Notesto the Fin...ial Statements

Fol Period lln Jdv, 2023 _ lslh Jdv,2024
(Year End.d UptoArhad 31, 2081)

Sigrifi.mt Infomaiion, Ac'omtirg loli'i€s & Notes to rl€ A"oats

IL ConiingertLiabilities
contingent tiabilftie ar. rmSnikd only when rhere is a pcsible ouiSation ansing rrom Pst 4enrs due to ()N.im.. .r non{ccudmce ol one or more

,^*n"]" rr,*" *-o ", .t .Iy wfthin the @nr'ol of tte c,mpany or whele any pffir obligatlon c*ot be m.'sured in tem ot tuture out0ow oI

.su(s or whde a reliable estimate oI the obtigatim cannot be made. Obligatios are as*sd on a^ ongoing basis and onlv tho6e having a lar8elv

prohable outflow of rdourcs are Prcvided for.

conti^genr sets where it is plobable that tuhre dononi. bm€ffts will flow to the compmy ae not rmgniad h aisdo*d in the linancial Statmdt ,

cash flows are lepolted unnS th€ indiEt merhod, whd.by Net Pro6r Alrer T* is adiusted ior the €fiats of hmactioN ol a no!<ash nature md anv

deIdEls of aeMls oi Past or tuturc .6h r-eiPts or Palhmts'

Emin; per share is cahnated by dividina the p!o6t athibutable to owres of ttre comp y by tie w€ighted Averag€ Nmbe! of€quity shares outstan<[ng

.tuing the Financial Yed.The woghted aveiage nsber ol 
'quitv 

shaM

outst;.[n8 dunnS rhe yed i, adjusted Io! evmrs, orh€r than c@v6ion or potmhat equity shares, tlar have chanSed rhe nubd oI equity shar6

@t6t ding withdt a @@Pmding chdEe in resourcd.

In <ase of a lonc isue dd 6ub-divisod6ptft, the n@tEr oI ordinary shar6 oubtmding is inoeased by n@ber .I shar6 issued as bons 3ha!6 and sub'

divisdsPlit 6Pec6tly in cunet year aful .omParative Pdo.l !r6@ted as if the e@t had oco[ed at the begiMins of the €arliet yer PEented,

ror the purpo* oI calcdaEng diluted @min8E/0os) p€r share, the net prc6t or los for the pdiod attdbutable to.quity shar.holde6 ana the weidted

average n6bd ol share outstanding durhg the Pdod are adjtsted for the elreb oI all dilul e Potmtial equiiv snare'

lu.tional Cuency & Forcign C@dcy Tr.nsa.tions

The Finmial statoets of tlE company are p@te.l in NePal6e RuP*, which i! the comPan/6 Imctional curmcy. In PrePdinS the li]dcial

stat€nmls o, the compan, tr@acrios in .urmci6 orhd than the c,mpan/s Fmctional curr4.y i.e. loreig. curuciB ae Eognized at the rat6 of

*change Prevailing at the dats of the trma.tioN.

Signifi.dt n ag€nent iudgement in aPPlyina a..outirg Policies dd 
'stimatior 

ueitaintv
The prepararim of the Compmy's nMcial statenmis requiB mmg ent to make judgmenrs, e3timato and NmPtions that afe.t the rePorted

"**r, .r *"""*, *p"**, a$ers md tiabilftis, and tie a@mpdymg disclosur6, and tle disclosure of continSot liabilfti6 at the date of the

nneial statemsls. Estimales dd a$unPtiom

are conbnuously evatuared dd are bd€d on mdagmmfs qp€rimce and othe! IactoE, induding €xp{tatiom "f f',h-. d.nr4 rhai 2re b€lieved to be

reasonable under the ciroNtd..6.
Unce*ainty about rh6e assmptios and 4rimates could result in out.oms that reqlire . haterial adiGtment to tle .arryin8 amount oI issels or

liabili66 .Ir€ckd in tutue Penods.

In parri.ular, the conpmy nas id4nned the lollowing ar€s wherc $Snidcdt judSen4tt 6tirat6 and assmPiions are lequt€d. Iurther inlomation

"" .".L 
"r 

tl,* a-." ."d h"- they impa.r lhe various ac.omtins poli.i€s ale d6dbed b€low and also h the rerevalt not€s to the linmcial staremmtt.

Ch ses i^ 4timates are aeounted ror ProsPecdwelv.

3,15



varun Bevera8rs (Nepal) Pvt Lld.

Notes ro rh€ Finar.ial sbrenenis

For Period 17th Iul, 2023 _ rfth ,ulv, 2024

(Y.ar tflded Upto Ashad 31, 2081)

Siqnifi.anr lnfomaii.n- A..ouniitrg Poli.i.s & Noteslo the A"ounls

In the ?rocs of applying the Company's ac.omring polici6, mamgemmt has nade the lollowing judgoots, wni.h nave the most siSruficant eft<t on

the domts r@8nis€d in the fina.cial staioenr3:

Contingent liabilriG may arise froo the oidinary couse of buoinss in ielahon ro .laims against the Compan, ituluding l%4 .ontracto. and orher

claims, By their nature, @ntinEmcies will be e$Lved onty who me or more un..d.in tutue

*nrs @ur o! tan to o(ur, The a*smar of rhe existerce, and porendal qudtum, oI contings.is inhmntly involvs *E deise oI siBnificant

judgmats ad rhe e of Etinate r.Sarding the outcome oI tuture evsts.

b) Re.oEnition of d€fered ld as.ls
The €xtst to whi.l der@ed td assers can be reognised is based on an asNent oI the Prcbalilitv tt\at turure r5rarie

income wilt be aEilable agaist whi.h tle deductible tm?orary diIlermc and td loss .arry foMard cm be unled In

addlho4 signiffcant judSdmt is required in asssing the impad ol my l€8al or mnonic limits or uertaintiG in vands ba jurisdictions

II. Edtirat€s and a$uptiotu
The tey a$unptios concemin8 rhe turure md other key s@G olEtination ucerlaint at the rcportinA date that have a 6i8nifrmt nsk oi.ausing a

malenal adjErment to the .arryrng mo6ts ol asset! sd liabilities witnin the ndt lnanorl year, arc ddribed bel@. The ComPany ba*d its

assmptions and errimatd on parameteE awanabb who tle Gnmcial statqdts w.re prepa.€d. Eibting cimmstanc6 and assumPrim aboqt tuture

rtwelopmdts, however nay .hange du€ to market chdge or .immstdc dising berrnd tl€ sntrcl oI the ComP y. Such chan86 ae Gfl€.ted in the

a$mPioB who theY dru.
a) useful taes of r.n8iDle a$€t3

The Compdy rwiM its 6tihate oI the Etul iive oI tdgible a*ts at €ach rePoning date, based on the exPated uditv oI the asts'

D) Defin.d bcn€fit obliSatior
The .ct oI ihe de6ned bme6t pl md other Post-mplormqt boe6is and Oe Premt value of su€h ohtgatid are

detdmined uling acruanal valuatioN, An a.tuarial valuation involves mating various a$hPtic that eay diff'r rrom

acrual development ir the tuture, Th6e include the deteEnndion of the dismt rate, tuiure salary in@*s, mortality rat6 d tuturc Pmion
jncres6, tnwieofthe.omplqitiesinvolv€dinthevaluationmd itslong-tem Mture, a defined b4€6robliSationishiStLly*tuitit to.h gesin th6e

assmpuoc. All NumPbos are isiew€d at ea.l rcPorbnS date.

TE Company Nrimates ttE ner realisable valu6 oI invarond, iakinS into aeout the nct ieliable evidec€ avanabk at ea.h rcPorting dale. The tutue

realisalion oI rh6e invmtoier may be arf{ted by tuture tednology or othd markeEdriva .i gs that may redu.e tuture *Ijng prices

"'l",Ti,*S:i'ffi*:filIl,.,jffi[...-,-hordaye,isibir*y,theDiEte^p.G6per,am'totheunithaveb@nbmkedintherespetlve
unil and the .onmon expelB have bea allo.aled in the ratio oI sals of lhe cotoPonding uits.

rn Unit- I after the estabtishmmt of new bottling li@ ret nore, 1 and nore- 30 ihe DiEt Raw natenal expensB pertaining to the 
^.w 

line have b€e

booked in the sde Line, the Production qpeses other rhan Raw Matdal expeNes have bem apporlioned in the ratio oi Prcducrion and roidual

comnon dpenss have bq prdportionately atlocated in the ratio of 5al6 between the aisting Unit I and the New Linc.
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Vatun Beverages (Nepil) Pvt. Lld.

Notes to the Iinancial Slatements

For Period 17th Iuly, 2023 - lsth lnly, 2024

(Year Ended Upto Ashad 31,2081)

4 Deferred Tnx Assets
15thJuly,2024

(Ashad 31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad 31,2080)

Di-feo"a rix essevtriability) - Main unit

Properly, Plat & Equipm4t

L€ave Encashmml Payable

Provision DNbtfulDebts
Prcvision - D@btful Advd@s

Provision - CSR

DefeEed Td ksevGiability)'P.rad I
Prcperty, Plant & EquiPmml

Leave Encasthdt Payable

Prcusion - Doubdul Debts

Prousron - Doubtrul Advdces

Prcvision - CSR

Defered Td AE6et/Giability) - Parasi I ExPmsion

Property, Plant & EuiPmmt
Gratuity Payable

Leave Encdhmenl Payable

Provi$on - Doubtlul Debts

Provision - Doubtful Advmces

Lease Uablities

Provision - CSR

132,029,965)

5,43s,770

3,296,327

110,82t,476)

5,035,7M

3,662,492

083,445,708) \173,616,763)

(2spn,;2n (28,$6,;56)

31,713,025 29,509,727

7,723304 5,067,A76

19,372,467 )

63,136

(206,788,305) 1169,7O5,256)

D IA(t) - DTA(],),
Unit I

DTA,(L).

16th Jnly,2023 (Ash.d 31,2080)

Ch.rEcd/{Creclit.d) to Statement olProlit & Loss 12\ ,174,588) (6,599,130) (9,309,331) (32083,049)
1767,5AL976) \169,7O5,256)

,., p.l \ r.. r. i oOrhcrLornurcl,.ns\111.."'
rsthj,,lylozq t,qthoa ar, zosll (23,297,868) (174,181,106) (9,309,331) (206,788,30s)

5 Othcr l.ron Curretrt Assets
15thIuIy,2024

lAs\ad 31,2081)

16ih luly,2023

Provisim lor Doubttul Advaces

Advd.es otherthd Capilal Adva!.es
679,340,629 640,774,323

r; n-'f /.'4-
679,34O,629 64'n,774,323



vi rn Bev.riges (Nepi)) Pvl. Lid.

Notcs to lhe Iinanc,al siatenents

lorleriod 17thJuly,2023 - lslh J(ly,2024
(Year Ended Uplo rlshad 31,2081)

1sthJuly,2024
(Ashad 31,2081)

16th Julr 2023

(Ashad 31, 2080)

Scnilinishcd Coods
t,271,598,595

191,945,083

790,902,516

174,677,419

186,248,386 291,613,407

Stores sparcs & luels
1,649,792,064 7,257 ,793,372

7 Trad€ Receivables

15thJ!Iy,2024
(Ashad 31" 2081)

15lh lulr 2023

(Ashad31,2080)

Trade Reccivables lron Related Parties

Trade Receivables lrom othe6
Securcd, Considered Cood

Unsedred, Considercd Good

Unse(ted, Considered Dotrbtft1L

459,841,124
't \,472,1,49

5t5,497,496

L8,514,226

477,313,313 s33,67t,722

S@red Tade Re.eivabl6 are ba.ked by Baik Gudetee as Provided bv Customef'

I cash & c6h Equivale

1sthluly,2024
(Ashad 31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad31,2080)

Cash In Hud

Balance With Banks - CA & OD +ve Balance

Elerest Bank Limited

Machhapuch.hhre BaJ& Limited

Nepal SBl Bank Limited

Nepal Investmmt Ba* Limited

NIC Asia Bank Limited

NMB Banl Limiied

Rmtriya Bdihya Bank Limited

Stddard Chartered Bank N+al Limited Call

Prabhu Barik Limited

Siddhartha Banl Limited

Global IME Baik Limited

L245,767

,249

6t,076

736,743

1,0,275,597

14,121038

t,749,582

1,560,574

2,204

37,495

288,501

512,596

3,191,367

2,346,365
'107,774

682,119

8,855,571

6,001,525

535,i25

212,398

4,178

399,tt192

156,309

i%!:



Varun Beve.ages Nepal) Ivl. Ltd.

Noies to the linancial Si*emenis

For Period 17th July, 2023 - lsth July, 2024

(Year End€d Upto Ashad 31, 2061)

9 Bank Balafte Other tha Cash & Cath Equivalent

15th Iuly,2024 16th July,2023
(Ashad 31,2081) (Ashad 31,2080)

-r.-.ao"..,'.r*.itl.,.]*alMatU![ofNloIcttran3honhs2,311,9o7,717],693,283,604

Total 2ia4907,747 1,693283,604

10 Otherlinan.ialAssek

15th Jul, 2024

(Ashad3r,2081)
16lhJuly,2023

(Ashad31,2080)

Insurancc Claim Reccivable

12,630,598

3,200,168

824,474

131,100,000

1,404,89,1

9,614,417

4,274,98L

7,152,945

131,100,000

57,850,509

749,160,134 209,993,252

11 Other Curretrt Assets

15thJuly,2024
(Ashad31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad 31,2080)

Prepaid Expenses (ln.l. lnsuran.e)

Advancc To Suppliers

Amesly Recovcrable

Refmdablc CustomDuty

25,763,281

57,457,037

11,351,669

15,633,133

39,s92,942

6,189,957

3,440,8074,084,642

86,904,960.00 76,208,468,00

72

(a) Equity Share capital

lsth July, 2024

(Ashad31,2081)
16thJuly,2023

(Ashad 31,2080)

A hori6ed Capital
3,380,451 Ordinary Shares of Rs. 1,000 Each.

I6sued CapilaL
3,000,000 Ordinary Shares of Rs. 1,000 Each

Paid Up Capil4L
1,442370 Ordinary Shares of R5. 1,000 Each

551130 (Previous Year: &000) Bonus Shares of Rs. 1,000 Each

3,380,451,000 3,380,451,000

3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

7,442,370,444 1,442,370,000

559,130,000 8,000,000

2,001,500,000 1,450,370,000

,1^-.*__-,/ a
\iount:t'9,/



vau B.Yerigeq (NePal) Pvt. Lkl.

Not.s to the Iinancial Sl.leDrents

For Pcr;od 17th July, 2023 15th July, 2024

(Y€ar Ended Upio Ashid 31,2081)

(b) Other tlq(ity

1slh luly,2024
(Ashad 31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad31,2080)

Balance al thc BegiturnrSol theYear 683,229,356 53,600,356

629,629,000

Balan.e at the End of the Year 683,229,356 683,229,356

Balance at lhe BeSiming ol tlcYear
(+) !rior Pcriod Adjt'simcnt

C) Utilisalion for Issuance of Shares

(+) Profit lor ihe Year

(+) Othcr Conprehc.sive In.omc

Available For Distribution
( ) Cash Dividend Paid

Balar.e at ihe End of lhe Year

r,246,769,n6

1,570,406,436

900,159,168

t7,543,756

7,193,066,852

2,a17 ,776,212
(652,656,500)

(5s1,130,000)

2,170,769,776

(85,1,000,000)

7,613,379,772 7,246,769,776

13 Lease Liabilities
lsth luly,2024

(Ash,d 31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad 31,2080)

145,553,273 133,023,689

745,553,273 133,023,689

13,011,853 t4,524,914

13,011,853 74,524,948

15th Iulr 2024 16ih Jrly,2023

Provision For Contingent Liabilities

Provision lor Leave En ashhent

3,t97,113,923 3,216,680,513

a7,a37,197 2A342,218

Non ctrrrent l'jrovisions 3,279,247,720 3,237,O22,73 r

Prousion For Corporate So.ia1 ResPonsibility

Provision For Leave Encasifrenl

52,413,834

5,341,652

43,521,539

4,436,303

57,755,486 48,452842

Disclos! rc under NAS 37 Provisions,

16th July, 2023

(As\ad 31, 2080)

15th Julr 2024

Provision lor contingent

For The Year Ended 15th J 3,216,680,513 19,236,590 3,197,443,923



Varnn Beveriges (Nefal) P!t.l-td.
Noles to th. Iinancial Statements

IorPeriod lTln luly,2023 - 15thJuly,2024
(!ear tnded Uplo,\shad 31,2081)

3,114,569,504 102,111,009tor fte Year Erded lbl}l luly,202'r rA.hdd 11.2080)

Piovision ror coryorate Social Responsibility

Ior The Year Ended 15th Iul, 2024 (Ashad 31, 2081)

- 3,216,680,573

9,854462 52,413,4351i,621,540 18,646,757

ForTheYear Ende.l l6th Iulv,2023 (Asha.I31,2080) 33,062,009 14,210,239 3,650,708 43,621,54A

15thJulr2024 16thJuly,2023
(&had 31,2081) {Ashad 31,2080)

Trade Payablc Fro Related Parlics

Trade Pavablc Fronr Othe6

133,434,727

222,072,323

346,558,368

4t3,992,403

3ss,902050 760,551,171

16 ShortTerm Bo(owings

1sthJuly,2024 16thluly,2023
(Ashad31,2081) (Ashad31,2080)

Everest Bank Limite.l

- Cash Credit

Nepal Investment Bdk Limiled

NIC Asia Bdk Limiled

Nabil Bank Limiled
- Cash Credit

Standard Chanered Bank

360,000,000

9t,458,436

258,000,000

u411,941

330,000,000

63,253,2U6

108,000,000

4,Ol3,9lO

2,172,039

76,74t,\75

445,570,663 388,927,t24

r7 orlercndeni fin.nci,l Liabiliti€s

15thJdy,2024 16thJuly,2023
(Ashad 31,2081) (Ashad 31,2080)

Dealers Deposit Bottles & Containers

Employee Related Payable

Other Employee Related Payable

277,574,533

146,467,557

15,427,267

416,030,046

142,702,392

20,265,645

4?9,469,351 s7&398,083

(-VY



v.run BeveraScs (Nepal)l'vt. Ltd-

Notes to the Iinincial Statedrents

ForPeriod 17th July,2023 _ 1sln lnly,2024
(Year Ended Upto Ashad 31,2081)

18 Oiher CuEent Liabili ti.s

15th rnly,2024
(Ashad 31,2081)

15th Julr 2023

(Ashad31,2080)

Adv cc lrom C6tomers

Olher l-iabilities

54,205,883

2,925,564

700,889

276,952,269

33,710,747

5,671,077

52,885

363,705,197

334,784,605 403,139,294

19 Income Tax (Assets)/Liabilitics {Net)

lsth Iuly, 2024

(Ashad31,2081)

16th lulr 2023

(Ashad31,2080)

238,539,334 189,324593
lncome lar Liabilities

56,706)

17,1a8,733) {5,832,113)

ffik



Varun BeveraA.s (Nepal) Pvt. Ltd.

Notes to the [ihancial Statenents

Ior Period uth July, 2023 - lsth luly, 2024

(Year Ended Upto Ashad 31, 2081)

20 Revenue Irom Operations IiA.in NPR

15th Iuly, 2024

(Ashad 31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad 31,2080)

10,547,630,870 10,541 ,734,938

\2,931 ,141,199)(') Excise duty 12,877 ,9s5,t8s)
7 ,729,674,685 7,614,593,739

16,199,33716,885,355

7,?46,560,040 7,626,793,076

lsth JuIy, 2024 16th lul, 2023

{Ashad31,2081) (Ashad31,2080)

Irterest ln@me'Banl
lnterest Income - Oihers

t77,663,661

19,009,500

125,94&558

t75,540,395
'\9,591,444

65,482590

Total 322,62t,7 19.OO 260,619,A29.00

22 Raw Mateiial Con mption

15th ]uly,2024 16th July,2023
(Adrad 31.2081) (Ashad 31,2080)

Raw MaierialCommption 3,2 t7,016,759 3,435,074,796

3,211,076,?59 3,435,070,796

Chdges in Inventories oflinished Coods & work-ln-ProSress

lsthJulr 2024 16th July, 2023

(Ashad31,2081) (Ashad31,2080)

Opening Slock - [nrished Goods

Opening Stock Semi finishcd Stock

CloshS Siock' lnished Coods

291,,613,407.-OO

186,248,386

?21,51Q,@16

3,098,849

29 t,6t3,447

(105,365,021) 67,003,9 t2

24 Employee Benefit Erpenses

151hJulr2024 16thJuly,2023

{Ashad31,2081) (Ashad31,2080)

Post Employmot Benefit Costs

Other LonS Tem Benefits

464,695,414

146,467,557

31,599193

9,223,957

451,863,808

142,1,02,392

20,244,467

1,880,192

8,124,473

697,946,4.

at

624,212,732



Virun Beverigcs {Ncpal) Pvt. Ltd.

Notes to thc Iinan.ial Statements

For Period 17lhJuly,2023 - lsth Jtly,2024
(Year Ended Up(o Ashid 31,2081)

15th Julr 2024

(Ashad 31,2081)

15rh luly, 2023

{Ashad 31, 2080)

Electri.itylPower & Fuel

Travelling & Conveyance ExPmes

Repair & Maintenmce - Block A
Repair & Maintenance - Block D

Repair& Mainten ce - BlockC

Vehicle Rlming & Fuel

HousekeepinS Expenses

Printing & Stationary

Telephone & Commication
Subsoiptim & Periodical

ConJerence & Metings

Sedrity Senice Charges

Loading & Unloading CtEiges

Legal Exp@es & Co6ultm.y lee

Trmit L€a&age dd Breakage

Advertismot & Promotion Expenses

Seling & Djstribution Expses
Freight & Delivery Expenses

Provision For Coryorate Social ResPotuibility

Provision For Continsent Liability 102,1:11,009

7A5,755,984

47,539,339

3,344,797

93,602,127

11,656,822

13,769,666

4,934,320

20,256,791

1a,022"592

3,013,859

502,711

4,222,651
'lt7,tso

lu,a76
750,000

5O000

73,424,189

6,518,',t77

3\,421,592

35,078,018

3a6,486,470

174,974,169

130,164,224

60,a2L266

561,945,733

5,912,347
't8,646,755

230,442,641

39,243,414

25,986,747

13&718,888

73,717,015

14,870,253

5,568,679

1A,181,329

25,\93,837

4,138,705

613,005

3,1c0,467

75,750

296,951

750,000

50,000

1,2,45t,242

15,419,394

3L921,899

1&33&105

216,627,104
'157,224,3\9

88,300,941

'188,647,444

53,855,204

6193a2,4%

9,685,492

\4,2t0,239

15ih JuIr 2024 16thJuly,2023
(Ashad 31,2081) (Ashad 31,2080)

46,415,947 121,627,974
Finan.e Cost NIRS

39,911,492

29,726,062
'16,777,947

67,684,200

39,7E2,533

14,155,185



vanu B.vcr.8es (Nepal) Pvt. I t.l.

Notes to ihe I inatr.ial Statcme n c
Ior Period uthJuly,2023 _ 15th July,2024

(Year Ehded Upto Ashad 31,2081)

Ir.ome Tax Ixpense
'lhis Note Provides an rccon.iliatnm b.tween laxablePiofit & A.L.unting Profit.

(a)

15th July, 2024

(Ashad31,2081)

16thJuly,2023
(Ashad31,2080)

Cutcnt Tax on Prolitlor'rhe Year

Defeted Tax Fo. The Year

238,539,334

32083,049

'\a9324,593

19,655,698

(b) Re.onc_iliation of Taxable Profit & the Accountin8 Profit

15th Jul, 2024

(Ashid31,2081)
16thJuIy,2023

(Ashad 31,2080)

A.outing Profit Before Tax

NFRS Impact

i) Amodsation of Trmactim Fee for Loan Pro@$in8

ii) Actuadal Valuation of kave En6hmant
iii) Iinance Cost I26e
iv) Depr€ciation of ROU Assets

v) Rent Expens€s l€ase

Adiustments As Per Inome Ta Act, 2058

1,846,028,819

$4,202

t6,777,987

5,863,648

(14800,000)

7,4OLU7,143

(98,32',t)

14,155,185

7,509,673

(14800,000)

(176,829,4t5)

13,240,679

23,86r,E15

Erehot Taxable In.ome for Unit I- 00%Tar
1,688,611,919

(4s5,

974,446,922Totll Profit As terIn.ome Td



varun BeveiiS€s (NePal) l']vr Lrd.

Not€s to thc Finan.i.l Stitenerh
For Pdod 17th iul, 2023 - 15th Iulv, 2024

(Yer End€d Upto &lEd 31, 2081)

Emptoyee R.tirmert Benef its

Post Employm.nt Benef,t - D.rined Contributior Pl.n5

For the iea; ended $rh ,uiy, 2024 (3tst Asha4 2081) rhe compay has ffiogdsed m moul oI NPR 32,673,397 agairet contnbutiM to Social S€oritv lund as

exp@s uder the d€Iined co nbuti@ Plffi in rhe slatemmt oI lrclit & Lcs.

Otter Long T€rE B€nd s- ComPenet d Abe€ns
'Ite Compdy rmSrises the .omP@led abs4@s €xP@s in the Slatemdt oI ?rcIil dd t s bded on actuarial v'n'5tun

The iolonn8 tables sffii€s th€ componsB of net bflefir qpme Ecognis€d in the starmat oI Prclit d.d LGs and rhe Iuded slatus md amouts

lecoSnised in ihe baldce sheet:

15tnJuly,2024 16th lulr 2023

3l Lesal M'tien &Co.ting.ntl.iabiliti.s

DurinS lhe,ear iho.o.rPa.y has

100%olIALM20r21,1 100/'of lAIN120l214

11,00%

3.50v"

g!!acesj!-p!c!!dyil!:e-a!cis !!o!Ei
Balance ar th. Deginrns of the Ye

Balan.. .t tn. €nd of rli€ y.d

Birucalion 6l Pies€trt v'ru. 6f Obligariotr

Culmi Liability (Short tem)
Non-Currenr Liability (Long t€m)
Pi*dt Vrlu€ of Obligatio! at ai rhe €nd

Eb.ns€s R€.odiz.a in Inone srikn.nr

Nei Cost r€.ogniz€d or h.oEe Siar.n€nt

Assunptidtu U8.d

Rate oI Lea,. availmmr

25,174,527

6,956,244

129,424

5,341,652

129,424

2E2$,940
4,551,965

2058,841

7,145;70)

1;434AU

25,774,57t

4,836303

20,!42 a

25114,4U

4,551,965

2,058,841

8.045,290

3.50%

In the yed 201& rhe @mpdy set up a new pl6t ar RMBram M@idpality, Ward No. 10, Nawalparasi d hd .lained T holiday ror this new iacility

pusumt ro S<lion 1(3XGa) ot the rnome Td Act, 2053 whjch makes it €Igible for Tax Holiday oi 3 yeals in wlnL\ np Bran h Units shall hav€ 100% td
rebatc h its inome fo! th. 1sl 5 Yeas ad 50% td rebate in it5 in.ome tor the nert 3 !ea6. The €nntld€nr oi Td Holiday for this plahl is uPto 30th April 2026.

Durina rhe year, the c(hpmy expmdcd it3 .apa.fty by settinA a n€w Botling lina at existing Nawalparasi lla md rhe .omei.ial pioduction hom this new

lim begin lron'lst Apdt 2024. Tte .ompay lulfiled rhe conditidtu laid .lom in s€clion 11(3)(Ca) oI the Incon€ Td Act m58 to .lain the Tax holiday lor

peno.l of S yeds. A@rdingly the dtillement of 100% Td Holiday for this Line is uplo 31 M ch 2029 md lhenafter 50% Td Holiday UI 30 Mdch 2032

'fl\e conp y har .laimed lhe Tax holidat lor exisling Pldt dd nry lire d per table belowl

Based on rhc Board MNute Ditcd: 2024 09115, as

ConlinBeni l,iability alonB wnh appLicable Interest

INCOM| TAx, EXCISE pcndin8 ai difi.rcnt leSal

& corocNative approa.h rlt compdy h3s nad. tuU Provisions ior thca matter of abundmt Pre.luri.n
mouring io N PR 3,197,443,923 ,

../n>-riti

17or l{ly 2023 to lsth Iuly 2021

lsr Apil 2024 to l5rh luly 2024

\"r
(Prcvious Year NPR 3,21



Vrun Bev€rager (N€p,l) Pvr. Ltd.

Nd.. r. rho Fi.r..i:l Sht€mdts

For P€riod 17th Jul, 2023 - 15th Idy, 21,24

(Yer End€d Upto Ashad 31, 2081)

ii) Rs 10518,$0 pnmanly on tc.ost oI Excne Duty Demdd on lhe Prod,ction oI let botlles Ior Fiscal Ye : 2066{7.

iii) R3 1,0s6,62? on acc@r oI vAT liabiliry for Fisat Yea.: 206G61 to 206331 *llled ailer r€assetsmmt oI lhe c66.

A! @ y€d end of 2023124 the compdy have various @es Padin8 at differmt leSal fronts. Det ils oI th€ sme is slat€d below

Relevanr Tar Law Pendineaelore

hldd R.venue Depanment

Inland Revcnu. Dcpa*n.nl

Io!4l-Dsr!3!C
424,757,621

7,194,725,194

30,2%,538

253,4M,939

99O809,083

6!7,244

63,343,158

ll!!E
t:t.2va 7r b F{:2n75176 (UptoMaq!]1.,2075)

Nt 206a169,2070t71to 2078 79

IY:2079180

IYr 2070171 to FY: 2075176 (Upto Mag}l' 2{rs)

| 2063169,2a7o1771o F\t 20n 78

F"1:ri74175

Pres€nt status ol c8.6 ongoing i5 as under
High Coun- In.of,€ T.x/ vAT
rhe es6 hav€ b€m deid€d by H@uiabl€ Hieh Court d as p€r te ord.r, rhe Toral Demmd hav€ baa redued to NPR 27,'13 Cr plus PeMlty oI NPR 7 Cr

hdh€mtwied. Howeverduetonon receilroI Fult hxr, taling mabudarprecau6o4 th€.omp y have d4ided nor to reveise the .oiresPonding Pwisi@
made in tlE hook oI a@Et .

R.y€nu€ Trilrm.l'ln.om€ T,, VAT/ Ex.i.€

All rlE c6es pmding belore Revmu. Tdbml have bem hedd dd maiodty oI the i$ues have bM dftided in lavour ol nre @npe, htu€ver th. d€lailed

orde! have not bM r*ived as yet,

Inled R.vena€ Dep tn.ni - In.of,. T., VAT
Caks relat€d to [Yl 219,40 e pmding at Liad Raale DeP.rtmmt uder administrative review.

Cl.ins ag.insl the Conpdy Not A.lnowl.d8.d as DeDt6

Clains against thc CofrPany not ,cloosledged as debis:

Ior In.omc TatVA I/FicisP 102,111,009

1 Note, Maugcncnt believes lhat .hances or these mat.rs soing agaiNt the .ompany arc remotc nd therc will nol be ay Prcbal,le cash outrlorv

Corporat€ So.i.l R€sporsibility

Prcvisi@ lor CDrp,rare Social Resp@ibility, 6 reqdred ud€r rhe provision of ,ndubial Ent€rprise Acl, 2076 S{: 54 has ben @at€d ad unU4d ac@rdin8ly



Varn Bcveragos (N€pil) Irvt. Ltd.

Notes to th€ Fin rn.irl 5t. tc nentg

For Period 17th july,2023 - lsthJuly,2024
(Yc.r Ended upro Ashad 31, 2031)

weighted Av€rage Nunh€r oi Equity Shar€s Ouistanding During the Y€ar

Nunbe! oI Equity Sharcs Outita^ding Durin8 the Y€ar

Nominal Value of Equiry Shes
Eamine! ler Share(lasicl

EaminEs Per Shde(Diluted)

1,570,406,436

2,ml,500

2,m1,500

1,000

7U.67

7U,61

\7*,466,852
1,1,40,883

1,450,000

1,000

1,M5 74

422.40

compmy decided ro disdbure dividmd amounring R5. 1,203,796,sm liom irs r6e(es according to 38th AGM held m 2021'12 24.in fom oi cash Dividma Rs

652666,500 6d Bonu Shes 551,130,000 whi.h hE bem dbtdbuled a(odingly.

Diridend on cquit7 shires de.ltred and prid durirg lhe ),eir

cish Dividend ol NPR 300 pc Eqdty shares on exisiing r,030,000 equiry shar.s

CJsh Di'id.nd ol NlzR 450 per Fquity shaics on .tisting 1,450,370 equiry shares

Bonus Shares ar 379 99 no ol shaie pcr 1,000 shares (r/. to 10)onexisting 1,450,370 equily shares widl Par

652,646,5U)

551,r10,000

F.ir Value Mea@ments
(i) Fh .irr Indhm€nrs by Cdt€ogpry & Hierehy
This secron e-\,lairo the iudsem4r5 ad 6brnar.s mde in det€mininS the Fair varues oI th€ Fiffiiat I$trummts that ae medur.d at Amorltued c,st ed al

whi.h lair Valu6 @ <!*loed in rh.Iin ial Sralemqts,Ihe C@pey doesnt have y Findcial Irstrunefts wni.h e to be he6ured at Fair Value

rhough Profit & Lcs or Fair Value thlough Othq ComPreh4iv. In ome.

To poide m in<llcalim abour rhe rcliability oI the inpub used h detmining lan Value, the C,mpmy h6 cl6$Ii.d itr finm.ial itrlIlmmts into Ihr* Lwels

pre*ib€a s per appucable NFRs. How*r, all the FiMcial t$lrummts held by the Conpdy lall und€r txvel 3 Category.

Ievet 1: level 1 Hi€rdchy includ€s Fin cial tslfundts m€4ur€d ueng Quot€d Pri@s

revel 2: Fat Value oI linarEal tEElmaE thal d. not traded in a aclive m ket is det€mired usihg valnadm re.hniqu$ wlich m,imi*s the se oI

ob*nable narlet dala md rely d lirtle as pGsible n entiry*p4i6c esl@les. r ,I signilicml inputs required to detemin€ Fair Value ol 6 itultuI@t @
obsenable, the iEttuent is included in Level 2.

t vel 3: r otr or more o1 the nstifi.dl hpuls is not ba*d on ob*Fable mrket data ure instrumot is includ€a in Level 3.

There ii no tranlrd oMnacial Irslrumqis betws dlife@t l*15 6 mmtion€d abov. dudnS the ye .

linu.irt Rbk Mdag€m€nt
It. Compay's activiues qpGe i o Ciedit Risl. Uquidity Risk & Malket Risk.

G€dit nsk is rhe risk that a comterparry ratu b dischd8e m obligation ro the Compay. The Cohp&y is operating through a netwo* ol diskibulors ed other

disinbudd partners ba*d ar dilferenr locati@. The Cmpmy b er?osad lo this lisk lor vadous lin cial irotrumemt for *dple b@ grsted, e.eitables
Iiom cudomes, deposils placd erc. The Conpmy's marmum exposu!€ to cedil risk is limiled lo fie carlrrg eout of limcial 6*ls recognised at md ol

Gedn Risk with resp4t to Trade R@ivable is Mged by the Comp y tluoud serdng up Credit lihits ior ostomers & als Pe odicaly reviewing lhe

Cftdit wortlin6 oI majo! &stomers.

\i"\W



V.run Beveri8er (Nepal) Ivt, Ltd.

Not.s to the Financial St.t.m.nts

for Pdiod lTth Iul, 2023 _ $& Julv, 2024

(Y.r Ended Upto Asnrd 31, 2031)

Expocled Credit loss For Tradc Receivables undPr SimPlilied aPProa.h:

l5tnJrlrr2024 16lhjrly,2023

471,313,3t3 533,611,727

Anont of Trade Re.civables 477,373,313

rh*"ru ,,.1- t* *l d*"\ 
"+rr"1",.1"-"r 

h.nLneposirs including a..rued inrcicst h coNidercd negiigrblo, sincc lhe colnterPrrlics are NePal Rasl Barl

apProved linancial Lshiutioro.

prudmt Liquidity Megemmr inplis mantajning su(ari6t .6h md ma*etable s.orili€s ad the availablity of tunding through 6 adequate mount o{

int€ml ad 4t€nul liming to d4t obligatioro whe^ due. The compdy monitoG its nrt b a shonage oI Imds on a regnld bsis thrcu8h cash ror€.ast ior

s.lEdule<l d€bts *ruichg Paym€nis ad cotuidering mabrjty Proiiles oI lintrial Asets & Oth€r Fimciar labilities'

') 
Find.ing Affn8emerb:

IheConp6ylEd avaned Finacing At,ngenmls as categori*dbelow. Cl6hgbalm.6oIthe s e stddt a f'll'ws:

3,15,570,663 3:38,9?:7,771

I') M.tuity of rind&r r iti$:
Th€ table betow sulm ises th€ compd/s Fimial Liabiliues into Relevat Matunv Grcupin8s bed on deir cohtrs.ru.l Maturitie ror aI Fim.ial

15th July, 2024 (Ashad 3r, 2031) 16th july, 2023 lAsh.tl 31, 2030)

Otner Finm.ial Liabilities

355,902050

Total [inancirl I iabililics

a1) Foreign C@ncy Rbk ErPos@
The'compey imporrs ae pedomjnmrly denominated in INR. As the exclug€ rat. betw€m lndia & Nepal is tu€4 Cmpmy doesn t have loreign dlmcy
risk lor INR trmactims. Beside uut major imPorts in foeign ormry other thd INR includes USD & Eulo TrGac6otu.

In USD $ 295,U?

3,939

38"9$,?94

1,32t,737

53,195

14,247)

7,124,9M

1677,696)

v



Varun B€veiages (Nepal) Pvt. Ltd.

Noles tothe ri..n.ial St.ren€nrc
ror Pdiod 17th Jrl, 2023 - 15th lul, 2024

(Ye End€d Upto Ashad 31,2081)

aA rorcign Cuen.y Sens ivity
The Ssihnty oI Prolil & Ins du. ro variation in ihe Ex.hmg. Rales arising mainly irm Foreign Cum.y Dmomimled Find.ial lr$ttunenrs:

15(hluly,2021 16thlulr 2023

NPRTtTSD - ln.rcaso Ry l"/.

NPR/USD DdreaseBIl%

NPIVFlro De.Pale By 1'l"

Nl)ivliulo De.reaseByl%

(71,289)

n,249

(6,r?7)

389,838

171,277)

13,217

Inrercsr Rar€ RGk is the nsk that the Fn! Value o. Iutur€ Cash llows oI a liffiial Instrummt wil nuchrat€ b€cau* ol .hmg6 h Mdket Rat€s. Th€

Comp y's polcy is to minimi* Inter6t Rate Caeh llow risk .rposure on borowings. Compay also have interesl rate nsk in-letm ol opportuinity ost on

14 Ini.rc* R.r. S.nsitivi,
PrcIit or Los is Ssitive to cheg6 in L erest Rate. A dEge n Mdkt Int€rest Irv.l by 100 B6ir Poinrs whi.h is p6oMbly poseible bae.d on

Maagomt's A$esmat would hdv€ tlp lolltuing efi..r m the liolit Altei Td.

(Ashad3l,208l) (Ashrd31,2030)

,nterestltate L.creaeBy 100 Basis Points'

Intcrest Ratc - Dc.tuasc Ay 100 Biln Poinls.

lnlciestltate Increasetsrl00Basis I'onrts

InrerestRate Decpase Ay 100 Bisis Poinci

77,921,441

117,921,317)

3,024,744

13,02\704)

05,347,443)

(3,8s8,732)

" Holding all oth€r Vdiable Cotutmt

37 Calital M aEenent

Ior the purpce or the compdy! Capital Maagelmt, capibr idud6 ilsued capital ard arl othq €quil, Bewes axnbutable b rhe equiiy holdes oI the

compey, The compay n ages its calital so 6 lo saleSudd its abiliry to ontinu€ d a going .mem ed to optimb. r€tu@ to the sh@holde6. Th€ capital
slru.lure o! lhe Compmy is b6ed on m@g€nenfs jrdg66t or tlE appiopriale balaE oI key elelMts in order ro meet its sirategic ad dayrcday reds
We cotuidar tne dout oliapiral in prcportion to nsk md mmage the Gpiral struciure in light oI ch ges in economi. @diti@ did the iisk characleristics or
thc hdtrlvinE o$els.

]lLe Cohpay s aih to rrffilale pmlilable grcwor to superior .ah gen€ration through erftimt capitar @genent, the Comp y's policy is to maintain a

stable nd slro.g capilal slruchrre with a fms m total €quity so 6 to mintain inve6lo!, crcdilo!, md mdket conlidoce dd to stain luture dev€lopmenr md
gro{th oI its bchas. The ConPdy s roos is on keping strong iotal equ y bas€ lo 4ur€ independmce, secuiily, as wel as a high iindcial flenblity loi
polmtial tuture borrcwings, iI requir€d, wilhout impadinS the iisk !rciile oI lhe Compey. Ihe Compey will lake appropnale steps in order ro maintai& or il
@cessaiy adjusr, it5 capit,l stNctue,

The mdagd@t mditors fie rctum on capilal as weU as the l€vel of dividmds to shareholders. Ihe Conpdy! goal is to .onti^re to be abl€ lo ptum sce$
liquidity to sharcholdeE by continuinS to distlibute dividmds in iurule periods

9eEs-\
o l'taa- 1',,q-w



Varun Bev.r.8cs (Nepal) Pvt. Ltd,

Noles to th. Iinan.ial Statements

IorPcriod 17thJuly,2023 - 15lh July,2024
(lear Endcd Upto Ashad 31,2081)

38 Related Party Ditdosure

Holdin8 Conpany: 100% Holding

Fellow Subsidiaries:

VaIu Beverages Limited llrdia]

Devymi Intemanonal Nepal Pvt. Lld. [Nepal]
Lmamech TeduoloSies Pvt. Ltd. [India]
VaJu Develope6 Pvt. Ltd. {Nepall
VaM Bevera8es lntemational DMCC [Dubai]

Mr. Praveen Kumar AgaMal [re68- 2024-01_31]

Mr. Vinod Singh

WholeTim€ Dire.tors:

(a) Key Ma^ageDent Personn€l Com!ensaiion:

15th Iulr 2024 16th July, 2023

Short Teo Employee Bc..fits

(Ashad31,2031) (Ashad31,2080)

4A,n3,Ar1 41,662538

po-r Fmntnvmpnr BenefiL tPa'dl I 581,200 ?.363J.1q

50,294280 44030173

If,ave En@dmenr are provided on actuial b6i6 fo! the ompdy as a whole so the douts Pertainina !o the key mdaSdot
pesoFel de not included above.

{b) Related Party Tiaroadion;:

Holding

Ior The Yed Ended lsth Iuly, 2024 (Ashad 31, 2081)

For The Year Ended 16th Iul, 2023 (Ashad 31, 2080)

Puchaes
Ptupqtf, Plrnt b E$lryelns

Ior The Yed Ended 15th July, 2024 (Ashad 31, 2081)

Ior The Year Eded 16th ]tily, 2023 (Aslud 31, 2080)

Ior The Year Ended 15th luly, 2024 (Ashad 31, 2081)

Ior The Year Ended 16th Iuly, 2023 (Ashad 31, 2080)

lor The Year Ended lsth ]ul, 2024 (Ashad 31, 2081)

Ior The Year Ended 16th ldy, 2023 (Ashad 31, 2080)

Fo! The Yed Ended 15th Iuly, 2024 (Ashad 3'1, 2081)

lor The Year Ended 16th Jul, 2023 (Adad 31, 2080)

Ior The Yeal Ended lsth luly, 2024 (Ashad 31, 2081)

Ior The Year Ended 16th luly, 2023 (Ashad 31, 2080)

122,5r6,3a7

2115,380
3,231412

3a6,486,470

70\,347,644

2,708,371

79,7,645

733,647,494

269,677,291,

390104r8s

344,649,252

1,203,?96,544

864000,000

112,576,357

652,000,000

2,l0a3tl
79,7?7,645

131,566,t75

266345,479

3,974515

247307,644

7,203,796500

864,ooo,ooo

For'I he Year Ended 15rI July, 2024

For The Y.ar Ended 16thIulY,2023 fs
5

652,000,000
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Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS Year ended: Decembre 31, 2024 
Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024, COMPARED WITH DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 

Re
f 

ASSETS 

N
ot

e 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Gross Amort/prov Net Net 

AD INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS       
AE Development and prospecting costs 3 - - - 15,569,994,002 
AF Patents, licenses, software and similar rights  - - - - 

AG Commercial funds and lease rights  - - - - 
AH Other intangible assets  - - - - 
AI TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS  

- 
-   

AJ Lands  - - - 
 (1) of which net investment: 3  -   

AK Buildings  119,302,972,803 1,520,230,297 117,782,742,506 22,523,457,499 
 (1) of which net investment:   -  - 

AL Fixtures, fittings and installations  383,823,095 3,132,053 380,696,042 - 
AM Equipment, furniture and biological assets  87,897,861,991 2,409,127,834 85,488,734,157 1,097,115,213 
AN Transport equipment  9,269,607,375 695,558,579 8,574,048,796 627,696,741 

AP Advances and down payments on fixed assets 3 - - - - 
AQ FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 4 

- 
 

- - 
AR Equity securities  - 
AS Other financial assets  1,110,826,099 - 1,110,826,099 238,511,128 

AZ TOTAL FIXED ASSETS (I)  
217,965,096,363 4,628,048,763 213,337,047,600 40,056,724,583 

     
BA NON-OPERATING CURRENT ASSET 5 - - - - 
BB STOCKS AND OUTSTANDING LOANS  6 51,671,834,346 - 51,671,834,346 22,964,906 
BG RECEIVABLES AND SIMILAR ITEMS  

105,744,677,917 - 105,744,677,917 

- 
BH Suppliers, advances paid 17 36,816,852,286 

BI Customers 7 3,228,987,928 - 3,228,987,928 - 
BJ Other receivables 8 1,525,847,761 - 1,525,847,761 135,623,199 

BK TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS (II)  
162,171,349,952 - 162,171,349,952  36,975,440,391  

  -   
BQ Investment securities 9 - - - - 

BR Receivables 10 - - - - 

BS Banks, postal checks, cash and similar 11 1,355,920,768 - 1,355,920,768 12,368,367,044 

BT TOTAL CASH ASSETS (III)  
1,355,920,768 - 1,355,920,768 12,368,367,044 

    

BU 
Conversion differences-Assets (IV) 
(probable exchange loss) 

12 
3,419,953,081 - 3,419,953,081 0 

-    

BZ GENERAL TOTAL (I + II + III + IV)  
348,912,320,164 4,628,048,763 380,284,271,401 89,400,532,018 

    
 
 
 
 
 



 

Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS Year ended: Decembre 31, 2024 
Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024, COMPARED WITH DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 

Re
f LIABILITY 

N
ot

e Year ended 
31/12/2024 

Year ended 
31/12/2023 

CA Capital 13 20,000,000 20,000,000 
CB Contributors uncalled capital (-) 13 - - 
CD Share premium capitals 14 - - 
CE Revaluation differences 3e 7,872,761 7,872,761 
CF Unavailable reserve 14 - - 
CG Free reserves 14 - - 
CH Retained earnings                                              + or - 14 -124,301,586 -           62,595,312 
CJ Net income for the year       (profit + or loss -)  1,171,115,802 -           61,706,274 
CL Investment grants 15 - - 
CM Regulated provisions 15 6,573,970,508 1,089,395,504 

CP TOTAL EQUITY AND SIMILAR RESOURCES (I)  8,648,657,485 992,966,679 

DA Borrowings and financial liabilities 16 213,824,286,938 68,463,820,564 
DB Obligations under capital leases 16 - - 
DC Provisions for risks and charges 16 - - 

DF TOTAL DEBT AND RELATED LIABILITIES (II) 
 213,824,286,938 68,463,820,564 
   

DG TOTAL STABLE RESOURCES (I + II) 
 222,472,944,423 69,456,787,243 
   

DH Non-operating current liabilities 5 - - 
DI Customers, advances received 7 5,851,987,024 - 
DJ Operating suppliers 17 102,430,176,287 2,525,953,287 
DK Tax and social security debts 18 4,116,841,612 476,600,429 
DM Other debts 19 267,346,560 941,742,992 
DN Provisions for short-term risks 19 1,274,658,791 - 

DP TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES (III) 
 113,941,010,274 3,944,296,708 
   

DQ Banks, discount and treasury credits 20 38,796,907,990 15,999,448,067 
DR Banks, financial institutions and cash loans 20 2,928,114,424 - 

DT TOTAL CASH-LIABILITIES (IV) 
 41,725,022,414 15,999,448,067 
   

DU 
Conversion differences-Liabilities (V) 
(probable exchange gain) 

12 
2,145,294,290 - 

  

DZ GENERAL TOTAL (I + II + III + IV + V)  
380,284,271,401 89,400,532,018 

  
 
 



 

Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS Year ended: Decembre 31, 2024 
Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

INCOME STATEMENT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 2023 

 

Ref WORDING  

N
ot

e Year ended 
31/12/2024 

Year ended 
31/12/2023 

TA Sale of goods                                                 A + 21 92,244,365,175 0 
RA Purchase of goods - 22 -    1,397,870,653 0 
RB Variation in inventory of goods -/+ 6 - 0 

XA COMMERCIAL MARGIN   89,846,494,522 - 

TB Sale of manufactured products            B + 21 - 0 
TC Works, services sold                                  C + 21 - 0 
TD Accessory products                                   D + 21 - 0 

XB TURNOVER (A+B+C+D)   91,244,365,175 0 

TE Stored production (or destocking) -/+ 6 5,307,687,712 0 
TF Immobilized production + 21 - 0 
TG Operating grants + 21 - 0 
TH Other products + 21 - 0 
TI Transfers of operating expenses + 12 - 0 

RC Purchases of raw materials and related supplies - 22 -   6,046,593,785 0 

RD Variation in stocks of raw materials and related supplies -/+ 6 -60,409,325,427 0 
RE Other purchases - 22 -   1,676,023,755 0 
RF Variation in stocks of other supplies -/+ 6 -       237,327,203 0 
RG Transports - 23 -       877,279,447 0 
RH External services - 24 -   6,677,569,786 0 
RI Taxes and duties - 25 - 0 
RJ Other charges - 26 -   1,274,658,791 0 

XC ADDED VALUE (XB+RA+RB) + (sum TE to RJ)   17,955,404,040 0 

RK Personnel costs - 27 -   7,812,465,763 0 

XD GROSS OPERATING SURPLUS (XC+RK)   10,142,938,277 0 

TJ 
Reversals of depreciation, provisions and 
impairments 

+ 28 - 0 

RL Depreciation, amortization and provisions - 3c&28 -   4,438,829,230 -  102,036,198 

XE OPERATING RESULT (XD+TJ+RL)   5,704,109,047 -  102,036,198 

TK Financial and similar income + 29 16,808,077,787 38,167,480 
TL Other non-operating products + 28 2,894,136 2,162,444 
TM Transfers of financial charges + 12 -  
RM Financial costs and similar charges - 29 -20,344,965,168 0 
RN Provisions and impairment losses - 3c&28 -  



 

XF FINANCIAL RESULT (sum TK to RN)   -  3,532,993,245 -    40,329,924 

XG INCOME FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (XE+XF)   2,171,115,802 -61,706,274 

TN Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets + 3D - 0 
TO Other non-operating products + 30 - 0 
RO Book value of fixed asset disposals - 3D - 0 
RP Other non-operating charges - 30 - 0 

XH 
INCOME FROM NON-ORDINARY 
ACTIVITIES (sum of TN to RP) 

  - - 

RQ Worker participation - 30 - 0 
RS Income taxes - 37 - 0 

XH NET RESULT (XG+XH+RQ+RS)   2,171,115,802 -  61,706,724 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS 

 
Year ended: 

 
Decembre 31, 2024 

Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

Ref WORDING 

N
ot

e Year ended 
31/12/2024 

Year ended 
31/12/2023 

ZA 
Net cash as of January 1 
(Cash assets N-1 - Cash liabilities N-1) 

A  - 3,631,081,023 895,690,860 

 Cash flow from operating activities     
FA Overall cash flow from operations (CAFG)   6,609,945,032 40,329,924 
FB - Non-operating current asset   0 - 
FC - Variation in stocks   - 51,648,871,440 - 22,964,906 
FD - Variation in receivables   - 76,966,992,485 -36,761,875,485 
FE - Variation in current liabilities   117,993,994,880 3,765,302,724 

 
Change in operating working capital 
(FB+FC+FD+FE):             - 10,621,867,762 

    

ZB 
Cash flow from operating activities  
(sum FA to FE) 

B  - 4,011,922,730 -32,979,207,743 

 Cash flow from investing activities     

FF 
- Disbursements related to acquisitions of 
intangible assets 

  0 -11,664,175,741 

FG 
- Disbursements related to acquisitions of 
tangible fixed assets 

  -185,818,918,526 -22,923,449,835 

FH 
- Disbursements related to acquisitions of 
financial fixed assets 

  - 872,314,971 -      132,751,128 

FI 
+ Receipts related to the disposal of intangible 
and tangible assets 

  - - 

FJ 
+ Receipts related to the sale of financial fixed 
assets 

  - - 

ZC 
Cash flow from investing activities 
(Sum FF to FJ) 

C  (186,601,233,497) (34,720,376,704) 

 Cash flow from financing equity     
FK + Capital increases through new contributions   - - 
FL + Investment grants received   - - 
FM - Capital levies   - - 
FN - Dividends paid     
ZD Cash flow from equity (Sum FK to FN) D  - -  

 Cash flow from financing activities     
FO + Loans   153,965,135,604 63,172,812,564 
FP + Other financial liabilities   - - 



 

FQ 
- Repayment of loans and other financial 
liabilities 

  - - 

ZD Cash flow from foreign capital (Sum FO to FQ) E  153,965,135,604 63,172,812,564 
ZD Cash flow from financing activities(D+E) F  153,965,135,604 63,172,812,564 

ZD 
CHANGE IN NET CASH FOR THE PERIOD 
(B+C+F) 

G  -36,530,343,664 -4,526,771,883 

ZD Net cash on December 31 (G+A) H  -40,369,101,646 -3,631,081,023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

SUMMARY OF PRESENTED ANNEXED NOTES (1)  
 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number:  BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
 

NOTES TITLES A N/A 
NOTE 1 DEBTS SECURED BY REAL SECURITIES X  

NOTE 2 MANDATORY INFORMATION X  

NOTE 3A GROSS FIXED ASSETS X  

NOTE 3B LEASED ASSETS ACQUISITION  X 
NOTE 3C FIXED ASSETS: DEPRECIATION X  

NOTE 3D FIXED ASSETS: CAPITAL GAINS AND LOSSES ON DISPOSAL  X 
NOTE 3E INFORMATION ON REVALUATIONS CARRIED OUT BY THE ENTITY X  

NOTE 4 FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS  X  

NOTE 5 NON-OPERATING CURRENT ASSET 
X 

X 
NOTE 6 STOCKS AND WORK IN PROGRESS  

NOTE 7 CUSTOMERS PRODUCTS TO RECEIVE X  

NOTE 8 OTHER RECEIVABLES X  

NOTE 8A TABLE OF SPREADING OF FIXED COSTS  X 
NOTE 9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES  X 
NOTE 10 RECEIVABLES  X 
NOTE 11 AVAILABILITY X  

NOTE 12 CONVERSION DIFFERENCES X  

NOTE 13 CAPITAL: NOMINAL VALUE OF SHARES OR PARTS X  
NOTE 14 BONUSES AND RESERVES X  
NOTE 15A TOTAL SUBSIDIES AND REGULATED PROVISIONS X  
NOTE 15B OTHER EQUITY X  
NOTE 16A FINANCIAL DEBTS AND SIMILAR RESOURCES X  
NOTE 16B RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS AND SIMILAR BENEFITS (ACTUARIAL METHOD)  X 
NOTE 16Ba RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS AND SIMILAR BENEFITS (ACTUARIAL METHOD)  X 
NOTE 16C CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  X 
NOTE 17 OPERATING SUPPLIERS X  

NOTE 18 TAX AND SOCIAL DEBTS X  

NOTE 19 OTHER LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS FOR SHORT-TERM RISKS X  
NOTE 20 BANKS, DISCOUNT CREDIT AND TREASURY X  
NOTE 21 TURNOVER AND OTHER PRODUCTS X  
NOTE 22 PURCHASES X  



 

NOTE 23 TRANSPORT X  

NOTE 24 EXTERNAL SERVICES X  

NOTE 25 TAXES AND DUTIES  X 
NOTE 26 OTHER CHARGES X  

NOTE 27A STAFF COSTS X  

NOTE 27B STAFF, PAYROLL AND EXTERNAL STAFF X  

NOTE 28 PROVISIONS AND DEPRECIATION RECORDED IN THE BALANCE SHEET X  

NOTE 29 FINANCIAL CHARGES AND INCOME X  

NOTE 30 OTHER CHARGES AND HAO PRODUCTS X  

NOTE 31 DISTRIBUTION OF RESULTS AND OTHER CHARACTERISTIC ELEMENTS OF 
THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS X  

NOTE 32 PRODUCTION OF THE EXERCISE X  
NOTE 33 PURCHASES FOR PRODUCTION X  
NOTE 34 SUMMARY SHEET OF THE MAIN FINANCIAL INDICATORS X  

NOTE 35 LIST OF SOCIAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIETAL INFORMATION TO BE 
PROVIDED X  

NOTE 36 CODE TABLES X  
              
 

(1) Undocumented Notes should not be attached to the financial statements. Their content may be 
improved by the applicable entities 

 
A:  Applicable 
N/A:  No 

 
For example, for an entity that has no stock or work in progress, it must check at the intersection (“NOTE 6” & column N/A) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  Notes to the financial statements 
 

NOTE 1: DEBTS SECURED BY COLLATERAL 
   
Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS Year ended: Decembre 31, 2024 
Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

 

WORDING 
N

ot
e 

Gross amount 
COLLATERAL 

Mortgage Pledges 
Pledges/ 
Others 

Financial debts and similar resources      
Convertible bonds 
Other bonds 
Borrowings from credit institutions 
Other borrowings 

 

- 
- 
- 

213,824,286,938 

 

- - 

SUB-TOTAL (1)    213,824,286,938 - - - 
Capital lease liabilities:     - - 
Real-estate leasing liabilities   
Equipment leasing liabilities   
Obligations under sales-type leases  
Obligations under capital leases  

 

- 
- 
- 
- 

   

SUB-TOTAL (2)        
Current liabilities:      
Trade payables     
Customers     
Employees     
Social security and social security bodies 
Government     
International organizations   
Associates and group    
Sundry creditors 

 

102,430,176,287 
5,851,987,024    

358,387,973      
 -     

 3,758,453,639      
 -      

124,752,884  
142,593,676   

   

SUB-TOTAL (3)  112,666,351,483 - - - 
TOTAL (1) + (2) + (3)  326,490,638,421 - - - 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES    
Given 

commitments 
Received 

commitments 

Commitments to related parties 
Unmatured redemption premiums 
Guarantees and endorsements 

     



 

Mortgages, pledges, other 
Unmatured discounted bills 
Assigned trade and professional receivables 
Waiver of receivables 
TOTAL  - - - 0 

Comment: 
NOTE 2: MANDATORY INFORMATION 

   
Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS Year ended: Decembre 31, 2024 
Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

 
A - STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE OHADA ACCOUNTING SYSTEM 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the OHADA accounting system 
and the Uniform Act on Accounting and Financial Reporting, in compliance with: 
- the going concern assumption 
- the principle of consistent accounting methods 

B - ACCOUNTING RULES AND METHODS 
“The main accounting policies applied are set out below: 
 
1. Foreign currency transactions: 
Transactions in foreign currencies other than the US dollar are recorded at the exchange rate 
prevailing on the transaction date. Exchange gains and losses arising from the settlement of these 
transactions or from the balance of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in the income statement. On the other hand, the translation of the 
balance of these assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date generates a translation 
adjustment asset or liability. The translation adjustment is recognized in the income statement in 
the form of an allocation to provisions. 
 
2. Tangible fixed assets 
a) Tangible fixed assets are initially recognized at historical cost. Each year, in accordance with 
Ordinance-Law no. 89/017 of February 18, 1989, as amended and supplemented on an interim 
basis by Ministerial Order no. 017/CAB/MIN/FIN/98 of April 13, 1998, fixed assets are revalued by 
applying the revaluation coefficients published annually by the Ministry of Finance. Increases in 
book value arising from revaluations are credited to the “Revaluation surplus” account under 
shareholders' equity. 
b) Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is calculated on the revalued amounts on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. 
  
3. Revenues 
Revenues are recognized in the accounts at the time of product sale.    
   

C - DEROGATION FROM ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND POLICIES 
Compliance with all accounting principles and conventions without any exceptions.  
 



 

D - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE BALANCE SHEET, INCOME STATEMENT 
AND CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

No additional information relating to the financial statements.  
   



 

 

NOTE 3A: GROSS FIXED ASSET 
   
Name of company: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS Year ended: Decembre 31, 2024 
Tax identification number: A2181055C Duration (in months): 12 

SITUATIONS AND MOVEMENTS 

A B C D=A+B+C 
Gross amount 
at beginning of 

year 

Acquisitions 
contributions 

creations 

Item-to-
item 

transfers 

Following 
revaluation 

during the year 

Disposals, 
spin-offs Out 

of service 

Item-to-item 
transfers 

Gross amount at 
year-end 

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 15,569,944,002 - - - - 15,569,944,002 - 
Development and prospecting costs 15,569,944,002 - - - - 15,569,944,002 - 
Patents, licenses, software and similar 
rights - - - - - - - 

Goodwill and leasehold rights  - - - - - - - 
Other intangible assets  - - - - - - - 
        
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 24,388,106,961 185,818,918,526 - 6,647,244,777 - - 216,854,270,264 
Land - - - - - - - 
Buildings 22,523,457,499 93,388,023,912 - 3,391,491,392 - - 119,302,972,803 
Fixtures and fittings - 382,257,361 - 1,570,734 - - 383,828,095 
Equipment  1,157,903,841 83,886,023,701 - 2,853,935,449 - - 87,897,861,991 
Transport equipment 706,746,621 8,162,613,903 - 400,247,202 - - 9,269,607,375 
        
ADVANCE PAYMENTS ON FIXED 
ASSETS - - - - - - - 

Non-current assets - - - - - - - 
Co-current assets - - - - - - - 
        
FINANCIAL ASSETS 238,511,128 872,314,971 - - - - 1,110,826,099 
Investments in associates - - - - - - - 

Other non-current financial assets 238,511,128 872,314,971 - - - - 1,110,826,099 
        

TOTAL GENERAL 40,196,562,091 186,691,233,497 - 6,647,244,777 - - 217,965,096,363 
Comment: 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 3C:  

FIXED ASSETS (DEPRECIATION) 

 
SITUATIONS AND 

 MOVEMENTS 
          HEADINGS 

 B C D D=A+B+C+D 
ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 
AT BEGINNING 

OF YEAR 

INCREASES: 
ALLOCATIONS 

FOR THE 
YEAR 

ADDITIONAL 
DEPRECIATION 

DECREASES: 
Depreciation 

of items 
written off 

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

AT YEAR-END 

Development and prospecting costs  -    - 
Patents, licenses, software and similar rights  - - -  - 
Goodwill and leasehold rights -    - 
Other intangible assets -    - 
SUB-TOTAL: FIXED ASSETS - -  - - 
      
Land excluding investment property - - - - - 
Buildings excluding investment property - 1,519,647,880 582,417 - 1,520,230,297 
Fittings, fixtures and installations   - 3,130,383 1,670 - 3,132,053 
Equipment, furniture and biological assets  60,787,628 2,305,195,785 43,144,421  2,409,127,834 
Transport equipment  79,049,880 592,768,800 32,147,342 8,407,443 695,558,579 
      
SUB-TOTAL: TANGIBLE ASSETS 139,837,508 4,420,742,848 75,875,850 8,407,443 4,628,048,763 
GENERAL TOTAL  139,837,508 4,420,742,848 75,875,850 8,407,443 4,628,048,763 

Total allocations for the year 4,438,829,230    
  -     18,086,382    

Comments:  



 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 3E:  

INFORMATION ON COMPANY REVALUATIONS 
 

Nature and date of revaluations: 
 
 
 

Revalued items by balance 
sheet item 

Amounts at historical cost Additional depreciation 

Software    - - 
Land    - - 
Buildings    115,911,481,411 - 
Fixtures and fittings   382,257,361 - 
Equipment  85,043,926,542 2,894,136 
Transport equipment  8,869,360,173 - 
   
   
   
   
   
Revaluation method used:  
Legal revaluation based on revaluation coefficients published by the Ministry of Finance. 
 
 
Tax treatment of revaluation surplus and additional depreciation: 
The revaluation of fixed assets must not have an impact on income, so additional depreciation is 
neutralized. 
 
 
Amount of goodwill capitalized: 
Zero 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 4: 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

WORDING 
Year ended 

2024 
Year ended 

2023 
Variation 

in % 
Amounts receivable 

within one year 
Amounts receivable 

within one to two years 

Amounts 
receivable in 

more than 
two years 

Equity investments - -     
Other loans and receivables - -     
Employee loans - -     
Government receivables - -     
Long-term securities - -     
Deposits and guarantees 1,110,826,099 238,511,128 366 %    
Accrued interest - -     
TOTAL GROSS 1,110,826,099 238,511,128 366 % - - - 
Impairment of investments - -     
Impairment of other fixed assets - -     
TOTAL NET OF DEPRECIATION 1,110,826,099 238,511,128 366 % - - - 

List of subsidiaries and affiliates 

Corporate name 
Acquisition 

value 
% held 

Subsidiary 
shareholders' equity 

Last year's net 
income of subsidiary 

     
     
 
Comments: 

    

Deposits and guarantees include the various rental guarantees provided by VARUN RDC for the apartments occupied by expatriate staff and the office. 
 



 

 
 
 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 6: 

INVENTORY AND OUTSTANDING 
 

WORDING 
Year ended 

2024 
Year ended 

2023 
Variation in 

% 
Goods - -  

Raw materials and related supplies 35,533,055,198 - 100% 

Other supplies 1,545,464,143 22,964,906 6630% 

Work in progress 239,458,644 - 100% 

Services in progress - -  

Guaranteed products 5,107,985,594 - 100% 

Intermediate products    

Inventory on consignment or on deposit 9,245,872,767 - 100% 

TOTAL GROSS INVENTORY AND 
OUTSTANDINGS 

51,671,836,346 22,964,906 224903% 

Depreciation of stocks   - -  

TOTAL NET OF DEPRECIATION 51,671,836,346 22,964,906 224903% 

(1) Non-operating inventories are included in non-operating current assets only when their total 
amount is significant (over 5% of total assets). 

 
Comments : 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2023 Duration (in months): 12 

 

NOTE 7: CUSTOMERS 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2024 
Variation in 

% 

Amounts 
receivable 
within one 

year 

Amounts 
receivable 

within one to 
two years 

Amounts 
receivable in 

more than 
two years 

Trade receivables (excluding Group 
reservation of title) 

3,228,987,928 - 100%    

Bills receivable (excl. Group reservation of 
title) 

- - 0%    

Unpaid trade receivables, checks, bills and 
other securities 

- - 0%    

Accounts and notes receivable with 
reservation of title 

- - 0%    

Group trade and notes receivable - - 0%    
Receivables on disposal of fixed assets - - 0%    
Discounted bills receivable not yet due - - 0%    
Doubtful and disputed receivables - - 0%    
Accrued income - - 0%    
TOTAL GROSS CUSTOMERS 3,228,987,928 - 100% - - - 
Depreciation of accounts receivable -      
TOTAL NET OF DEPRECIATION 3,228,987,928 - 100% - -  
Non-group customers, advances received 5,851,987,024  100%    
Group customers, advances received - - 0%    
Other trade accounts payable - - 0%    
TOTAL TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5,851,987,024 - 100% - - - 
Comments :        



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2023 Duration (in months): 12 

 

NOTE 8: OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2024 
Variation in 

% 

Amounts 
receivable 
within one 

year 

Amounts 
receivable 

within one to 
two years 

Amounts 
receivable in 

more than 
two years 

Staff 111,909,699 22,945,740 388%    
Social organizations - - 0%    
Governments and public authorities 451,952,532 11,086,331 3977%    
International organizations - -     
Contributors, associates and group - - 100%    
Transitional account Special adjustment 
related to SYSCOHADA revision 

- -     

Other sundry debtors 961,985,530 101,591,128 847%    
Non-blocked permanent accounts of 
establishments and branches 

- -     

Income and expenses liaison accounts - -     
Joint-venture liaison accounts - -     
TOTAL GROSS OTHER RECEIVABLES 1,525,847,761 135,623,199 1025% - - - 
Depreciation of other receivables - -     
TOTAL NET OF DEPRECIATION 1,525,847,761 135,623,199 1025% - -  
 
 
Comments :  
 
 
 

      



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 11: 

AVAILABILITY 
 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 Variation in % 

Local banks  1,297,280,757        4,500,121,124    -71% 
Other regional banks - - 0% 
Banks, time deposits - 7,852,404,965 -100% 
Other banks - - 0% 
Banks accrued interest - - 0% 
Postal checks - - 0% 
Other financial institutions - - 0% 
Financial institutions accrued interest - - 0% 
Cash instruments - - 0% 
Cash register 58,640,011 15,840,955 270% 
Electronic mobile cash   0% 
Imprest accounts and credit transfers   0% 
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLES  1,355,920,768     12,368,367,044    99% 
Depreciation                                     -                              -        
TOTAL NET OF DEPRECIATION  1,355,920,768     12,368,367,044    99% 
 
Comments: 
 



 

 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 12: CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS 

 
Translation adjustments – Assets: 
Breakdown by receivables and payables 

Currencies 
Currencies 

amount 
UML courses 

Acquisition year 
UML courses 

Dec 31 
Change in 

absolute value 
Staff USD   1.999,9746 - 
Loans  USD    - 
Suppliers  USD    - 
Other  USD     
     0 
     - 
Translation adjustments – Liabilities: 
Breakdown by receivables and payables 

     

Loans  USD    - 
Deposits and guarantees USD    - 
Personnel USD    - 
Investment suppliers USD    - 
Ordinary suppliers  USD    - 

Other USD     
      
     0 
Comments :      
 

 



 

EXPENSE TRANSFERS 
 

Wording 2024 2023 Variation in % 
 

Operating Expense Transfers: 
detail nature of transferred expenses 

  
  

     
     
     
     

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL CHARGES 
detail nature of transferred expenses 

  
  

     
     
     
     
Comments: 
 
 

  

  

 
 

 

 

 



 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 

NOTE 13: 
CAPITAL: NOMINAL VALUE OF SHARES 

 
  

Nominal value of shares ====> 20,000 

Full name Nationality 

Type of 
shares 

(ordinary or 
preference) 

Number 
Total 

amount 

Disposals 
or 

repayments 
during the 

year 
Varun Beverages Ldt Indian O 999 19,980,000  
Varun Beverages International 
DMCC 

Indian O 1 20,000  

      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
Contributors, uncalled capital      

TOTAL 1,000 20,000,000  
 
Comments: 
The Subscribed and paid-up capital represents the equivalent of USD 2,000. 

 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 14: PREMIUMS AND RESERVES 

 
 

Wording Year 2023 Year 2022 
Change in 

absolute value 
Additional paid-in capital - - - 
Share premium - - - 
Merger premium - - - 
Conversion premium - - - 
Other premiums - - - 
TOTAL PREMIUMS - - - 
Legal reserves - - - 
Statutory reserves - - - 
Net long-term capital gains reserve - - - 
Reserves for bonus share issues to 
employees and officers 

- - - 

Other regulated reserves  6,573,970,508     -        6,573,970,508    
TOTAL UNAVAILABLE RESERVES  6,573,970,508     -       6,573,970,508    
Unrestricted reserves  -       -                              -      
Retained earnings  124,301,586     62,595,312     61,706,274    
 
Comments: 

   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 15A: TOTAL GRANTS AND REGULATED PROVISIONS 

 

Wording Note Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation 

in % 
Tax 

regime 
Deadlines 

States  - -    
Regions  - -    
Départements  - -    
Communes and decentralized public authorities  - -    
Public or mixed entities  - -    
Private entities and organizations  - -    
International organizations  - -    
Other  - -    
TOTAL GRANTS  - -    
Excess tax depreciation  - -    
Capital gains to be reinvested  - -    

Special revaluation provision    6,573,970,508      1,089,395,504       

Regulated provisions for fixed assets                           -                                    -         

Regulated inventory provisions                           -                                    -         

Investment provisions                           -                                    -         

Other provisions and regulated funds                           -                                    -         

TOTAL REGULATED PROVISIONS   6,573,970,508      1,089,395,504       

TOTAL SUBSIDIES AND REGULATED PROVISIONS   6,573,970,508     1,089,395,504       

Comments 
 

 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2023 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 16A: 

FINANCIAL DEBTS AND SIMILAR RESOURCES 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation 

In % 

Amounts 
payable 

within 
one year 

Amounts 
payable 

after 
more than 
one year 

and 
within 

two years 

Amounts 
payable 
in more 

than two 
years 

Bond issues -      -          
Borrowings from credit institutions -      -          
Advances received from the French State -      -          
Advances received and blocked current accounts -      -          
Deposits and guarantees received 2,071,211,528    -          
Accrued interest 3,939,208,920    -          
Advances with special conditions -      -          
Other borrowings and debts 207,813,866,490    68,463,820,564        
Liabilities related to equity interests -      -          
“Blocked permanent accounts of establishments and branches" -      -          
TOTAL BORROWINGS AND FINANCIAL DEBTS 213,824,286,938 68,463,820,564 212% - - - 
Real estate leasing - -     
Equipment leases - -     
Hire and sale - -     
Accrued interest - -     
Other finance lease liabilities - -     



 

TOTAL FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES - - 0% - - - 
Provisions for litigation - - 0%   
Provisions for customer warranties - -   
Provisions for losses on contracts with future completion - -   
Provisions for foreign exchange losses - -   
Provisions for taxes - -   
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations - -   
Pension plan assets - -   
Provisions for restructuring - -   
Provisions for fines and penalties - - 0%  
Provisions for own insurers - -   
Provisions for dismantling and restoration - -   
Provisions for deduction rights - -   
Other provisions - - 0%  
TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 0 0 0% - 
 
Comments: 
Other borrowings include the debt contracted with Varun Beverages Ltd. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 17: OPERATING SUPPLIERS 

 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation 

In % 

Amounts 
payable 
within 

one year 

Amounts 
payable 

after 
more than 
one year 

and 
within two 

years 

Amounts 
payable in 
more than 
two years 

Trade accounts payable (non-group)  35,147,694,344    2,225,117,020    100%    
Bills payable (non-group)  8,830,574,458     -           
Group trade payables and notes payable  52,119,169,269     -      100%    
Non-group trade payables  6,332,738,216     300,836,267    100%    
Group trade payables  -       -           
TOTAL SUPPLIERS 102,430,176,287     2,525,953,287    100% - - - 
Trade payables, advances and down-payments (non-group) 105,744,677,917    36,816,852,286    100%    
Group suppliers, advances and down-payments  -       -           
Other accounts receivable  -       -           
TOTAL TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 105,744,677,917    36,816,852,286    100% - - - 
 
Comments: 

      

 
 
   



 

 
 
Company name: 

 
 
VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS 

Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 18: TAX AND SOCIAL SECURITY LIABILITIES 

 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation 

In % 

Amounts 
payable 
within 

one year 

Amounts 
payable 

after 
more 

than one 
year and 

within 
two years 

Amounts 
payable 
in more 

than two 
years 

Personnel advances and deposits  -       -          
Personnel remuneration due  358,387,973     56,989,474    100%    
Other personnel  -       -          
Social security fund  -       -      0%    
Pension funds  -       -          
Other social organizations  -       -      0%    
TOTAL SOCIAL SECURITY LIABILITIES  358,387,973     56,989,474    0% - - - 
Government income tax  -       -          
Government, duties and taxes (IRL)  842,615,497     -      100%    
Government, VAT  -       -          
Government withholding taxes (IPR)  2,755,740,511     418,743,028    100%    
Other debts to government (legal fees)  160,097,631     867,927    100%    
TOTAL TAX LIABILITIES  3,758,453,639    419,610,955    100% - - - 
TOTAL SOCIAL SECURITY AND TAX LIABILITIES  4,116,841,612    476,600,429    100% - - - 
Comments:       



 

 
 
 
 
Company name: 

 
 
 
VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS 

 

Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C BP: 
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 

NOTE 19: OTHER LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS FOR SHORT-TERM RISKS 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation 

In % 

Amounts 
payable 

within 
one year 

Amounts 
payable after 

more than one 
year and within 

two years 

Amounts 
payable in 
more than 
two years 

International organizations  -       -           
Contributors’ capital transactions  -       -           
Partners, current account  124,752,884     -      100%    
Partners dividends payable  -       -           
Group current accounts  -       -           
Other liabilities  -       -           
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' LIABILITIES  124,752,884     -      100% - - - 
Sundry creditors  12,065,148     7,215,481    67%    
Bondholders  -       -           
Directors' remuneration  -       -           
Factor account  -       835,380,537    -100%    
Payments outstanding on unpaid investment 
securities 

 130,528,528     99,146,974    32%    

Transitional account special adjustment related 
to SYSCOHADA revision 

 -       -        - - - 

Other sundry creditors  -       -        - - - 



 

TOTAL SUNDRY CREDITORS  142,593,676     941,742,992    -85%    
Non-blocked permanent accounts of 
establishments and branches 

 -       -           

Income and expenses liaison accounts  -       -           
Joint venture liaison accounts  -       -           
TOTAL LIAISON ACCOUNTS  -       -      0%     
TOTAL OTHER LIABILITIES  267,346,560     941,742,992    -72%    
Provisions for short-term risks (see note 28)  1,274,658,791     -      100%    
Comments:       
 
 
Provisions for short-term risks comprise the positive difference between the translation adjustment asset and the provisioned translation 
adjustment liability.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 20: BANKS, DISCOUNT AND CASH CREDIT 

 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation 

In % 
Campaign credit discounts - -  
Ordinary credit discounts - -  
TOTAL BANKS, DISCOUNT AND CASH CREDITS - -  
Local banks 2,928,114,424                                    -      100% 
Other regional banks                                      -                                      -        
Other banks                                      -                                      -        
Banks accrued interest                                      -                                      -        
Cash credit 38,796,907,990    15,999,448,067    100% 
TOTAL BANKS, CASH CREDIT 41,725,022,414    15,999,448,067    161% 
GENERAL TOTAL 41,725,022,414    15,999,448,067    161% 
 
Comments: 

   

   

Note: Banks and accrued interest are included under this heading if the main account is in credit. 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 

NOTE 21: SALES AND OTHER INCOME 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 Variation in % 

Sales in the region  104,893,172,589     -        
Sales outside region  -       -        
Group sales  -       -        
Internet sales  -       -        
Discounts and rebates (not broken down)  13,648,807,414     -        

TOTAL PRODUCTS SALES  104,893,172,589                                

-      
100% 

Regional sales  -       -        
Sales outside region  -       -        
Group sales  -       -        
Internet sales  -       -        
Discounts and rebates (not broken down)  -       -        
TOTAL SALES OF MANUFACTURED PRODUCTS  -       -      100% 
Regional sales  -       -        
Sales outside region  -       -        
Group sales  -       -        
Internet sales  -       -        
Discounts and rebates (not broken down)  -       -        
TOTAL SALES OF WORK AND SERVICES SOLD  -       -      100% 
Ancillary products  -       -        
TOTAL SALES  104,893,172,589     -      100% 



 

Capitalized production  -       -        
Operating subsidies  -       -      0% 
Other income  -       -      100% 
TOTAL OTHER INCOME  -       -      100% 
GENERAL TOTAL  104,893,172,589     -      100% 
 
Comments: 

   

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
Company name: 

 
VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS 

 

Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 

NOTE 22: PURCHASES 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 Variation in % 

Local purchasing  -       -        
Purchasing outside the region  -       -        
Group purchases  1,397,870,653     -      100% 
Discounts and rebates obtained (not broken down)  -       -        
TOTAL PURCHASES OF GOODS  1,397,870,653     -      100% 
Local purchases  1,332,636,656     -      100% 
Purchases outside region  -       -        
Group purchases  4,713,957,129     -      100% 
Discounts and rebates obtained (not broken down)  -       -        
TOTAL PURCHASES OF RAW MATERIALS AND RELATED SUPPLIES  6,046,593,785     -      100% 
Consumables  -       -        
Fuel materials  -       -        
Maintenance products  -       -        
Workshop, factory and warehouse supplies  -       -        
Water  256,075,569     -      100% 
Electricity  1,419,948,186     -      100% 
Other energy (fuel and lubricants)  -       -        
Maintenance supplies  -       -        
Office supplies  -       -        
Small equipment and tools  -       -        
Purchases of studies, services, works, materials and equipment  -       -        



 

Packaging purchases  -       -        
Purchase expenses  -       -        
Discounts, rebates and refunds  -       -        
TOTAL OTHER PURCHASES  1,676,023,755     -      100% 
 
Comments: 
 
 
 

  

 



 

 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 23: 

TRANSPORTS 
 
 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 Variation in % 

Sales transportation  -       -        
Transport on behalf of third parties  -       -        
Staff transport  202,265,774     -      100% 
Mail transport  -       -        
Other transport  675,013,673     -      100% 
TOTAL  - 614,403,680 100% 

 
Comments: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
 
 

NOTE 24: 
EXTERNAL SERVICES 

 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation  

In % 
General subcontracting  -       -        
Rent and rental charges 3,529,509,285     -      100% 
Acquisition rental fees  -       -        
Upkeep, repairs and maintenance  437,010,146     -      100% 
Insurance premiums  410,020,670     -      100% 
Studies, research and documentation  -       -        
Advertising, publications, public relations  624,289,865     -      100% 
Telecommunications expenses  330,253,113     -      100% 
Bank charges  910,392,913     -      100% 
Remuneration of intermediaries and consultants  372,538,877     -      100% 
Staff training costs  -       -      100% 
Royalties for patents, licenses, software, 
concessions and similar rights  -       -        

Membership fees  -       -        
Other external expenses  63,554,917     -        
TOTAL  6,677,569,786     -      100% 

 
Comments: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2023 Duration (in months): 12 

 
 

NOTE 26: 
OTHER EXPENSES 

 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation  

In % 
Losses on trade receivables - -   
Losses on other receivables - -  
Share of profit of joint ventures - -  
Book value of current disposals of fixed assets - -  
Directors' fees and other remuneration - -  
Donations and sponsorship - -  
Other miscellaneous expenses - -  
Exchange losses on trade receivables and payables - -  
Penalties and tax fines - -  
Charges for provisions and provisions for short-term operating 
contingencies (see note 28) 

1,274,658,791 - 100% 

TOTAL 1,274,658,791 - 100% 
 
Comments: 

   

 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
 

NOTE 27A: 
STAFF EXPENSES 

 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 Variation in % 

Direct employee compensation  6,567,930,745     -      100% 
Lump-sum employee benefits  1,177,473,665     -      100% 
Social security charges  -       -        
Remuneration and social charges for sole proprietors  -       -        
Remuneration transferred from external personnel  -       -       
Other payroll taxes  67,061,353     -      100% 
TOTAL  7,812,465,763     -      100% 
 
Comments: 

   

 

 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 
 

NOTE 27B: 
HEADCOUNT, PAYROLL AND EXTERNAL STAFF 

 
 

HEADCOUNT AND 
 PAYROLL 

 
QUALIFICATIONS 

HEADCOUNT PAYROLL 

 NATIONALS 

OTHER 
STATES IN 

THE 
REGION 

OUTSIDE 
THE 

REGION 
TOTAL NATIONALS 

OTHER OHADA 
STATES 

OUTSIDE THE OHADA TOTAL 

 M F M F M F  M F M F M F  

 a. Own staff 
 

 

YA 
1.SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT 

    40  
40 

    334,009,714  334,009,714 

YB 
2.SENIOR TECHNICIANS 
AND MIDDLE 
MANAGERS 

    30  30     159,038,697  159,038,697 

YC 
3.TECHNICIANS, 
SUPERVISORS AND 
SKILLED WORKERS 

      
 

      0 



 

YD 
4.EMPLOYEES, 
LABORERS AND 
APPRENTICES 

    3  3     14,794,297  14,794,297 

YE TOTAL (1) 0 0 0 0 73 0 73 0 0  0 507,842,708 0 507,842,708 
YF PERMANENT 0      0       0 
YG SEASONAL 0 0 0 0 73 0 73 0 0  0 507,842,708 0 507,842,708 

          0      0 

 b. External staff       
COMPANY 
INVOICING 

    

YH 
1.SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT 

      0        

YI 
2. SENIOR 
TECHNICIANS AND 
MIDDLE MANAGEMENT 

      0 0    M: MALE 

YJ 
3. TECHNICIANS, 
SUPERVISORS AND 
SKILLED WORKERS 

      0     F: FEMALE 

YK 
4. EMPLOYEES, 
LABORERS AND 
APPRENTICES 

      0 6,567,930,745       

YL TOTAL (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0      
YM PERMANENT       0        

 SEASONAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,567,930,745 0      
 TOTAL (1) + (2) 0 0 0 0 73 0 73 0 0      

 
 
Comments: 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 
 

NOTE 28: PROVISIONS AND DEPRECIATIONS RECORDED IN THE BALANCE SHEET 
SITUATION AND 

MOVEMENT 
NATURE 

A B C D = A + B ‐ C 

PROVISIONS 
AT BEGINNING 

OF YEAR 

INCREASES: ALLOCATIONS DECREASES: REVERSALS 
PROVISIONS 

AT YEAR-END 

OPERATIONNAL FINANCIAL 
NON-ORDINARY 

OPERATION 
OPERATIONNAL FINANCIAL 

NON-ORDINARY 
OPERATION 

 

1. Regulated provisions  1,089,395,504      5,487,469,140       2,894,136   6,573,970,508    

2. Financial provisions for liabilities and charges,  -                           -                           -                             -                         -         -      

3. Impairment of fixed assets  -                           -                           -                             -                         -         -      

TOTAL : DOTATIONS  -                   6,573,970,508    

                  

4. Inventory write-downs  -                           -                               -           -      

5. Impairment of current assets HAO  -                   -      

6. Impairment of trade payables  -                   -      

7. Impairment of trade receivables  -                           -                               -           -      

8. Impairment of other receivables  -                   -      

9. Impairment of marketable securities  -                             -                              -         -      

10. Impairment of receivables  -                   -      

11. Impairment of cash and cash equivalents  -                             -                              -         -      

12. Depreciation and provisions for short-term 
operating risks 

 -       1,274,658,791                             -           1,274,658,791    

13. Depreciation and provisions for short-term 
financial risks 

 -                             -                              -         -      



 

TOTAL: CHARGES FOR SHORT-TERM 
DEPRECIATION AND PROVISIONS 

                          -                 1,274,658,791  

TOTAL PROVISIONS AND DEPRECIATIONS  -                 7,848,629,299    

 
Comments : 

        

 
 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 29: 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 
Variation  

in % 
Interest on loans  -      244,397,980 -100% 
Interest on lease payments  -      -  
Discounts granted  -      42,379,577 -100% 
Other interest  4,582,492,094    -  
Discount on bills of exchange  -      -  
Foreign exchange losses  15,762,473,074    -  
Losses on disposals of marketable securities  -      -  
Losses on bonus share issues to employees 
and management 

 -      -  

Losses on financial risks  -      -  
Impairment charges and short-term financial 
provisions (see note 28) 

 -      -  

SUB-TOTAL: FINANCIAL EXPENSES  20,344,965,168    286,777,557 -100% 

Interest on loans and other receivables 548,344,760    - -100% 
Income from investments -      -  
Discounts received -      -  
Investment income -      -  
Foreign exchange gains 16,260,733,027    -  
Gains on disposals of marketable securities -      -  
Gains on financial risks -      -  
Reversals of impairment charges and short-
term financial provisions (see note 28) 

-      -  

SUB-TOTAL: FINANCIAL INCOME  16,809,077,787    - 100% 

TOTAL -3,535,887,381    -286,777,557 -113% 
 
Comments: 

   

Interest on borrowings includes interest charged on the Varun Beverages Ltd. loan. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 30: OTHER NON-ORDINARY OPERATION INCOME AND EXPENSES 

 

WORDING Year 2024 
Year 
2023 

Variation  
in % 

Recognized non-recurring operating expenses (1) to be 
detailed 

 -      
 -   

 

(1).................................  -       -    
(1).................................  -    -    
Restructuring costs  -    -    
Losses on non-ordinary operation receivables  -    -    
Donations and gifts granted  -    -    

Debt forgiveness  -    -    

Expenses related to liquidation operations  -    -    

Provisions for non-ordinary operations  -    -    

Non-ordinary activities allocations  -       -    

Employee profit-sharing  -       -    
Balancing subsidies  -      -  
SUB-TOTAL: OTHER NON-ORDINARY OPERATION EXPENSES  -      -  
Recognized non-recurring operation income (1) to be detailed  -      -  
(1).................................  -      -  
(1).................................  -      -  
Income from restructuring operations  -      -  
Non-recurring operation indemnities and subsidies  -      -  
Donations and gifts received  -      -  

Debt waivers obtained  -      -  

Income from liquidation operations  -      -  

Non-ordinary operation transfers expense   -      -  

Reversals of charges for short-term depreciation and non-
ordinary operation provisions  

 -      -  

Reversals outside ordinary activities 2,894,136    2,162,444    34% 

Employee profit-sharing -      -        
SUB-TOTAL: OTHER NON-ORDINARY OPERATION INCOME  2,894,136    2,162,444    34% 

TOTAL  2,894,136     2,162,444    34% 
 
Comments: 

   



 

Interest on borrowings includes interest charged on the Varun Beverages Ltd. loan. 



 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
 

NOTE 31: 
BREAKDOWN OF NET INCOME AND OTHER KEY FIGURES FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS 

 
YEARS INVOLVED (1) 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AT YEAR-END (2)      
 Share capital ____________________________________________________________ 
         Ordinary shares ______________________________________________________ 
         Non-voting preferred dividend shares (A.D.P.) ___________________________ 
         New shares to be issued ______________________________________________ 
                    by conversion of bonds __________________________________________ 
                    by exercise of subscription rights _________________________________ 
 
  OPERATIONS AND RESULTS FOR THE YEAR (3) 
         Sales excluding VAT __________________________________________________ 
         Results from ordinary activities (ROA) excluding allocations and reversals 
         (operating and financial) ______________________________________________ 
         Employee profit-sharing ______________________________________________ 
         Income tax __________________________________________________________ 
         Net income (4) ______________________________________________________ 
  
 DISTRIBUTED INCOME AND DIVIDENDS 
         Distributed income (5) ________________________________________________ 
         Dividend per share ___________________________________________________ 
 

 
20,000,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

91,244,365,175 
 

6,607,050,896 
- 
- 

2,171,115,802 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
20,000,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 
 

38,167,480 
- 
- 

-61,706,274 
 
 
 
 
 

   



 

  PERSONNEL AND WAGE POLICY 
         Average number of employees during the year (6) ________________________ 
         Average number of outside employees _________________________________ 
         Payroll distributed during the year (7) ___________________________________ 
         Social benefits paid during the year (8) (Social security, social works) _____ 
         Outside personnel billed to the company (9) ____________________________ 
 

 
 

- 
7,745,404,410 

67,061,353 
- 

 
 
 

- 
- 
- 

 
(1) Including the year for which the financial statements are submitted to the General Meeting for approval. 
(2) Indication of uncalled capital in the event of partial payment of capital. 
(3) The items under this heading are those shown in the income statement. 
(4) Negative income should be shown in brackets. 
(5) Fiscal year N corresponds to the proposed dividend for the last fiscal year. 
(6) Own staff. 
(7) Total of accounts 661, 662, 663. 
(8) Total of accounts 664, 668. 
(9) Account 667. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 32: PRODUCTION FOR THE YEAR 

 

PRODUCT 
DESIGNATION 

SELECTED 
UNIT OF 

QUANTITY 

PRODUCTION SOLD IN THE 
COUNTRY 

PRODUCTION 
SOLD IN OTHER 

OHADA 
COUNTRIES 

PRODUCTION 
SOLD OUTSIDE 

OHADA 

CAPITALIZED 
PRODUCTION 

OPENING 
STOCK 

STOCK AT YEAR-END 

Quantity Value Qty Value Qty Value Qty Value Qty Value Qty Value 

Pepsi  5,723,242 49,638,237,318                 268,223     1,094,600,533    

Mirinda  5,302,826 46,175,885,620                 446,318     2,134,131,850    

7UP  544,603 4,630,582,932                   37,484        176,743,112    

Sting  143,908 2,485,725,611                   28,026        201,483,959    

Mountain Dew  153,963 1,317,025,437                   16,788          88,081,243    

Aquafina  106,894 641,364,000                 164,939        443,398,916    

                             

                          

TOTAL     104,888,820,918                    4,138,439,614    

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 33: PURCHASES INTENDED FOR PRODUCTION 

 

DESIGNATION OF MATERIALS 
AND PRODUCTS 

SELECTED 
UNIT OF 

QUANTITY 

PURCHASES MADE DURING THE YEAR 

CHANGE IN 
INVENTORIES LOCAL PRODUCTS 

IMPORTED PRODUCTS 

PURCHASED LOCALLY PURCHASED ABROAD 

Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value (in value) 

Preform Nombre         226,779,840    29,861,889,100      

Concentrate UNIT         31,119    20,896,453,516      

Sugar KG         4,941    15,935,856,442      

Closure Nombre         234,360,000    5,107,440,701      

Shrink Film KG         616,330    3,329,380,073      

Label KG         137,450    2,282,634,200      

Stretch Film KG         114,028    563,319,810      

Corrugated Separators-3 Ply-Sheet Nombre         10,880    32,788,693      

Glue KG         990    28,391,440      

                  

                  

                  

NOT BROKEN DOWN                 

TOTAL              78,038,153,975      

 
 



 

Company name: VARUN BEVERAGES RDC SAS  
Common acronym: VBL RDC  
Address: RAFI Concession Kinshasa/Gombe  
Tax identification number: A2181055C  
Financial year ended: 31-12-2024 Duration (in months): 12 

 
NOTE 34: 

SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
 

WORDING Year 2024 Year 2023 Variation in % 
BUSINESS ANALYSIS 

INTERIM MANAGEMENT BALANCES    
TURNOVER  91,244,365,175     -      100% 
SALES MARGIN  89,846,494,522     -        
ADDED VALUE  17,955,404,040     -      100% 
GROSS OPERATING SURPLUS (GOS)  10,142,938,277     -      100% 
OPERATING INCOME  5,704,109,047    -102,036,198    100% 
FINANCIAL RESULT -3,532,993,245     40,329,924    100% 
INCOME FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  2,171,115,802    -61,706,274    100% 
INCOME FROM NON-ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  -       -        
NET INCOME  2,171,115,802    -61,706,274    100% 
DETERMINATION OF CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS    
GOS  10,142,938,277    -      

 + Book value of current asset disposals (account 654)  -       -      
- Income from current disposals of fixed assets (account 754)  -       -      
= CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 10,142,938,277    - 100% 

+ Financial income 
+ Foreign exchange gains 
+ Financial expense transfers 
+ Income from ordinary activities 
+ Ordinary activities expense transfers 
- Financial expenses 
- Exchange losses 
- Profit-sharing 
- Income tax expense 

 548,344,760     38,167,480    

 

 16,260,733,027     -      
 -       -      
 -       -      
 -       -      

 4,582,492,094     -      
 15,762,473,074     -      

 -       -      
 -       -      

= TOTAL CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS  -3,535,887,381     38,167,480    100% 
- Dividend distributions during the year  -       -       
= SELF-FINANCING -3,535,887,381     38,167,480    100% 

PROFITABILITY ANALYSIS 
Economic profitability = Operating income (a) / 
Shareholders' equity + financial debt 

3%   

Financial profitability = Net income / Shareholders' equity 25%   
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STRUCTURE 

Shareholders' equity and similar resources  8,648,657,485     992,966,679    100% 
+ Financial debts* and other similar resources (b)  213,824,286,938     68,463,820,564    212% 
= Stable resources  222,472,944,423     69,456,787,243    100% 
- Fixed assets (b)  213,337,047,600     40,056,724,583    100% 
= WORKING CAPITAL (1)  9,135,896,823     29,400,062,660    100% 
Current operating assets (b)  165,591,303,033     36,975,440,391    100% 
- Current operating liabilities (b)  116,086,304,564     3,944,296,708    100% 
= OPERATING WORKING CAPITAL REQUIREMENT (2)  49,504,998,469     33,031,143,683    100% 
Current assets (non-ordinary activities) (b) - -  



 

- current liabilities from non-ordinary activities (b) - -  
= NON-ORDINARY ACTIVITIES FINANCING 
REQUIREMENT (3) 

- -  

TOTAL FINANCING REQUIREMENT (4) = (2) + (3)  49,504,998,469     33,031,143,683    100% 
NET CASH (5) = (1) - (4) -40,369,101,646    -3,631,081,023    100% 
CONTROL: NET CASH = (CASH-ASSETS) - (CASH-
LIABILITIES) 

-40,369,101,646    -3,631,081,023    100% 

CASHFLOW ANALYSIS 
Cash flow from operating activities -4,011,922,730    -32,979,207,743    100% 
- Cash flow from investing activities -186,691,233,497    -34,720,376,704    100% 
+ Cash flow from financing activities  153,965,135,604     63,172,812,564    100% 
= NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD -36,738,020,623    -4,526,771,883    130% 
ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL DEBT 
Gross financial debt (Financial debts* + Cash-liabilities)  255,549,309,352     84,463,268,631    100% 
- Cash-asset  1,355,920,768     12,368,367,044    100% 
= NET FINANCIAL DEBT  254,193,388,584     72,094,901,587    100% 

 
(a) Operating income after theoretical income tax 
(b) Translation adjustments must be eliminated in order to bring the receivables and payables concerned back to their 
original value. 
Financial liabilities * = borrowings and other financial liabilities + leasing liabilities 
 
Comments: 

 

 
 
 
 









VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

The management is pleased to present their report together audited financial statements of i:he 

Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

Performance 

For the yc;ir, the Company has generated a revenue of AED 349.39 million as compared to the 

previous year revenue of AED 140.04 million. The net income for the year is AED 11.69 million as 

compared to the previous year net income of AED 13.26 million. 

Principal activities 

1 he principal activities of the Company as per license are "General trading, Management 

Consultancies and Air Charters for Passengers & Cargo". 

Events subsequent to the balance sheet date 

There were no major events, which occurred since the year end that materially affect the 

financial position of the Company. 

Auditors 

rhc Comp;::iny's ;:;uditors, TRC PAMCO Middle East Auditing & Accounting L.L.C, now retire ,ind 

bt'inp, eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. 

For Varun Beverages International DMCC 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 

Director 

Dubai 

March 19, 2025 
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VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Statement of financial position as on December 31, 2024 

(Figures in AED) 

As on As on 
Notes 

Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

TOTAL ASSETS 

Non current assets 

Property, plant and equipment (net) 3 

Investment in shares 4 

Capital advances and deposits s 

Current assets 

Inventory 6 

T1·<1de and other receivables 7 

Advances and prepayments 8 

Frxed deposits 9 

Foreign tax credit 10 

C;:ish and cash equivalents 11 

TOT AL ASSETS 

FUNDS EMPLOYED 

Equity 

Share Capital 

Retained e;irnings 

ESOP Reserve 

Non current liabilities 

Unsecured loan 12 

Employee terminal benefits 

Current liabilities 

Short term borrowings 13 

Tri:Jde and other payables 14 

Accruals 15 

Corporate tax provision 16 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

For Varun Beverages International DMCC 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 

Director 

Dubai 

March 19, 2025 
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157,042,893 92,719,425 

845 37 

4,000 1,867,880 

157,047,738 94,587,342 

26,714,990 4,773,167 

130,187,793 23,290,526 

17,260,856 19,606,426 

1,100,000 1,100,000 

1,354,811 

5,035,996 10,305,494 

181,654,445 59,075,613 

338,702,183 153,662,955 

1,000,000 1,000,000 

38,012,076 26,325,593 

256,198 108,229 

39,268,274 27,433,822 

164,895,251 88,874,361 

320,110 206,996 
165,215,362 89,081,357 

55,483,730 19,110,468 

45,546,143 9,772,287 

31,833,863 8,265,021 

1,354,811 

134,218,547 37,147,776 

338,702,183 153,662,955 



VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024 

Notes 
Year ended 

Dec 31, 2024 

REVENUE 

Revenue from operations 17 349,389,490 

Less: Operating cost 18 (231,530,315) 

GROSS INCOME (A) 117,859,174 

EXPENDITURE (B) 

Administrative and general expenses 19 61,717,230 

Depreciation 16,691,615 

Director Remuneration 28 10,536,103 

88,944,948 

Operational income for the year (A-8) 28,914,226 

Finance cost 20 (14,969,485) 

Other income 21 38,611 

Exchange gain/(loss) (942,059) 

Net income for the year before tax 13,041,294 

Tax expenses 22 (1,354,811) 

Net income for the year 11,686,483 

Other comprehensive income for the year 

Net comprehensive income for the year 11,686,483 

Annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

For Varun Beverages International DMCC 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 

Director 

Dubai 

March 19, 2025 
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(Figures in AED) 

Year ended 

Dec 31, 2023 

140,035,208 

{90,416,962) 

49,618,246 

27,530,395 

3,293,516 

7,556,481 

38,380,392 

11,237,854 

(8,882,332) 

11,052,113 

(145,741) 

13,261,894 

13,261,894 

13,261,894 



VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Statement of cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2024 

I. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net comprehensive income for the year
Depreciation
ESOP given to employees
Corporate tax expense
Employee terminal benefits expense (net)
Operating cash flow before working capital changes

Changes in working capitol:

Decrease/(lncrease) in inventory
Dcc1casc/(lncreasc) in trade and other receivables
Dccrcasc/(lncrease) in adv,mces and pr·epayments
Decrcasc/(lncrease) in foreign tax credit
(Decrease)/lncrease in trade and other payables
(Dccrease)/lncrease in accruals
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (A)

II. INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purch;ise of Property, pl,int and equipment
Advances made to purchase of Aircraft
Long term deposit withdrawn
Investment in shares
Investment in Fixed deposit
Net Cash (used in) investing activities (B)

Ill FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from short term borrowings 
Net Unsecured loan received 
Net Cash generated from financing activities ( C) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash in hand 
Cash at bank 
Fund in transit 
Cash and cash equivalents as per cash flow statement 

/\nnexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

For Va run Beverages International DMCC 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 

� Director 
Dubai 

March 19, 202S 
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(Figures in AED) 

Year ended Year ended 
Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

11,686,483 13,261,894 
16,691,GlS 3,293,516 

147,969 108,229 
1,354,811 

113,114 151,808 
29,993,992 16,815,447 

(21,941,823) (l,624,633j 
(106,897,267) (7,146,515) 

2,345,571 (18,591,046) 
(1,354,811) 

35,773,856 1,159,035 
23,568,842 7,210,597 

(38,511,639) (2,177,115) 

(79,178,834) (8,841,804) 
(1,836,250) 

27,630 

{808) (37) 
(1,100,000) 

(79,152,012) (11,778,091) 

36,373,262 19,110,468 
76,020,891 3,673,701 

112,394,153 22,784,169 

(5,269,498) 8,828,963 
10,305,494 1,476,531 

5,035,996 10,305,494 

29,441 61,355 
4,399,564 5,653,514 

606,991 4,590,625 
5,035,996 10,305,494 



VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2024 

{Figures in AED) 

Share Retained ESOP 
Total 

Capital earnings Reserve* 

/\s at 01 January 2023 1,000,000 13,063,699 14,063,699 

Net Comprehensive Income for the 
13,261,894 13,261,894 

year 

l·SOP given to employees 108,229 108,229 

/Is at 31 December 2023 1,000,000 26,325,593 108,229 27,433,822 

Nr.t Comprehensive Income for the 
11,686,483 11,686,483 

yea1· 

lSOP given to employees 147,969 147,969 

As on December 31, 2024 1,000,000 38,012,076 256,198 39,268,274 

*ESOf' reserve reflect the amount of shares to be issued to employees of the company by the

Parent company os per IFRS 2.

Annexed notes form an integral port of these financial statements. 

For Varun Beverages International DMCC 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 

Director 

Dubai 

March 19, 2025 
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VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

These financial statements have been prepared for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

1. LEGAL STATUS, ACTIVITIES AND MANAGEMENT

1.1 Legal status

Varun Beverages International DMCC ("the Company") was incorporated on January 19, 

2022 and registered as a Limited Liability Company with Dubai Multi Commodities 

Centre Authority (DMCCA), Government of Dubai, UAE vide License No. DMCC-834926 

and DMCC-834927. 

The registered office of the Company is located in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. 

As per the Memorandum of Association and its amendment: the issued, subscribed and 

paid up capital of the Company as on December 31, 2024 is AED 1,000,000 (United Arab 

Emirates Dirham One Million only) divided into 1,000 shares of AED 1,000 each. The 

shareholders as at December 31, 2024 and their share holding in the Company as at the 

date were as follows: 

Company name Country of No. of %of Value (AED) 

incorporation Share holding 

M/s. Varun Beverages Limited, India India 1,000 100% 1,000,000 

Total 1,000 100% 1,000,000 

1.2 Activities 

The principal activities of the Company as per license are "General trading, Management 

Consultancies and Air Charters for Passengers & Cargo". 

1.3 Management 

The day to day activities is fully controlled and managed by Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma, 

Indian national bearing passport no. Z6409853 and Manager of the Company as per 

trade license. 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on standalone basis in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) promulgated by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations 

Committee (IFRS IC). 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. 

10 



VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

2.2 Adoption of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRS) 

(a) New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the financial statements

The following new and revised IFRSs have been adopted in this financial statements. The

application of these new and revised IFRSs has not had any material impact on the

amounts reported for the current period but may affect the accounting for future

transactions or arrangements.

IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 (further amended in 2020 & 2021) as replacement for

I FRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

Disclosure of Accounting policies - The IASB amended IAS 1 Presentation of Financial

II Statements to require entities to disclose their material rather than their significant

accounting policies. 

Amendment to definition of Accounting Estimates - The amendment to IAS 8 Accounting 

111 Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors clarifies how companies should

distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a single Transaction -
IV 

Amendments to IAS 12. 

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

II 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1 with effect

from January 01, 2024. Amendments made to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

in 2020 and 2022 clarified that liabilities are classified as either current or noncurrent,

depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period.

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback - Amendments to IFRS 1 with effect from January

01, 2024.

Supplier finance arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 with effect from
Ill 

January 01, 2024.

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture -
IV Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments 

will be adopted in the Company's financial statements as and when they are applicable 

and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and amendments is not expected 

to have any material impact on the financial statements of the company in the year of 

their initial application. 

2.3 Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that may affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenues, 

expenses and the provisions and fair values. Such estimates are necessarily based on 

assumptions about several factors and actual results may differ from reported amounts. 
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VARUN BEVERAGES INTERNATIONAL DMCC 

Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the Year in which the estimate is revised and in 

any future Years affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty, and critical 

judgements in applying accounting policies (that have the most significant effect on the 

amount recognized in the financial statements) are discussed in Notes. 

2.4 Revenue recognition 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers outlines a single comprehensive model 

of accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. It establishes a five­

·step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS

15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity

expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The Company recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step

model as set out below:

Step 1 Identify the contract with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement

between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets

out the criteria for each of those rights and obligations.

Step 2 Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation in

a contract is a promise to transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: Transaction price is the amount of consideration

to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised

goods and services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For

a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Company will allocate

the transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the

consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying

each performance obligation.

Step 5 Recognise revenue as and when the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company recognises revenue over time if any one of the following criteria is met:

• The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the

Company's performance as the Company performs; or

• The Company's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls

as the asset is created or enhanced; or

• The Company's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the

Company and the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance

obligations completed to date.
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Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

For performance obligations where none of the above conditions are met, revenue is 

recognised at the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied. 

When the Company satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods 

or services it creates a contract-based asset on the amount of consideration earned by 

the performance. Where the amount of consideration received from a customer exceeds 

the amount of revenue recognised this gives rise to a contract liability - advances from 

customers. 

Revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. Amounts 

disclosed as revenue are net of variable consideration and payments to customers, 

which are not for distinct services, which may include discounts, trade allowances, 

rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it is 

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue and 

costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably. 

2.5 Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, if any. 

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 

events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated 

recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the 

higher of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use. 

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property and equipment that 

is accounted for separately is capitalized and the carrying amount of the component that 

is replaced is written off. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it 

increases future economic benefits of the related item of property and equipment. All 

other expenditure is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as the 

expense is incurred. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 

of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying 

amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year 

the·asset is derecognized. 

The asset's residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at 

each financial year end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
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Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 

assets. 

Assets Useful life of assets 

Aircraft 20 years 

Buildings 30 years 

Furniture and fixtures 5 years 

Vehicles 5 years 

Office equipment 5 years 

Computer equipment 5 years 

2.6 Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less a provIsIon for any 

uncollectible amounts. Expected credit loss is estimated using Simplified approach as per 

IFRS 9. Bad debts are written off when there is no possibility of recovery. 

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 

cash in hand and bank balances. 

2.8 Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, cost being determined 

at First in First out (FIFO) method and represents the invoice value of goods purchased 

plus direct expenses incurred in bringing the inventories to their present state and 

location. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale and 

provision for slow moving and obsolete items, if any. 

2.9 Accounts payable and accruals 

Liabilities are recognized for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services 

received. In case the invoices are not available, the same is included in the accruals. 

2.10 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects 

some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a 

separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 

relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of 

any reimbursement. 
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Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

2.11 Employees' end of service benefits 

An accrual is made for employee's entitlements to annual leave and leave passage as a 

result of service rendered by the employees up to the reporting date. 

The accrual relating to annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability 

and included in other payables, while that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed 

as a non-current liability in the statement of financial position. 

The Company provides end of service benefits (Gratuity and Leave Encashment) to its 

employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees' final salary 

and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The 

expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 

The Company provides end of service benefits to its expatriate employees. The 

entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees' final salary and length of 

service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of 

these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 

2.12 Leases 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of 

the asset are classified as operating leases. In the book of lease operating lease 

payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term. Where significant risk and reward transferred to 

the lease the assets is recognized as finance lease in the books of the lease. 

2.13 Foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at the currency 

spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 

functional currency spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. All differences arising on 

settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to the statement of 

comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 

2.14 Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 

value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability takes place either: 

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or

liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.
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The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 

participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 

participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 

participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 

best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 

highest and best use. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 

for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of 

relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 

statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 

on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities 

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring 

basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 

hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting Year. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. 

2.15 Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and 

a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
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Significant accounting policies to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 

a) Financial assets

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, are classified as at amortised cost,

fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or

loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial

asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company's business model for

managing them. The Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, for

an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly

attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A 'debt instrument' is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions

are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for

collecting contractual cash flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 

into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 

integral part of the EIR. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 

Statement of comprehensive income. 

Debt instrument at FVTOCI 

A 'debt instrument' is classified as at the FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash

flows and selling the financial assets, and

b) The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as 

at each reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other 

comprehensive income (OCI). However, the Company recognizes interest income, 

impairment losses and reversals and foreign exchange gain or loss in the statement of 

profit or loss. On derecognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to statement of profit or loss. Interest 

earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt instrument is reported as interest income using the 

EIR method. 
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Debt instrument at FVTPL 

FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not 

meet the criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at 

FVTPL. 

In addition, the Company may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise 

meets amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed 

only if doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency 

(referred to as 'accounting mismatch'). 

Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 

changes recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of 

similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Company's 

consolidated balance sheet) when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

-The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has

assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a

third party under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either

(a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or

(b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and

rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 

entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has 

retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of 

the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the 

Company's continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an 

associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 

basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 

measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 

amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 
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Impairment of financial assets 

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for 

measurement and recognition of 

impairment loss on the following financial assets and credit risk exposure: 

a) Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g.,

loans, debt securities, deposits, trade receivables and bank balance

b) Financial assets that are debt instruments and are measured as at FVTOCI

c) Lease receivables under IFRS 16

d) Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset

that result from transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 15 (referred to as

contractual revenue receivables' in these financial statements)

The Company follows 'simplified approach' for recognition of impairment loss allowance 

on: 

-Trade receivables or contract assets; and

-All lease receivables resulting from transactions within the scope of IFRS 16

The Company recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 

reporting date, right from its initial recognition. For recognition of impairment loss on 

other financial assets and risk exposure, the Company determines that whether there 

has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. If credit risk has 

not increased significantly, 12-month ECL is used to provide for impairment loss. 

However, if credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. If, in a subsequent 

Year, credit quality of the instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the entity reverts to recognising 

impairment loss allowance based on 12-month ECL. 

Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over 

the expected life of a financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime 

ECL which results from default events that are possible within 12 months after the 

reporting date. 

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in 

accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive 

(i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted at the original EIR. When estimating the cash flows, 

an entity is required to consider. 

-All contractual terms of the financial instrument (including prepayment, extension, call

and similar options) over the expected life of the financial instrument. However, in rare

cases when the expected life of the financial instrument cannot be estimated reliably,

then the entity is required to use the remaining contractual term of the financial

instrument.
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- Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms

- Financial assets measured as at amortised cost, contractual revenue receivables and

lease receivables: ECL is presented as an allowance, i.e., as an integral part of the

measurement of those assets in the balance sheet. The allowance reduces the net

carrying amount. Until the asset meets write-off criteria, the company does not reduce

impairment allowance from the gross carrying amount.

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an 

asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an 

asset is required, the Company estimates the asset's recoverable amount. 

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) 

fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined 

for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those from other assets or Company's of assets. When the carrying 

amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 

impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of 

disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can 

be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 

corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies 

or other available fair value indicators. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an 

indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have 

decreased. If such indication exists, the Company estimates the asset's or CGU's 

recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there 

has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount 

since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying 

amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 

in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and

borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company's financial liabilities include trade and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for

trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through

profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for

the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.

- Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income.

De recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 

or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 

the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 

substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition 

of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

2.16 Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 

standalone balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 

recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

2.17 Share capital 

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognized as share capital in equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted 

against share capital. 

2.18 Value Added Tax 

Value Added Tax {VAT) asset/ liability is recognized in the books on the basis of 

regulations defined by Tax Authorities. 
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Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of value added tax, except: 

• When the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not

recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case, the value added tax is recognized

as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as

applicable;

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation

authority is included as part of other receivables or other payables in the financial

2.19 UAE Corporation Tax law and application of IAS 12 Income Taxes 

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released the Federal Decree-Law No. 

47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (the Law) to enact a Federal 

corporate tax (CT) regime in the UAE. The CT regime will become effective for 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1st June 2023. 

The company will be subject to a corporate tax rate ranging from 0% to 9% on taxable 

income above a threshold of AED 375,000 for periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023. 

Decision No. 116 of 2022 specifies the threshold of income (as AED 375,000) over which 

a corporate tax of 9% would apply and accordingly, the CT Law is now considered to be 

substantively enacted. 

For the Company, current taxes is accounted for as appropriate in the financial 

statements for the year beginning January 01, 2024. In accordance with IAS 12 Income 

Taxes, the related deferred tax accounting impact has been considered for the financial 

year ended December 31, 2024. 

2.20 Contingencies 

A contingent liability is: 

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future

events not wholly within the control of the Company; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized because:

(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation; or

(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence 

will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the Company. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognized on the balance sheet of the 

Company, except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are 

present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined. 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (NET)

(Figures in AED) 

Furniture 
Office 

Particulars Aircraft Buildings and Vehicles 
Computer 

Total 

fixtures 
equipment equipment 

Gross block 

As on January 01, 2023 3,335,121 93,882 3,177,400 166,279 10,810 6,783,491 

Additions during the year 80,611,375 5,254,241 1,886,947 1,728,600 96,264,654 

As on December 31, 2023 80,611,375 8,589,362 1,980,828 4,906,000 166,279 10,810 96,264,654 

Additions 78,655,407 1,814,491 168,284 376,902 81,015,084 

As on December 31, 2024 159,266,782 10,403,853 2,149,112 5,282,902 166,279 10,810 177,279,737 

Accumulated Depreciation 

As on January 01, 2023 83,675 2,389 159,910 4,759 980 251,713 

Depreciation charge for the year 2,318,957 157,557 113,899 667,684 33,256 2,162 3,293,516 

As on December 31, 2023 2,318,957 241,232 116,288 827,595 38,015 3,142 3,545,229 

Depreciation charge for the year 14,888,011 313,761 413,086 1,041,340 33,256 2,162 16,691,615 

As on December 31, 2024 � 206,969 554,993 529,374 1,868,934 71,271 5,304 20,236,844 

Net Value 

As on December 31, 2024 142,059,813 9,848,860 1,619,738 3,413,968 95,008 5,506 157,042,893 

As on December 31, 2023 78,292,418 8,348,130 1,864,540 4,078,405 128,263 7,668 92,719,425 
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4. INVESTMENT IN SHARES

M/s. Va run Beverages RDC SAS, Congo*

M/s. VBL Mozambique SA, Mozambique**

As on 

Dec 31, 2024 

37 

808 

845 

(Figures in AED) 

As on 

Dec 31, 2023 

37 

37 

* Company incorporated in Congo on January 24, 2023. Investment is made in 0.10% share

capital of the Company represented by 1 Share of USO 10 each share converted at fixed

exchange rate of AEO 3.67 per USO.

** Company incorporated in Mozambique on January 31, 2024. Investment is made in 1% 

share capital of the Company represented by 100 Shares of MZN 100 each share converted 

at exchange rate of MZN 12.38 per AEO. 

5. CAPITAL ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS

Advances*

Deposits** 4,000 

4,000 

1,836,250 

31,630 

1,867,880 

* During the last year, the Company has paid additional advance of USO 0.5 million

(approx.) for the purchase of new aircraft. In the pervious period, Advances consist of USO

21.95 million (approx.) paid for purchase of "2013 Bombardier B0-700-1A10 Global 6000

aircraft" from Global Avionics (Bermuda} Limited via Escrow agent of Insured Title Service,

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. During the current year, the Company has capitalized the same

to property, plant and equipment.

** Long term deposits represents OEWA and rent deposits. As per Management opinion, 

these are non current assets in nature. 

6. INVENTORY

Goods in transit

As valued, confirmed and certified by the management.

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Less: Provision for expected credit loss (ECL)

24 

26,714,990 

26,714,990 

117,569,442 

12,618,351 

130,187,793 

4,773,167 

4,773,167 

4,950,575 

18,339,951 

23,290,526 
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8. 

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Company considers any change 

in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date the credit was initially granted 

up to the date of adoption of the accounts. Management has taken the current market 

conditions and payment received subsequent to the reporting date when assessing the 

credit quality of trade receivables and accordingly provision for doubtful debts is 

considered. 

(Figures in AED) 

As on As on 

Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

Not due 4,714,403 1,274,571 

Due to for less than 30 days 13,084,141 19,724,270 

Due for more than 30 days and less than 60 days 8,936,817 1,123,523 

Due for more than 60 days and less than 90 days 3,106,871 

Due for more than 90 days and less than 120 days 9,405,737 442,683 

Due for more than 120 days 90,939,825 725,479 

130,187,793 23,290,526 

Breakup for trade and other receivables as on year end: 

Receivable from related parties 116,493,147 3,782,413 

Receivable from others 13,694,646 19,508,113 

130,187,793 23,290,526 

ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS 

Prepayments 144,220 149,122 

Staff advances 140,501 70,410 

Supplier advances* 16,976,135 19,386,894 

17,260,856 19,606,426 

*It represents advance payment made to supplier for the future purchases, which are

interest free and will be adjusted for the purchases subsequently after end of year.

9. FIXED DEPOSIT

Fixed deposit* 1,100,000 1,100,000 

*The Company is having fixed deposit amounting to AED 1,100,000/- with Emirates NBD

Bank as on December 31, 2024 whose tenure is one year autorenewal.

10. FOREIGN TAX CREDIT

Foreign tax credit* 1,354,811 

* Foreign tax credits represents with holding tax of foreign jurisdictions for the services

provided during the year.
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11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in hand

Cash at bank

Fund in transit*

As on 

Dec 31, 2024 

29,441 

4,399,564 

606,991 

5,035,996 

(Figures in AED) 

As on 

Dec 31, 2023 

61,355 

5,653,514 

4,590,625 

10,305,494 

*Fund in transit represent the fund remitted before the year end and credited subsequently

in the bank account of the company.

12. UNSECURED LOAN

M/s. Varun Beverages Limited, India 164,895,251 88,874,361

164,895,251 88,874,361

As per mutual agreement, Holding company grant a loan up to a maximum limit of USO

60 Million bearing interest of LIBOR Plus 4% p.a up to June 30, 2023 and thereafter

interest charged 3 month SOFR Plus 2% p.a as per the amendment to the agreement and

are matured after 5 years from the date of grant.

13. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

Bank overdraft 

Working capital facility 

3,995,531 

51,488,199 

55,483,730 

8,722,331 

10,388,136 

19,110,468 

The Company has designated facility (OF} of overall limit up to USO 15 million in respect of 

Import letter of credit - unsecured for purchase of raw material from Standard Chartered 

Bank, Dubai, UAE with a sub-limit designated facility which comprise Overdraft of USO 4.0 

million as stated in Note No. 25 to the financial statement. 

The Company has working capital facility of overall limit up to USO 25 million in respect of 

working capital demand loan from /CIC/ Bank Ltd (DIFC Branch), Dubai, UAE with a sub­

limit designated facility which comprise letter of credit for purchase of raw materials, 

consumable stores etc. of USO 25 million as stated in Note No. 26 to the financial 

statement. 

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Other payables

26 
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45,546,143 

5,526,058 
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Breakup for trade & other payable as on year end: 

Payable to related parties 

Payable to others 

15. ACCRUALS

Interest payable for unsecured loan

Corporate guarantee commission payables

Customer advances

Employee related payables

16. CORPORATE TAX PROVISION

Opening tax tax provision

Current tax expense

Corporate tax provision

17. REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS

Sale of products

Aircraft charges income*

Management fee income**

(Figures in AED) 

As on As on 

Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

3,616,800 4,151 

41,929,343 9,768,136 

45,546,143 9,772,287 

16,450,290 8,078,733 

299,342 178,943 

15,084,231 

7,345 

31,833,863 8,265,021 

1,354,811 

1,354,811 

1,354,811 

(Figures in AED) 

Year ended Year ended 

Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

271,501,534 108,731,773 

11,805,619 

66,082,337 31,303,435 

349,389,490 140,035,208 

The company generated the revenue from sales of goods recognized at point in time and 

from management fee from and related parties and aircraft income recognized at over the 

period of time. The disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers by timing of 

revenue recognition, geographical segments and parties wise are presented below. 

*All revenue earned from aircraft charges income which provided to holding company.

**Include the revenue earned from management consultancies which provided to group 

entities outside U.A.E. 

Timing of revenue recognition: 

- At a point in time

- Over time
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(Figures in AED) 

Year ended Year ended 

Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

Primary geographical segments: 

-Within UAE

-Outside UAE 349,389,490 140,035,208 

349,389,490 140,035,208 

Party wise breakup: 

-Revenue generated from related parties 282,636,330 131,167,309 

- Revenue generated from third parties 66,753,160 8,867,899 

349,389,490 140,035,208 

18. OPERATING COST

Cost of goods sold 231,530,315 90,416,962 

231,530,315 90,416,962 

19. ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES

Vehicle maintenance and running expenses 34,190,344 16,706,587 

Travelling and conveyance 5,348,708 7,781,677 

Consultancy Charges 11,796,092 4,730,132 

Employee cost (Refer note no. 24) 4,283,113 2,981,890 

Marketing and business promotional expense 1,067,798 2,206,717 

Rates and taxes 1,279,690 1,061,234 

Legal and professional expenses 614,819 765,357 

Bank charges 853,738 677,926 

General office and other miscellaneous expenses 245,089 263,190 

Utility expense 223,682 183,394 

Repair and maintenance 1,698,038 174,008 

License and registration cost 76,070 152,003 

Rent 68,750 

Insurance 40,050 25,275 

Less: Reimbursement* (10,247,745) 

61,717,230 27,530,395 

* Reimbursement represent the amount received from PepsiCo in respect of expenditure

incurred by Varun Beverages International DMCC for providing support services to fellow

subsidiaries in carrying out the business covering sales and marketing, technical guidance

etc. along with expenditure incurred on manpower resources and its travelling
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20. FINANCE COST

Interest on unsecured loan

Corporate bank guarantee*

Interest on working capital facility

Year ended 

Dec 31, 2024 

11,252,586 

921,217 

2,795,681 

14,969,485 

(Figures in AED) 

Year ended 

Dec 31, 2023 

7,221,033 

646,836 

1,014,462 

8,882,332 

* Holding company is charging 2% p.a as commission for extending the Corporate

Guarantee in favour of Standard Chartered Bank, Dubai Branch up to a maximum limit of

USO 15 Million avail Credit facility from Standard Chartered Bank for business purpose.

21. OTHER INCOME

Incentive income*

Interest on fixed deposit 38,611 

38,611 

11,017,500 

34,614 

11,052,113 

* Incentive income comprise of AED 11,017,500 in the previous year raised for the purpose

of promoting the products as per the agreement.

22. TAX EXPENSE

Current corporate tax expense 1,354,811 

1,354,811 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The management believes that the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are not

significantly different from their carrying amounts at balance sheet date.

The management conducts and operates the business in a prudent manner, taking into

account the significant risks to which the business is or could be exposed. The primary

risks to which the business is exposed, comprise credit risks, liquidity risks and market

risks.

a. Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to

changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial

transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is

not the Company's functional currency. The Company does not have any significant

currency risk as the Company's transactions are mainly in United States Dollar (USO) and

United Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED).

b. Credit risk

Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge their obligations could

reduce the amount of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand at the end of the

reporting year. The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk. Cash balance·

is held with high credit quality financial institutions and the Company has policies to

limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial institution.

The Company's bank account are placed with high credit quality financial institution. The

Company manages credit risk with respect to receivables from customers by monitoring

in accordance with defined policies and procedures. Credit risk is limited to the carrying

value of financial assets in the balance sheet.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period was:

(Figures in AED) 

As on As on 

Dec.31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 

Trade and other receivables 130,187,793 23,290,526 

Advances 17,116,636 19,457,304 

Fixed deposits 1,100,000 1,100,000 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,035,996 10,305,494 

153,440,425 54,153,324 
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c. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instrument will fluctuate due to

change in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to fluctuations on market

interest rate as borrowing from related parties bearing interest 2% p.a. plus 3 month

SOFR.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity to a reasonably possible

change in interest rates of +/- 1%. These changes are considered to be reasonably

possible based on management's assessment. The calculations are based on a change in

the average market interest rate for each period, and the financial instruments held at

each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. All other variables are

held constant.

(Figures in AED) 

Profit for the year Equity 

+1% I -1% +1% I -1%

December 31, 2024 10,037,530 13,335,435 37,619,321 40,917,227 

d. Liquidity risk

e. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to

meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from

inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

As on December 31, 2024 

Unsecured loan 

Short term borrowings 

Trade and other payables 

Accruals 

As on December 31, 2023 

Unsecured loan 

Short term borrowings 

Trade and other payables 

Accruals 

Capital risk management 

Carrying 

value 

164,895,251 

55,483,730 

45,546,143 

31,833,863 

297,758,987 

88,874,361 

19,110,468 

9,772,287 

8,265,021 

126,022,136 

1 to 

5 years 

88,874,361 

55,483,730 

45,546,143 

31,833,863 

221,738,097 

19,110,468 

9,772,287 

8,265,021 

37,147,776 

(Figures in AED} 

More than 

5 years 

76,020,891 

76,020,891 

88,874,361 

88,874,361 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going 

concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the 

debt and equity balance. The Company's overall strategy remains unchanged during the 

period. 
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24. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There are no significant events occurring after the balance sheet date, which require

disclosure in the financial statements.

25. The Company has designated facility (DF) of overall limit up to USD 15 million in respect

of Import letter of credit - unsecured for purchase of raw material from Standard

Chartered Bank, Dubai, UAE. The company have sub-limit designated facilities which

comprising Overdraft of USD 4.0 million, Import loan for raw material up to USD 7.5

million, Import letter of credit- unsecured up to USD 5.0 million and Import loan for

CAP EX up to USD 2.5 million. The sum of the utilised portions of all Designated Sub-limits

shall not exceed the relevant Designated Facility limit of USD 15 million.

The facilities are secured by:

a. A Registrable charge over secured assets of the borrower;

b. Corporate Guarantee of the Varun Beverages Limited, India (Holding Company) up to

100% of the facility amount;

26. The Company has working capital facility of overall limit up to USD 25 million in respect

of working capital demand loan from ICICI Bank Ltd (DIFC Branch), Dubai, UAE with a

sub-limit designated facility which comprise letter of credit for purchase of raw

materials, consumable stores etc. of USD 25 million. The sum of the utilised portions of

Sub-limits shall not exceed the relevant working capital Facility limit of USD 25 million.

The facilities are secured by:

a. Facility was granted without a security;

b. Corporate Guarantee of the Varun Beverages Limited, India (Holding Company) up to

100% of the facility amount;

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As represented by the management, except for the ongoing commitments in the normal

course of business against which no loss is expected, there are no other known

contingent liabilities existing at the reporting date other than disclosed in the financials.

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company in the normal course of business enters into transactions with other

business enterprises that fall within the definition of Related Party contained in the

International Accounting Standard. Related parties comprises companies and entities

under common ownership and/ or common management and control and key

management personnel. The Company's management decides on the term and

conditions of such related party transactions as well as on other services and charges.
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Following are the related parties and the nature of relationship: 

Name of the related party Relationship 

M/s. Varun Beverages Limited, India Holding company 

M/s. Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt. Ltd Fellow subsidiaries 

M/s. Wellness Holdings Limited Key Management Personnel 

has significance influence 

M/s. Lunarmech Technologies Private Limited 

M/s. Varun Beverages Morocco SA. 

M/s. Varun Beverages (Zambia) Ltd 
Fellow subsidiaries 

M/s. Varun Beverages Lanka Pvt. Ltd. 

M/s. Va run Beverages RDC SAS 

M/s. Varun Beverages {Nepal) Private Limited 

Mr. Ravi Kant Jaipuria 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 
Key Management Personnel 

Mr. Yogendra Pal Gulati 

Ms. Gloria Prasad 

Transactions with related parties during the year are as below: 

(Figures in AED) 

Name of the related party 
Nature of the Year ended Year ended 

transaction Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

Net Loan 

taken 
76,020,891 3,672,500 

Interest 11,252,586 7,221,033 

Aircraft 
11,805,619 -

M/s. Varun Beverages Limited, India 
income 

Corporate 

Guarantee 921,217 646,836 

commission 

Support 
24,429 4,152 

Service 

M/s. Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt. 
Sales 174,643,074 99,863,874 

Management 
Ltd 24,366,351 24,350,886 

fee income 

Varun Beverages (Nepal) Private Limited Management 
11,060,486 6,952,549 

fee income 

M/s. Wellness Holdings Limited 
Aircraft hire 

- 4,538,769 
charees 

M/s. Lunarmech Technologies Private Purchase 12,703,508 -

M/s. Varun Beverages (Zambia) Ltd Sales 3,812,233 -

M/s. Varun Beverages Morocco SA. Sales 14,934,276 -
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(Figures in AED) 

Name of the related party 
Nature of the Year ended Year ended 

transaction Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023 

M/s. Varun Beverages Lanka Pvt. Ltd. Sales 1,870,176 -

M/s. Varun Beverages RDC SAS Sales 40,144,115 -

Mr. Ravi Kant Jaipuria 9,000,000 6,750,000 

Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma Director 1,281,703 806,481 

Mr. Yogendra Pal Gulati Remuneration 168,000 -

Ms. Gloria Prasad 86,400 -

Balances of due from/(due to) related parties as at year end is as below: 

{Figures in AED) 

Name of the related party 
Nature of As on Dec 31, As on Dec 31, 

balance 2024 2023 

Unsecured 
(164,895,251) (88,874,361} 

loan 

Interest 
(16,450,290) (8,078,733} 

payables 

Trade 
8,764,201 

M/s. Varun Beverages Limited, India receivables 

Corporate 

Guarantee 
(299,342) (178,943) 

commission 

payable 

Other payable (6,387) (4,151) 

M/s. Varun Beverages {Zimbabwe) Pvt. Trade 

Ltd receivables 
96,353,476 2,507,842 

Varun Beverages {Nepal) Private Limited 1,283,899 1,274,571 

M/s. Varun Beverages RDC SAS Trade 3,797,449 -

M/s. Varun Beverages {Zambia) Ltd receivables 3,804,464 -

M/s. Varun Beverages Morocco SA. 2,489,658 -

M/s. Lunarmech Technologies Private Trade 
(3,610,413) 

Limited payables 

Mr. Yogendra Pal Gulati Advances 32,000 -

29. SEGMENT REPORTING

There are no separate business line to be reported as per the management and hence,

there are no reportable business segment.
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30. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

a. Useful lives of property and equipment

The Company's management determines the estimated useful lives of its property and

equipment for calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering

the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and tear. Management reviews the

residual value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would be

adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous

estimates.

b. Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement

of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is

determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The

inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where

this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The

judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and

volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair

value of financial instruments.

c. Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit

exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and

its value in use. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data

from binding sales transactions in arm's length transactions of similar assets or

observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in

use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived

from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that

the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance

the asset's performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is most

sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well as the

expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

31. GENERAL

31.1 Figures in the financial statements are rounded off to the nearest United Arab Emirates

Dirhams (AED}. 

31.2 Previous year figures are regrouped and (or} reclassified, wherever necessary for better 

presentation of financial statements. 
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31.3 In the opinion of the management, all the assets as shown in the financial statements are 
existing and realizable at the amount shown against them, and there are no liabilities 
against the concern, contingent or otherwise, not included in the above financial 
statements. 

For Va run Beverages International DMCC 

���� 
Mr. Satyanarayan Sharma 

Director 

Dubai 
March 19, 2025 
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

The Accountant      Management 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------                                ------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ASSETS Notes
 Year ended    at 

31/12/2024 

 Year ended    at 

31/12/2023 

Non current assets

Tangible assets 6 186,463 -

186,463 -

Current assets

Trade debtors 8 4,031,906 -

Other current assets 9 2,278,039 -

Cash and cash equivalents 10 1,966,821 -

8,276,765 -

Total assets 8,463,228 -

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
 Year ended    at 

31/12/2024 

 Year ended    at 

31/12/2023 

Equity

Share capital 11 1,000,000 -

Net result for the year (12,190,706) -

Total equity (11,190,706) -

Current liabilities

Suppliers 12 18,308,073 -

Other current liabilities 13 1,345,862 -

19,653,934 -

Total liabilities 19,653,934 -

Total equity and liabilities 8,463,228 -

Raghav Bisani
Stamp

Raghav Bisani
Stamp
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Income statement by nature for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Accountant      Management 

  

----------------------------------------------------------------------------                          ----------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes 2024 2023

Revenue 14 41,461,674 -

Cost of inventories sold or consumed 7 (31,134,944)

Personnel expenses 15 (2,669,494) -

Third party services and suppliers 16 (15,622,685) -

Depreciations 6 (24,713) -

Other operational income and expenses 17 (4,317,652) -

(12,307,814) -

Financial income 18 174,439 -

Financial expense 18 (57,332) -

Net income/loss before taxation (12,190,706) -

Income tax 19 - -

Net result for the year (12,190,706) -

Raghav Bisani
Stamp

Raghav Bisani
Stamp
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Notes to the financial statements 

 

1. Introductory note 

VBL Mozambique, SA ("Company") is a private limited company incorporated in Mozambique, in 2023, registered under 

NUIT: 401 668 918 and Nuel: 105 013 689 and is headquartered in Maputo, Eduardo Mondlane Avenue, nº 1485. The 

company started operating in 2024. 

The purpose of the company includes the distribution, commercialisation, import and export of beverages, soft drinks, 

juices, milks, dairy products.  

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors to be issued on 28 February 2025. According to the 

commercial law, the accounts are subject to approval in the General Meeting of Shareholders.  

 

2. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements attached hereto are prepared according to the historical cost basis, in accordance with the Chart 

of Accounts for Small and Other Companies (PGC – PE), as set out by the Decree-law n. 70/2009, of 22 December. 

The financial statements include the balance sheet, the income statement by nature, the statement of changes in equity, 

and the annex and were prepared in accordance with the assumptions of going concern and accrual basis on which items 

are recognized as assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria 

for those elements in the conceptual framework, in accordance with the qualitative characteristics of understand ability, 

relevance, materiality, reliability, faithful representation, substance over form, neutrality, prudence, completeness and 

comparability. 

The functional currency used of the financial statements is the Metical. 

The accounting policies presented in Note 3, were used in the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 

2024. 

The net result for the year is not comparable to the previous year, as the company only commenced its operations during 

the current financial year ended 31 December 2024. In the prior year, there was no operational activity, resulting in nil 

balances in the financial statements. 

This situation has a broad impact on the balance sheet and the income statement, making the balances for this year non-

comparable to those of the previous period. 

Except for the note above, in the preparation of these financial statements, no provisions of the PGC-PE were derogated, 

and there are no other circumstances affecting the comparability of the various accounting line items. 

 

3. Main accounting policies 

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements were prepared according with the historical cost convention. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PGC – PE requires the Board of Management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the value of the assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors considered reasonable 

under the circumstances and form the basis for judgments about the values the of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The issues involving a higher degree of 

judgment or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are considered significant are presented in Note 4 "Main 

judgements, estimates and accountable assumptions." 
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Accounting Policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial statements are as follows: 

Tangible assets 

Tangible assets are booked at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and cumulative impairment losses. 

Acquisition cost includes the invoice price, transport and assembly cost and financial cost incurred during the construction 

phase.  

Tangible assets in progress include tangible assets in the construction phase and are booked at cost less cumulative 

impairment losses. Tangible assets are depreciated as from the time the capital expenditure projects are mainly 

completed or the assets are ready for use. 

Depreciation of acquisition cost are calculated on a straight-line basis (on a monthly basis), as from the year the assets 

are available for use in accordance with group management, at the rates considered most appropriate to depreciate the 

assets during their estimated economic useful life, limited, when applicable, to the concession period.  

The economic useful lives used for the asset are as follows: 

 

Recurring repair and maintenance cost are expensed in the year when they are incurred. Major overhauls involving the 

replacement of parts of equipment or of the other tangible assets are booked as tangible assets if the replaced parts are 

identified and written off, and depreciated over the remaining period of economic useful life of the respective tangible 

assets. 

The gain/loss resulting from the write-off or disposal of tangible assets are determined by the difference between the sale 

price and the net book value as of the date of the write-off/disposal. The net book value includes accumulated impairment 

losses. The resulting accounting capital gain/loss booked in the income statements under the caption “Other operating 

income” or “Other operating costs”, respectively. 

 

Impairment of tangible assets 

Impairment tests are made as of the financial statements date and whenever a decline in the asset value is identified. 

Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded to the income 

statement caption “Amortization, depreciation and impairment loss on tangible assets”. 

The recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and the value in use. Net selling price is the amount that 

would be obtained from selling the asset in a transaction between independent knowledgeable parties, less the costs 

directly attributable to the sale. Value in use corresponds to the present value of the future cash flows generated by the 

asset during its estimated economic useful life. The recoverable amount is estimated for the asset or cash generating unit 

to which it belongs. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are reversed when they no longer exist or have decreased. Such tests are 

made whenever there are indications that an impairment recognized in an earlier period has reverted. Reversal of 

impairment is recognized as a decrease in the income statement caption “Amortization, depreciation and impairment loss 

of tangible assets”. However, impairment losses are only reversed up to the book value that the asset would present (net 

of amortization or depreciation), if the impairment loss had not been recorded. 

 

 

 

 Estimated useful life 

Furniture and social office equipment [ 4 to 5 years ]
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Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the counterpart already received or to be received. The revenue to be recognised 

is deducted of the estimated amount of returns, discounts and other rebates. The recognised revenue does not include 

VAT and other paid taxes related to the sale. 

Revenue arising from the rendering of services is recognised with reference to the finishing phase of the transaction at the 

date of reporting, provided that the following conditions are met:  

• the amount of revenue may be reliably measured; 

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably; 

• the finishing phase of the transaction at the date of reporting can be measured reliably. 

When the services are performed with an undetermined number of actions for a specific period of time, revenue is 

recognised in a straight-line basis during the specific time period unless there is evidence that another method will 

represent the finishing phase better. When a specific act is more significant than others, the recognition of the revenue is 

postponed until the significant act is executed. 

 

Transactions and balances in foreign currencies  

Transactions in foreign currencies (currency other than the Company’s functional currency) are registered at the exchange 

rates, at the transactions dates. On the date of each report, the carrying amounts of the monetary items in foreign 

currency are updated to the exchange rates. The carrying amounts of the non-monetary items registered at their fair value 

in foreign currency are updated to the exchange rate of the date in which their fair value was determined. The carrying 

amounts of the non-monetary items registered at historical expenses in foreign currency are not updated. 

The exchange rate differences arising from the above-mentioned updates are registered in results in the period in which 

they are generated.  

All assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency were converted to Meticals, using the existing exchange rates at 

balance sheet date: 

 

 

Expenses and income recognition 

Expense and income are registered in the period it refers independently of payment or receipt, according with the accrual 

basis. The differences between amount received and paid and, the corresponding expenses or revenues are registered in 

the caption Other Assets or Liabilities according with the amounts to receive or pay. 

 

Income tax 

Income taxes comprise current taxes and deferred taxes. Income taxes are recognised in results, except when they are 

related to items that are recognised directly in equity, in such event they are also registered as counterpart of the equities.  

2024 2023

1 USD 64,54 -                      

1 ZAR 3,44 -                      
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Current taxes are those expected to be paid based on the taxable result, determined in accordance with the tax rules in 

force and using the approved, or substantially approved, tax rate in each jurisdiction. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities 

The financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet when the Company becomes a part of a 

corresponding contractual arrangements of the instrument. 

The financial assets and liabilities are classified in the following categories: (i) cost or depreciated costs and (ii) the fair 

value with the recognized alterations in the financial statements. 

 

Customers and other current receivables  

The customers e other current receivables liabilities are registered at face value deducted from eventual impairment 

losses. These receivables are accounted using the effective interest method. 

The impairment losses are registered following events that indicate, objectively and quantifiably, that total or part of the 

balance in debt will not be received. For such, the company takes into account market information that shows: 

• The counterparty shows significant financial difficulties; 

• Significant delays in payments by the counterparty occur; 

• It becoming probable that the debtor will enter winding procedures or other financial reorganisation. 

The recognized impairment losses amount to the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable balance and 

future estimated cash flow actual value, discounted at the initial effective interest rate which, whenever the receipt is 

expected in less than one year, it is considered null because its effect in the discount is considered immaterial. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  

These amounts comprise cash on hand and demand bank deposits, due within three months or less from the date of 

acquisition, which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value. 

 

Subsequent events 

The events after the balance sheet date that provide additional information on the existing conditions at balance sheet 

date (“adjusting events”) are reflected in the financial statements. The events after the balance sheet date that provides 

information on conditions occurred after the balance sheet date (“non adjusting events”) are disclosed in the financial 

statements, if they are considered material. 

 

4. Main judgements, estimates and accountable assumptions  

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires estimates to 

be made that affect the recorded amount of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

end of each year and income and costs recognized each year. The actual results could be different depending on the 

estimates made. 

The estimates and assumptions were determined based on best knowledge existing at the date of approval of the financial 

statements of events and transactions in course, as well as experience on past and/or current events. Although, it may 

occur situations in subsequent periods that, not being predictable at the date of approval of the financial statements, were 
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not considered as an estimate. The alterations on the estimates that occur after the financial statements date will be 

corrected in a forward-looking manner.  

The main judgments and estimates made in the preparation of financial statements are as follows: 

Recoverability of trade receivables and others receivables 

Impairment losses relating to debtors and other receivables are based according Management judgment of the probability 

of recovery of the balances of accounts receivable, aging schedule, debt cancellation and other factors. There are certain 

facts and circumstances that may change the estimate of impairment losses of receivables balances based on the 

assumptions considered, including changes in the economic climate, sectoral trends, the deterioration in the credit 

condition of key customers and major defaults. This evaluation process is subject to numerous estimates and judgments. 

The changes in these estimates could result in the determination of different levels of impairment and therefore different 

impacts on results. 

Estimated income tax 

The company has adopted a conservative policy in preparing its estimate of income tax. The company is confident that in 

the event of an inspection, any corrections to the carrying amount will be nil or insignificant. 

 

Measurement of tangible fixes assets 

The tangible assets are measured at cost value. The Company believes that the estimated useful life of the assets is 

adequate and that the value at the reporting date does not differ substantially from the amount recorded under this caption. 

 

5. Changes in accounting policies, estimates and errors 

There were no voluntary changes in accounting policies, estimates and errors with effect in the current period or any prior 

period or possible effect on future periods. 

 

6. Tangible assets 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the movement in fixed assets is as follows: 

 

 

7. Trade debtors 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the trade debtors are comprised of the following: 

 

Gross amount Opening balance Additions Disposals Closing balance

Office furniture - 245,426 (34,250) 211,176

- 245,426 (34,250) 211,176

Accumulated depreciation and impairments Opening balance Additions Disposals Closing balance

Office furniture - 24,713 - 24,713

- 24,713 - 24,713

Net book value 31/12/2024 - 186,463

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Trade debtors national market 4,031,906 -

4,031,906 -
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The detail of trade debtors national market at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: 

 

 

8. Other current assets 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the other current assets are comprised of the following: 

 

 

9. Cash and banks 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the cash and cash equivalents are as follows: 

 

10. Share capital  

The share capital is 1,000,000 Meticais (One million Meticais) and is fully subscribed and paid up. 

At balance sheet date the share capital lies decomposed by the following entities: 

 

The movement of the capital items for the year 2024 and 2023 was as shown below: 

 

 

 

 

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Zara Trading,Lda 1,753,694 -

Oceano Mozambique Lda 2,278,212 -

4,031,906 -

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

VAT 469,604 -

Other debtors 1,808,435 -

2,278,039 -

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Petty cash 27,565 -

Current deposits 1,939,256 -

1,966,821 -

Decomposition of Share capital: Share % 31/12/2024 Share % 31/12/2023

Varun Beverages Limited 99% 990,000 0% -

Varun Beverages International 1% 10,000 0% -

100% 1,000,000 0% -

Share Capital Legal reserves
Retained 

earnings

Net profit for the 

year
Total equity

Balances as at 1 January 2023 - - -

Application of the net result of the prior year - - - - -

Net result for the year - - - -

Balances as at 31 December 2023 - - - - -

Issuance of share capital 1,000,000 - -

Net result for the year - - - (12,190,706) (12,190,706)

Balances as at 31 December 2024 1,000,000 - - (12,190,706) (11,190,706)
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11. Suppliers 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the suppliers are comprised of the following: 

 

The caption is detailed below: 

 

 

12. Other current liabilities 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the other current liabilities are as follows: 

 

Tax payables are as follows: 

 

 

13. Revenue 

The revenue recognized by the Company for the years 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 

 

The revenue comprises the sale of beverages and soft drinks directly from the supplier to the clients of VBL Mozambique. 

 

 

 

 

 

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Suppliers 18,308,073 -

18,308,073 -

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Related Parties

Varun Beverages - Zambia 14,075,411 -

BEVC - The Beverage Company (South Africa) 2,430,566 -

Other suppliers

Zara Trading, Lda 1,561,178 -

Others 240,918 -

18,308,073 -

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Tax payables 39,068 -

Accrued expenses 850,788 -

Others 456,006 -

1,345,862 -

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Witholding tax 21,712 -

INSS - Social taxes 17,356 -

39,068 -

2024 2023

Services rendered 41,461,674 -

41,461,674 -
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14. Cost of inventories sold or consumed 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the statement of the cost of raw, auxiliary and material inventories for the 2024 and 2023 

periods is as follows: 

 

15. Staff costs 

In the financial year’s ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the company incurred the following staff costs: 

 

The average number of employees during the year ended of 31 December 2024 was 11. 

 

16. External supplies 

The recognised expenses in 2024 and 2023 in reference to the supplies and external services item are as presented 

below: 

 

(i) – the specialised services comprise expenditure on auditing, marketing, training and various consultancy 

services; 

(ii) - the rents include essentially the monthly expenses with the office rental, an employee's house and a 

warehouse. 

(iii) – representation expenses correspond to travels made by employees for developing partnerships, expanding 

business, checking goods sent to customers. 

 

 

 

 

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Initial stocks - -

Purchases 34,725,258 -

Stock regularisations 3,590,314 -

Final Stocks - -

Costs for the year 31,134,944 -

2024 2023

Employee's remuneration 2,012,234 -

Other remuneration 657,259 -

2,669,494 -

2024 2023

Specialised services                                                                      (i) 2,268,828 -

Stationery 78,541,63 -

Maintenance and repairing material 38,474,14 -

Fuel 134,468,74 -

Rentals                                                                                        (ii) 3,173,245,00 -

Transport of employees 1,061,726,25 -

Communication 33,490,00 -

Insurance 111,822,24 -

Representation expenses                                                              (iii) 7,834,987,64 -

Others 887,102,02 -

15,622,685 -
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17. Other operational expenses 

The other operational losses in 2024 and 2023 are as presented below: 

 

 The breakages or returned goods note is made up of defective goods, losses incurred at the time of delivery and expired 

items. 

 

18. Financial Income and Expenses 

The financial income for the year 2024 and 2023 are detailed bellow: 

 

The financial expenses for the year 2024 and 2023 are detailed bellow: 

 

19. Income tax 

As the first year of operations of the company, no amount of tax advance payments was due (payment on Account and 

Special Payment). 

At year end the entity presents a tax loss, therefore, no amount of income tax is due ate year end 31 December 2024. 

 

20. Related parties 

Related parties 

Varun Beverages (Zambia) Ltd. 

Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt. Ltd. 

BEVC – The Beverage Company (South Africa). 

Varun Beverages International Ltd. 

Varun Beverages Limited. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Other operational expenses 2024 2023

Breakages or returned merchandise 4,317,652 -

4,317,652 -

Financial income 2024 2023

Exchange gains 174,439 -

174,439 -

Financial expenses 2024 2023

Exchange losses 57,332 -

57,332 -
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The balances with entities related to 31 December 2024 are as follows:  

 

 

 

21. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

The company does not have any commitments or contingencies not recognized in balance sheet. 

 

22. Other Information 

At the date of 31 December 2024, the company had no debts under INSS (Social Security) and the Tax Authority (IRPC 

and IRPS). 

According to the legislation, tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities for a period of five years. 

 

23. Subsequent events 

There is no evidence of any subsequent events after the balance sheet date susceptible to affect the financial statements 

for the year under review. 

 

 

 

 

 

The Accountant      Management 

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------                      -------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

 

 

Year ended at 31/12/2024

Suppliers

Varun Beverages - Zambia 14,075,411

BEVC - The Beverage Company ( South Africa) 2,430,566

Total 16,505,977

Year ended at 31/12/2023

Suppliers

Varun Beverages - Zambia -

BEVC - The Beverage Company ( South Africa) -

Total -

Raghav Bisani
Stamp

Raghav Bisani
Stamp
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited 
 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements Opinion 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Beverage Company (Pty) Ltd (‘the 
Holding Company’) and its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as ‘the 
Group’), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2024, the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the period ended 31 December 2024, and a summary of the 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in South 
Africa, including International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which were issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its 
consolidated profit/loss (including other comprehensive income), its consolidated cash flows and the 
consolidated changes in equity for the six month period ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of consolidated financial statements in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with 
other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. 
 
The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matter(s) 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 

 
We have determined that there are no key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
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Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon 
 
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual financial statements but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection 
with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Holding Company’s Board of 
Directors. The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  
 
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Holding Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Holding 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible 
for overseeing the Holding Company’s financial reporting process. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
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We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances. We are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the 
Group has adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements in place 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls; 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management; 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern; 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Further as required by section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report, to the extent applicable, that: 
 

a) we have sought obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 
were necessary for the purpose of our audit of the accompanying consolidated financial statements; 

b) in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Group so far as it appears 
from our examination of those books; 
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c) the consolidated financial statements dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account 
for the purpose of preparation of consolidated financial statements. 

d) in our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

  
e) the Group does not have any pending litigation(s) which would impact its financial position as at 31 

December 2024. 
 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 

Per: Paddington Muskwe 
Audit Partner 
KPL Meraki Registered Auditors Inc 
Firm Registration No: 948802 
IRBA Membership No: 835561 
 
05 February 2025 
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Directors' Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the special purpose annual consolidated and separate financial statements of The
Beverage Company Proprietary Limited for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024.

1. Nature of business

The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited ("the company") is the holding company of The Beverage Company BIDCO Proprietary Limited
("BIDCO") and Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited. Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited's major activities comprised the
manufacture, marketing, sales and distribution of non-alcoholic soft drinks. Effective 6 February 2024, Little Green Beverages Proprietary
Limited transferred its business as a going concern to The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited as a distribution in anticipation of its
liquidation. The remaining companies in The Beverage Company BIDCO group are dormant and are in the process of voluntary liquidation or
deregistration except Softbev (Pty) Ltd which is dormant but remains registered.

2. Review of financial results and activities

The annual consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, the Financial
Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

The company intends to change it's financial year end from 30 June to 31 December to ensure that the financial reporting timelines are aligned
with the holding company. This change is expected to be filed on 01 July 2024.

These financial statements are prepared as special purpose set of financial statements to provide reporting information for the 6 month period
ended 31 December 2024 to the group's holding company.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the group are set out in these annual consolidated and separate
financial statements.

3. Share capital

Refer to note 15 of the special purpose annual consolidated and separate financial statements for detail of the movement in authorised and
issued share capital.

4. Control over unissued shares

The unissued ordinary shares are the subject of a general authority granted to the directors in terms of section 38 of the Companies Act 71 of
2008. As this general authority remains valid only until the next AGM, the shareholders will be asked at that meeting to consider an ordinary
resolution placing the said unissued ordinary shares, under the control of the directors until the next AGM.

5. Dividends

No dividend was declared or paid by the group during the period (30 June 2024: R Nil).

6. Borrowing powers

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the borrowing powers of the group are unlimited. However, all borrowings by the group are
subject to board approval as required by the board's approval framework.

7. Auditors

KPL Meraki Registered Auditors Inc were appointed in office as auditors of the group and its subsidiaries for the period ended 31 December
2024 in accordance with section 90(2) of the Companies Act of South Africa (2008).

8. Board of directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Designation Changes
WR Nidd Executive
PW Spies Executive
K Naidoo Executive Appointed 01 July 2024
SR Mehmood Non-executive Appointed 01 July 2024
S Sharma Non-executive
SK Iyer Non-executive

9. Directors' interests in contracts

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into which directors or officers of the group had an interest and which significantly affected
the business of the group.
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Directors' Report

10. Events after the reporting period

Varun Beverages Limited ("VBL") introduced further cash equity of R900 million on 02 January 2025 in lieu of shares issued, which monies
was used to settle the R900 million RMB term loan facility in full. In addition VBL loaned the group a further R310 million for working capital on
02 January 2025, which monies were utilised to reduced the current overdraft balance.

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

11. Secretary

S. David is the group company secretary in office.

12. Going concern

The special purpose annual consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable
to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 December 2024, the group had accumulated losses of R954 712 825 (30 June 2024: R904 493 130)
and the company had accumulated losses of R955 919 130 (30 June 2024: R905 699 435). As at year end, the group's total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by R104 745 027 (30 June 2024: R54 525 332) and the company's total liabilities exceeded it's total assets by
R105 951 332 (30 June 2024: R55 731 637). The group incurred a net loss for the period of R50 219 695 (30 June 2024: R495 412 718) and
the company incurred a net loss for the period of R50 219 695 (30 June 2024: R295 783 195). At year end the group's current liabilities exceed
its current assets by R276 144 105 (30 June 2024: R4 611 819) and company's current assets exceed its current liabilities by R277 350 410
(30 June 2024:R8 784 780).

The directors are of the view that existing cash resources as well as continued committed funding from the Holding Company, the group will
have sufficient resources to settle liabilities in the ordinary course of business as and when they arise.

Based on the above, the directors believe that the group will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The annual financial
statements have accordingly been prepared on the going concern basis.

13. Date of authorisation for issue of annual consolidated and separate financial statements

The special purpose annual consolidated and separate financial statements have been authorised for issue by the directors on 05 February
2025. No authority was given to anyone to amend the special purpose annual consolidated and separate financial statements after the date of
issue.

14. Interests in subsidiaries

Details of material interests in subsidiary companies are presented in note 7.

15. Holding company

The group's holding company is Varun Beverages Limited which holds 95% (30 June 2024: 95%) of the group's equity. Varun Beverages
Limited is incorporated in India and listed on the Mumbai Stock Exchange.

16. Transfer of business from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited

Following the sale of The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited to Varun Beverages Limited, and in terms of a group reorganisation, Little
Green Beverages Proprietary Limited transferred its business as a going concern to The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited as a
distribution in anticipation of its liquidation, partly, in terms of section 47of the Income Tax Act and partly not in terms of section 47 of the
Income Tax Act. The sale of business was effected on 6 February 2024. Refer to note 34 for further information.

17. Sale of The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited to Varun Beverages Limited

On 20 December 2023, the shareholders of The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited entered into an agreement for the sale of The
Beverage Company Proprietary Limited, its business, and its group to Varun Beverages Limited ("VBL"). VBL, a company headquartered in
India and listed on the Indian Stock Exchanges – NSE and BSE. The sale transaction concluded on 26 March 2024, with VBL acquiring 100%
of the issued shares in the BEVCO group. Ownership of the BEVCO group was fully transferred to VBL as of the closing date.

9



The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2016/155356/07)
Special Purpose Annual Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024

Group Company

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand Note 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 793 937 237 583 733 377 793 937 237 583 733 377
Right-of-use assets 4 533 052 053 353 386 605 533 052 053 353 386 605
Goodwill 5 606 135 487 606 135 487 606 135 487 606 135 487
Intangible assets 6 227 625 963 250 619 534 227 625 963 250 619 534
Investments in subsidiaries 7 - - - -
Loans to related parties 8 - - - 2 966 656
Loans to shareholders 9 48 179 841 48 765 821 48 179 841 48 765 821
Other financial assets 10 20 038 181 - 20 038 181 -
Other receivables 11 9 299 346 - 9 299 346 -

2 238 268 108 1 842 640 824 2 238 268 108 1 845 607 480

Current Assets
Inventories 12 412 090 716 299 743 535 412 090 716 299 743 535
Trade and other receivables 13 1 020 466 666 558 338 577 1 020 466 666 558 338 577
Other receivables 11 123 829 095 - 123 829 095 -
Prepayments 18 855 249 84 109 245 18 855 249 84 109 245
Current tax receivable 4 982 400 4 172 969 3 776 088 -
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 34 097 237 23 652 283 34 097 237

1 603 876 409 980 461 563 1 602 670 097 976 288 594

Total Assets 3 842 144 517 2 823 102 387 3 840 938 205 2 821 896 074

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Share capital 15 849 967 798 849 967 798 849 967 798 849 967 798
Accumulated loss (954 712 825) (904 493 130) (955 919 130) (905 699 435)

(104 745 027) (54 525 332) (105 951 332) (55 731 637)

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from shareholders 16 650 000 000 650 000 000 650 000 000 650 000 000
Other financial liabilities 17 900 000 000 899 999 999 900 000 000 899 999 999
Lease liabilities 4 430 365 520 271 125 108 430 365 520 271 125 108
Deferred tax 18 81 748 755 71 429 230 81 748 755 71 429 230
Provisions 4 754 755 - 4 754 755 -

2 066 869 030 1 892 554 337 2 066 869 030 1 892 554 337

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 1 128 595 656 503 509 678 1 128 595 649 503 509 670
Lease liabilities 4 142 688 489 108 062 688 142 688 489 108 062 688
Current tax payable 17 068 120 10 470 402 17 068 120 10 470 402
Provisions 17 049 366 - 17 049 366 -
Bank overdraft 14 574 618 883 363 030 614 574 618 883 363 030 614

1 880 020 514 985 073 382 1 880 020 507 985 073 374

Total Liabilities 3 946 889 544 2 877 627 719 3 946 889 537 2 877 627 711

Total Equity and Liabilities 3 842 144 517 2 823 102 387 3 840 938 205 2 821 896 074

10



The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2016/155356/07)
Special Purpose Annual Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Comprehensive Income

Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand Note 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

Revenue 20 2 389 329 127 4 090 478 289 2 389 329 127 1 655 782 301
Cost of sales 21 (1 359 493 647) (2 302 116 326) (1 359 493 647) (961 768 866)

Gross profit 1 029 835 480 1 788 361 963 1 029 835 480 694 013 435
Other operating income 22 4 764 982 6 989 506 4 764 982 1 769 963
Other operating gains 23 3 005 569 165 806 3 005 569 605 430
Movement in credit loss allowances 13 (8 000 000) (84 887 007) - -
Operating expenses (924 262 868) (2 054 530 487) (932 262 868) (1 074 207 221)

Operating profit (loss) 24 105 343 163 (343 900 219) 105 343 163 (377 818 393)

Investment revenue 25 3 432 403 2 841 110 3 432 403 1 124 522 588
Finance charges 26 (148 675 705) (223 852 563) (148 675 705) (162 084 564)
Other non-operating losses 27 - - - (808 973 596)

Loss before taxation (39 900 139) (564 911 672) (39 900 139) (224 353 965)
Taxation 28 (10 319 556) 69 498 954 (10 319 556) (71 429 230)

Loss for the year (50 219 695) (495 412 718) (50 219 695) (295 783 195)

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year (50 219 695) (495 412 718) (50 219 695) (295 783 195)
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The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2016/155356/07)
Special Purpose Annual Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand
Share capital Accumulated

loss
Total equity

R R R

GROUP
Balance at 30 June 2023 849 967 798 (409 080 412) 440 887 386

Loss for the year - (495 412 718) (495 412 718)
Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (495 412 718) (495 412 718)

Balance at 30 June 2024 849 967 798 (904 493 130) (54 525 332)

Loss for the 6 months - (50 219 695) (50 219 695)
Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (50 219 695) (50 219 695)

Balance at 31 December 2024 849 967 798 (954 712 825) (104 745 027)

Note 15

COMPANY
Balance at 30 June 2023 849 967 798 (609 916 240) 240 051 558

Loss for the year - (295 783 195) (295 783 195)
Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (295 783 195) (295 783 195)

Balance at 30 June 2024 849 967 798 (905 699 435) (55 731 637)

Loss for the 6 months - (50 219 695) (50 219 695)
Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (50 219 695) (50 219 695)

Balance at 31 December 2024 849 967 798 (955 919 130) (105 951 332)

Note 15
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The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2016/155356/07)
Special Purpose Annual Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Cash Flows

Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 29 221 177 260 (55 136 388) 221 177 260 (18 272 924)
Interest received 25 520 928 744 077 520 928 57 949
Interest paid 26 (121 440 186) (97 086 400) (121 440 186) (48 089 371)
Tax received 5 788 287 9 559 110 5 788 287 8 530 034

Net cash from operating activities 106 046 289 (141 919 601) 106 046 289 (57 774 312)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (359 712 794) (81 409 617) (359 712 794) (29 417 504)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 92 816 150 4 771 622 92 816 150 -
Increase in intangible assets 6 - (3 149 599) - (527 378)
Sale of other intangible assets 6 - 1 482 807 - -
Loans advanced to group companies - (17 257 147) - -
Proceeds from loans from group companies - - - 32 127 110
Transfer of business - - - (213 640 383)
Repayment of loan from group company - - - (20)
Loans advanced to shareholders - - - (48 765 821)

Net cash used in investing activities (266 896 644) (95 561 934) (266 896 644) (260 223 996)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from other financial liabilities 30 - 500 000 000 - 495 362 740
Redemption of preference share liabilities 30 - (30 311 811) - (30 311 811)
Proceeds from shareholders loan 30 - 650 000 000 - 650 000 000
Repayment of shareholders loan 30 - (1 088 449 852) - (1 088 449 852)
Cash repayments of lease liabilities 30 (61 182 868) (105 977 792) (61 182 868) (37 902 854)

Net cash used in financing activities (61 182 868) (74 739 455) (61 182 868) (11 301 777)

Total cash movement for the 6 months (222 033 223) (312 220 990) (222 033 223) (329 300 085)
Cash at the beginning of the 6 months (328 933 377) (16 712 387) (328 933 377) 366 708

Total cash at end of the 6 months 14 (550 966 600) (328 933 377) (550 966 600) (328 933 377)
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The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2016/155356/07)
Special Purpose Annual Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024

Accounting Policies

1. Material accounting policy information

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with, and in
compliance with,IFRS Accounting Standards and IFRIC® Interpretations interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these
financial statements and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, as amended.

The annual consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the
accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in Rands, which is the
group and company's functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of annual consolidated and separate financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Management did not make critical judgements in the application of accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations, which would
significantly affect the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of financial assets

The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions and inputs used,
refer to the individual notes addressing financial assets.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete inventory

Management assesses whether inventory is impaired by comparing its cost to its estimated net realisable value. Where an impairment is
necessary, inventory items are written down to net realisable value. The write down is included in cost of sales. The impairment assessment is
based on assumptions of the inventory items' condition and realisable value. The group uses judgement in making these assumptions and the
factors that contribute to the impairment.

Fair value estimation

The impairment tests of certain assets of the group (goodwill and intangible assets) require the determination of their fair value. Refer to the
goodwill and intangible assets (notes 5 and 6 respectively) for details of the valuation techniques used in these determinations.

Impairment testing of non-financial assets

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable as well as in the annual testing of goodwill for impairment. When such indicators exist, management determine the recoverable
amount by performing value in use and fair value calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. When it is not
possible to determine the recoverable amount for an individual asset, management assesses the recoverable amount for the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Expected manner of realisation of deferred tax

Management have reviewed the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of the group in order to determine the appropriate rate at
which to measure deferred tax. The manner of recovery of the carrying amount, i.e. through use or sale, affects the determination of the
deferred tax assets or liabilities. Management considered the business model of the assets and concluded that the carrying amount of these
assets is recovered through use rather than through sale and therefore the related deferred taxation should be measured on the use basis.
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Accounting Policies

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Going concern

Management applied its judgement, taking into account the current financial position, future forecasted profits and future cash flows including
its future obligations in terms of its borrowing in concluding that the company and group are going concerns. Changes in the assumptions
regarding future cash flows and profits could affect the going concern of the company and/or group.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to
day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the 6 months in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except
for land which is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the
asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the
asset's economic benefits are consumed by the group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of their
expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its
carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Depreciation rate

Plant and machinery Straight line 5 - 12 years
Furniture and fixtures Straight line 5 years
Motor vehicles Straight line 5 years
Office equipment Straight line 5 years
Computer equipment Straight line 3 years
Leasehold improvements Straight line Remaining lease term
Refrigerators Straight line 5 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset class is reviewed at the end of each reporting 6 months. If the
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. The depreciation
charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The depreciation charge for each 6 months is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
Management has re-assessed the useful lives of all classes of property, plant and equipment assets and no material impact has been
concluded.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

1.4 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the group's interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment.
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Accounting Policies

1.5 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period
over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided
on a straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Trademarks Straight line 15 years
Computer software Straight line 3 years
Marketing Straight line 15 years
Customer relationships Straight line 6 and 10 years

1.6 Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

1.7 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the group ,as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are debt instruments:
Ÿ Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business model
whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or

Financial liabilities:
Ÿ Amortised cost. 

The Financial instruments and risk management note (note 33) presents the financial instruments held by the group based on their specific
classifications.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the group are
presented below:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Classification

Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, loans to group companies and , and are classified as financial
assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any except for trade and other receivables which are measured at
transaction price under IFRS 15.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective
interest method for any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Application of the effective interest method

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method, and is included in profit or loss in investment revenue.

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest income is dependent on the credit risk of the financial asset as follows:
Ÿ The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the loan or receivable, provided the loan or receivable is not

credit impaired. The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjusting for a loss allowance.
Ÿ If a loan or receivable was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequently become credit-impaired, then the

effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the loan in the determination of interest.  If, in subsequent periods, the loan
is no longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount.

Impairment

The group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on all loans and trade receivables measured at amortised cost. The amount
of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective loan or
receivable.

The group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.  If the credit risk on a loan or receivable has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
then the loss allowance for that loan or receivable is measured at 12 month expected credit losses (12 month ECL).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a loan or receivable.
In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a loan or receivable that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12 month ECL, in other words, whether or not there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the group considers whether there has been a significant increase in the risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition rather than the evidence of a loan being credit impaired at the reporting date or of an actual default occurring.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a loan or receivable has increased significantly since initial recognition, the group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the loan or receivable as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring as at the date of initial recognition.

The group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information.
This information includes inflation rates, GDP growth rates, interest rates and unemployment rates.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the credit risk on a loan or receivable is always presumed to have increased significantly
since initial recognition if the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

By contrast, if a loan or receivable is assessed to have a low credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the credit risk on the loan
has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For purposes of internal credit risk management purposes, the group considers that a default event has occurred if there is either a breach of
financial covenants by the counterparty, or if internal or external information indicates that the counterparty is unlikely to pay its creditors in full
(without taking collateral into account).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the group considers that default has occurred when a loan instalment is more than 120 days past due unless
there is reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default, taking the time value of money into consideration. The group uses the simplified approach to determine
the expected credit loss on trade and other receivables.

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. The exposure at default is the gross carrying amount of the loan at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis in cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk are not yet available at the
individual instrument level. Loans or receivables are then grouped in such a manner that they share similar credit risk characteristics, such as
nature of the loan, external credit ratings (if available), industry of counterparty etc.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

If the group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12 month  ECL at the current reporting date, and vice versa.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised for all loans in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.  The impairment loss is included in operating expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable are included in the specific notes and the financial instruments and risk management (note 33).

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Classification

Financial liabilities at amortised cost include borrowings, trade and other payables and loans from group companies, and are classified as
financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the liability. They are
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit or loss as finance charges.

Financial liabilities  expose the group to liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Refer to note 33 for details of risk exposure and management
thereof.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are subsequently measured at amortised cost which approximates fair value. Cash and cash equiavlents include
cash on hand and bank balances.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets

The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset derecognised and the consideration received or receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

1.8 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and
prior periods exceed the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities / (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to / (recovered from) the tax
authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit / (tax
loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit / (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the
tax arises from:

Ÿ a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or
Ÿ a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in
the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a
different period, directly in equity.
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Accounting Policies

1.9 Leases

The group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements for which the
group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low value assets (assets with a new replacement cost of less
than R5 000). For these leases, the group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
using the group's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives;

 variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

 the amount expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees;

 lease payments in an optional renewal period if the group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and

 penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-use asset). The
related payments are recognised as an expense in the period incurred and are included in operating expenses.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in
interest expense.

The group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:

 there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate;

 there has been a change in the assessment of whether the group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

 a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

Costs included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset comprise the following:

 the initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;

 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;

 any initial direct costs incurred;
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1.9 Leases (continued)

 any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
when the group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories; and

 less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the period of the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset. However, if a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the group expects to exercise a purchase option,
the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation is charged from the commencement date
of a lease.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items of the same class of
property, plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the expectations differ
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

1.10 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value, on the standard cost basis which approximates the weighted average
cost. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises packaging costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). At each reporting date, inventories are assessed for impairment taking into
account damaged and expired inventory. If inventory is impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and
sell. The write-down is recognised immediately in profit or loss in cost of sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable
value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

The group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also:
Ÿ tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by

comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed annually and at the same time every
period.

Ÿ tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is
determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.12 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as .

Ordinary shares are recognised at no par value and classified as 'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received from the issue of shares in
excess of par value is classified as 'share premium' in equity. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the company in which they are declared.
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1.13 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick
leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not
discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or,
in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

1.14 Revenue from contracts with customers

The group recognises revenue from the sale of goods.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties, trade discounts, allowances, indirect taxes and rebates. Trade incentives such as rebates, discounts and allowances are treated as
variable considerations and deducted from gross revenue. These variable considerations are only included in the transaction price if it is highly
probable that the amount of revenue recognised would not be subject to significant future reversals when the uncertainty is resolved.

The group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product to a customer.

The group applies the core principles established in the five-step model framework in IFRS 15 when recognising revenue from contract with
customers.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for sale of goods.

For sale of goods, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the customer purchases the goods.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the point the customer purchases the goods, or within credit terms for account holding
customers. A receivable is recognised for account holding customers. The group applies the practical expedient for not accounting for
significant financing components due to length of time being less than 12 months.

1.15 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable
value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs, in profit or
loss as a reduction to cost of sales.

1.16 Finance costs

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in terms of the effective interest method.
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1.17 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate
between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:
Ÿ foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
Ÿ non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the

date of the transaction; and

In circumstances where the group receives or pays an amount in foreign currency in advance of a transaction, the transaction date for
purposes of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, income or expense is the date on which the group
initially recognised the non-monetary item arising on payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the group determines a date of transaction for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they
were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual consolidated and separate financial statements are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate
between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current 6 months

In the current 6 months, the branch has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial 6 months
and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

Ÿ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Amendment: Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial
liabilities 2: Clarifies the fees to be applied in the application of the
‘10 per cent’ test when assessing whether to derecognise a
financial liability. Only include fees paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including those paid or received on the
other's behalf.

01 January 2022 This will be applied when
derecognition occurs. There
has been no derecognition of
financial liabilities in the
current year.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

Ÿ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current:
- Classification to be based on whether the right to defer settlement by at

least twelve months exists at the end of the reporting period.
- Classification is unaffected by expectation of settlement.
- Settlement refers to transfer of cash equity instruments, other assets or

services.
- Clarifies that only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is

itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification.

Amendment: Disclosure of Accounting Policies (01 January 2023): 
- Accounting policies to be disclosed where the information is
material, by nature or amount.
- Explains when accounting policy information is considered
material and provides examples.

Clarifies that when an entity chooses to disclose an immaterial
accounting.

Amendment: Classification of long-term debt affected by convenants
 - Classify debt as non-current only if the branch can avoid settling the

debt within 12 months after the reporting date.
 - Specify covenants to be complied with after the reporting date do not

affect the classification of debt as current or non-current at the
reporting date

 - The amendments require the branch to disclose information about
these covenants in the notes to the financial statements.

01 January 2024 Impact is currently being
assessed

Ÿ IAS 12 Income Taxes

Amendment: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
- Narrows the scope of the exemption for recognition of
taxable/deductible temporary differences that arise on certain
transactions. The transaction should not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.
- Clarifies that deferred tax must be recognised on initial recognition
of IFRS 16 leases and similar types of transactions that give rise to
the recognition of an asset and a liability, such as
decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities with
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the related asset.

01 January 2023 No material impact expected
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Ÿ IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

New standard establishing the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts.
The single accounting model makes use of current estimates. The
amendments are aimed at helping companies implement the
Standard and making it easier to explain their financial
performance, are designed to:

- reduce costs by simplifying some requirements;
- make financial performance easier to explain; and
- ease transition by deferring the effective date to 2023 and by providing

additional relief to reduce the effort required when applying IFRS 17
for the first time.

01 January 2023 No material impact expected

Ÿ IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors

Amendment: Definition of Accounting Estimates
- Distinguishes clearly between a change in accounting policy and a
change in accounting estimate.
- Revises the definition of an accounting estimate.
- Provides reworded and specific examples of accounting
estimates.
- Clarifies that measurement techniques and inputs used in
developing accounting estimates are not accounting policies.

01 January 2023 There is no impact in the
current year as the group did
not have a change in
accounting policy, accounting
estimate or an error.
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

3. Property, plant and equipment

Group 31 December 2024 30 June 2024

Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Plant and machinery 1 105 610 427 (453 809 812) 651 800 615 931 067 147 (406 986 499) 524 080 648
Furniture and fixtures 3 259 850 (2 667 844) 592 006 3 259 850 (2 547 279) 712 571
Motor vehicles 37 801 751 (36 802 177) 999 574 37 801 751 (36 656 460) 1 145 291
Office equipment 3 937 713 (3 908 895) 28 818 3 937 713 (3 874 290) 63 423
Computer equipment 21 237 195 (15 390 733) 5 846 462 19 323 906 (13 887 730) 5 436 176
Leasehold improvements 16 912 406 (13 327 812) 3 584 594 16 912 406 (12 136 525) 4 775 881
Refrigerators 237 251 430 (106 166 262) 131 085 168 148 777 467 (101 258 080) 47 519 387

Total 1 426 010 772 (632 073 535) 793 937 237 1 161 080 240 (577 346 863) 583 733 377

Company 31 December 2024 30 June 2024

Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Plant and machinery 1 105 610 427 (453 809 812) 651 800 615 931 067 147 (406 986 499) 524 080 648
Furniture and fixtures 3 259 850 (2 667 844) 592 006 3 259 850 (2 547 279) 712 571
Motor vehicles 37 801 751 (36 802 177) 999 574 37 801 751 (36 656 460) 1 145 291
Office equipment 3 937 713 (3 908 895) 28 818 3 937 713 (3 874 290) 63 423
IT equipment 21 237 195 (15 390 733) 5 846 462 19 323 906 (13 887 730) 5 436 176
Leasehold improvements 16 912 406 (13 327 812) 3 584 594 16 912 406 (12 136 525) 4 775 881
Refrigerators 237 251 430 (106 166 262) 131 085 168 148 777 467 (101 258 080) 47 519 387

Total 1 426 010 772 (632 073 535) 793 937 237 1 161 080 240 (577 346 863) 583 733 377

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Plant and machinery 524 080 648 269 325 541 (93 439 727) (48 165 847) 651 800 615
Furniture and fixtures 712 571 - - (120 565) 592 006
Motor vehicles 1 145 291 - - (145 717) 999 574
Office equipment 63 423 - - (34 605) 28 818
Computer equipment 5 436 176 1 913 290 - (1 503 004) 5 846 462
Leasehold improvements 4 775 881 - - (1 191 287) 3 584 594
Refrigerators 47 519 387 88 473 963 - (4 908 182) 131 085 168

583 733 377 359 712 794 (93 439 727) (56 069 207) 793 937 237

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Plant and machinery 553 637 423 43 557 985 (3 945 538) (69 169 222) 524 080 648
Furniture and fixtures 784 885 194 435 - (266 749) 712 571
Motor vehicles 922 417 553 266 - (330 392) 1 145 291
Office equipment 232 931 1 830 - (171 338) 63 423
Computer equipment 4 583 663 4 111 386 (7 578) (3 251 295) 5 436 176
Leasehold improvements 4 535 930 2 788 596 22 006 (2 570 651) 4 775 881
Refrigerators 37 913 624 30 202 119 - (20 596 356) 47 519 387

602 610 873 81 409 617 (3 931 110) (96 356 003) 583 733 377
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

3. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Plant and machinery 524 080 648 269 325 541 (93 439 727) (48 165 847) 651 800 615
Furniture and fixtures 712 571 - - (120 565) 592 006
Motor vehicles 1 145 291 - - (145 717) 999 574
Office equipment 63 423 - - (34 605) 28 818
Computer equipment 5 436 176 1 913 290 - (1 503 004) 5 846 462
Leasehold improvements 4 775 881 - - (1 191 287) 3 584 594
Refrigerators 47 519 387 88 473 963 - (4 908 182) 131 085 168

583 733 377 359 712 794 (93 439 727) (56 069 207) 793 937 237

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Transfer of
business *

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Plant and machinery - 539 987 958 14 617 510 - (30 524 820) 524 080 648
Furniture and fixtures - 781 605 48 381 - (117 415) 712 571
Motor vehicles - 756 743 506 650 - (118 102) 1 145 291
Office equipment - 96 894 1 830 - (35 301) 63 423
Computer equipment - 6 007 792 855 280 (56) (1 426 840) 5 436 176
Leasehold improvements - 4 831 762 1 002 414 22 006 (1 080 301) 4 775 881
Refrigerators - 47 087 909 12 385 439 - (11 953 961) 47 519 387

- 599 550 663 29 417 504 21 950 (45 256 740) 583 733 377

Changes in estimates

The group reassesses the useful lives and residual values of items of group at the end of each reporting period, in line with the accounting
policy and IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment. These assessments are based on historic analysis, benchmarking, and the latest available
and reliable information.

In the prior year, the useful lives of certain assets included in plant and machinery were reassessed from 10 years to 12 years. In the current
year, all items of property, plant and equipment were reassessed to include a residual value of 5% of the original cost.

Recognised cost of assets fully depreciated

Plant and machinery 1 824 064 1 824 943 1 824 064 1 824 943
Furniture and fixtures 5 218 412 5 252 577 5 218 412 5 252 577
Motor vehicles 36 221 911 36 211 911 36 221 911 36 211 911
Computer equipment 6 071 862 8 158 943 6 071 862 8 158 943
Leasehold improvements 5 868 705 6 022 845 5 868 705 6 022 845
Refrigerators 65 411 913 73 920 281 65 411 913 73 920 281

120 616 867 131 391 500 120 616 867 131 391 500

* Transfer of business from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited

Property, plant and equipment was transferred from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited. Refer to note 34 for further information.
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

4. Leases (company as lessee)

Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the group is lessee are presented below:

Net carrying amounts of right-of-use assets 

Buildings 480 467 210 306 960 722 480 467 210 306 960 722
Motor vehicles 28 963 609 21 157 574 28 963 609 21 157 574
Forklifts 22 598 710 23 438 752 22 598 710 23 438 752
Equipment 1 022 524 1 829 557 1 022 524 1 829 557

533 052 053 353 386 605 533 052 053 353 386 605

Additions to right-of-use assets 

Buildings 210 341 302 39 586 569 210 341 302 -
Motor vehicles 13 098 093 25 615 770 13 098 092 8 287 895
Forklifts 2 755 376 41 117 895 2 755 376 7 641 652
Equipment 618 796 2 595 365 618 796 -

226 813 567 108 915 599 226 813 566 15 929 547

Additions through transfer of business from Little Green
Beverages Proprietary Limited 

Buildings - - - 118 086 314
Motor vehicles - - - 17 327 875
Forklifts - - - 17 717 169
Equipment - - - 2 595 365

- - - 155 726 723

Right-of-use assets were transferred from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited. Refer to note 34 for further information.

Depreciation recognised on right-of-use assets 

Buildings 36 834 814 55 559 180 36 834 814 26 344 632
Motor vehicles 5 292 056 9 908 887 5 292 056 3 999 205
Forklifts 3 595 419 5 714 031 3 595 419 2 627 942
Equipment 1 425 830 2 655 521 1 425 830 1 123 146

47 148 119 73 837 619 47 148 119 34 094 925

Lease liabilities 

Within one year 142 727 854 108 170 513 142 727 854 108 170 513
Two to five years 422 845 434 298 601 460 422 845 434 298 601 460
More than five years 340 600 444 141 404 316 340 600 444 141 404 316

906 173 732 548 176 289 906 173 732 548 176 289
Less finance charges component (333 119 723) (168 988 493) (333 119 723) (168 988 493)

573 054 009 379 187 796 573 054 009 379 187 796

Split between non-current and current portions 

Non-current liabilities 430 365 520 271 125 108 430 365 520 271 125 108
Current liabilities 142 688 489 108 062 688 142 688 489 108 062 688

573 054 009 379 187 796 573 054 009 379 187 796
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

4. Leases (company as lessee) (continued)

Other disclosures 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 28 235 518 30 395 468 28 235 518 17 624 498
Expenses on short-term leases included in operating expenses 14 359 957 18 675 766 14 359 957 6 294 337
Total cash outflow from leases 61 182 868 105 918 665 61 182 868 45 116 281

Transfers of business from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited

Lease liabilities amounting to R167 711 344 were transferred from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited. Refer to note 34 for further
information.

5. Goodwill

Group 31 December 2024 30 June 2024

Cost Accumulated
impairment

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
impairment

Carrying value

Goodwill 606 135 487 - 606 135 487 606 135 487 - 606 135 487

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Total

Goodwill 606 135 487 606 135 487

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Impairment loss Total

Goodwill 637 592 487 (31 457 000) 606 135 487

Reconciliation of goodwill - Company - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Total

Goodwill 606 135 487 606 135 487

Reconciliation of goodwill - Company - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Transfer of
business

Total

Goodwill - 606 135 487 606 135 487

Assessment of goodwill impairment

At the end of the current period goodwill belongs to the cash generating unit being the entire business of The Beverage Company Proprietary
Limited. 

In the prior year goodwill comprised of Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited and SoftBev Proprietary Limited with a gross carrying
amount of R606 135 487 and R31 457 000 respectively. The goodwill of SoftBev was written off following the sale of business and group
reorganisation.
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5. Goodwill (continued)

The assessment for the impairment of goodwill included projected future cashflows using growth rates of between 10.32% and 48.15%
(30 June 2024: 10.32% and 48.15%) per annum over a five year period and applying a discount rate of 16.48% (30 June 2024: 16.48%) per
annum. The cash flows beyond this period have been extrapolated using a constant terminal growth rate of 4.5% (30 June 2024: 4.5%) per
annum which is in line with current market conditions. The value in use, which approximates fair value less costs of disposal, amounts to
R10 043 103 340.

Budgeted EBITDA was based on expectations of future performance taking into account past experience, adjusted for anticipated revenue
growth.

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis was performed on the basis of a possible change in the discount rate and terminal growth rate. All the other
variables remaining constant.

Discount rate

An increase and decrease of the discount rate by 1% results in a decrease of R636 263 363 and increase of R441 435 653 of the value in use
respectively.

Terminal growth rate

An increase and decrease of the terminal growth rate by 1% results in an increase of R508 381 142 and decrease of R692 895 943 of the value
in use respectively.

The value in use determined in all scenarios above is higher than the carrying value of the cash generating unit and does not result in any
impairment loss.

6. Intangible assets

Group 31 December 2024 30 June 2024

Cost Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Trademarks 7 500 000 (7 500 000) - 7 500 000 (7 500 000) -
Computer software 22 945 478 (20 457 496) 2 487 982 22 945 478 (18 878 088) 4 067 390
Marketing 232 983 571 (99 385 047) 133 598 524 232 983 571 (91 618 927) 141 364 644
Customer relationships 309 762 144 (218 222 687) 91 539 457 309 762 144 (204 574 644) 105 187 500

Total 573 191 193 (345 565 230) 227 625 963 573 191 193 (322 571 659) 250 619 534

Company 31 December 2024 30 June 2024

Cost Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Trademarks 7 500 000 (7 500 000) - 7 500 000 (7 500 000) -
Computer software 22 945 478 (20 457 496) 2 487 982 22 945 478 (18 878 088) 4 067 390
Marketing 232 983 571 (99 385 047) 133 598 524 232 983 571 (91 618 927) 141 364 644
Customer relationships 309 762 144 (218 222 687) 91 539 457 309 762 144 (204 574 644) 105 187 500

Total 573 191 193 (345 565 230) 227 625 963 573 191 193 (322 571 659) 250 619 534

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Amortisation Total

Computer software 4 067 390 (1 579 408) 2 487 982
Marketing 141 364 644 (7 766 120) 133 598 524
Customer relationships 105 187 500 (13 648 043) 91 539 457

250 619 534 (22 993 571) 227 625 963
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6. Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software 7 244 691 3 149 599 (1 482 807) (4 844 093) 4 067 390
Marketing 156 896 882 - - (15 532 238) 141 364 644
Client relationships 139 869 221 - - (34 681 721) 105 187 500

304 010 794 3 149 599 (1 482 807) (55 058 052) 250 619 534

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Company - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Amortisation Total

Computer software 4 067 390 (1 579 408) 2 487 982
Marketing 141 364 644 (7 766 120) 133 598 524
Customer relationships 105 187 500 (13 648 043) 91 539 457

250 619 534 (22 993 571) 227 625 963

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Company - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Transfer of
business *

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software - 4 928 157 527 378 (1 388 145) 4 067 390
Marketing - 147 568 613 - (6 203 969) 141 364 644
Customer relationships - 119 040 256 - (13 852 756) 105 187 500

- 271 537 026 527 378 (21 444 870) 250 619 534

* Transfer of business fromLittle Green Beverages Proprietary Limited

Intangible assets was transferred from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited. Refer to note 34 for further information.

Intangible assets acquired in purchase of business

The Marketing and Customer relationship intangible assets arose from the purchase of the SoftBev Proprietary Limited business. Marketing
relates to trademarks acquired which have been recognised after meeting the contractual-legal criterion on acquisition. Client relationships
relate to the contractual and non-contractual relationships between the group and its customers.

Pledge and cession of Trademarks

The group has pledged and ceded all current trademarks of the group as security for the due, proper and timeous payment and performance in
full of all the of all the obligations in respect of the finance facilities provided by Rand Merchant Bank. Refer to notes 12 and 16 for further
details of the facilities provided.

Remaining useful lives of individually material intangible assets

Marketing - 103 months
Customer relationships: Large group customers - 43 months
Customer relationships: Independent customers - nil
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7. Investment in subsidiary

Company
Name of subsidiary % voting

power
2025

% voting
power
2024

%
holding

2025

%
holding

2024

Carrying
amount

31 December
2024

Carrying
amount

30 June 2024

The Beverage Company BIDCO Proprietary Limited %100 %100 %100 %100 873 967 817 873 967 817
Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited %100 %100 %100 %100 536 257 851 536 257 851

1 410 225 668 1 410 225 668
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries (1 410 225 668) (1 410 225 668)

- -

The investments in The Beverage Company BIDCO Proprietary Limited ('BIDCO') were impaired due to an impairment of certain subsidiaries of
BIDCO (Old Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited and SoftBev Proprietary Limited). These subsidiaries are dormant and will be
deregistered within the next 18 months.

8. Loans to related parties
Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited - - - 2 966 656

The loan was unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate plus 2% and was settled in the current year.

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets - - - 2 966 656

9. Loans to shareholders

Varun SA Proprietary Limited
This loan was unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest
rate and was transferred to the employee trust loan below
during the year.

- 48 765 821 - 48 765 821

The Bevco Employee Trust
This loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate
with no fixed terms of repayment.

48 179 841 - 48 179 841 -

48 179 841 48 765 821 48 179 841 48 765 821

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets 48 179 841 48 765 821 48 179 841 48 765 821

10. Other financial assets 

At amortised cost
Security deposits 16 549 726 - 16 549 726 -

Interest accrued on loan
This interest relates to the loan received from The Bevco
Employee Trust. This interest accrues at the prime lending
rate.

3 488 455 - 3 488 455 -

20 038 181 - 20 038 181 -

Non-current assets
At amortised cost 20 038 181 - 20 038 181 -

32



The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2016/155356/07)
Special Purpose Annual Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the 6 months ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements

Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

11. Other receivables

Capital advances 133 128 441 - 133 128 441 -

Non-current assets 9 299 346 - 9 299 346 -
Current assets 123 829 095 - 123 829 095 -

133 128 441 - 133 128 441 -

12. Inventories

Raw materials and components 150 810 390 90 514 095 150 810 390 90 514 095
Finished goods 120 253 565 109 976 441 120 253 565 109 976 441
Packaging materials 98 267 432 68 542 770 98 267 432 68 542 770
Consumable spares 48 890 866 45 389 517 48 890 866 45 389 517

418 222 253 314 422 823 418 222 253 314 422 823
Provision for stock losses (6 131 537) (14 679 288) (6 131 537) (14 679 288)

412 090 716 299 743 535 412 090 716 299 743 535

The amount of inventories expensed during the year amounted to R1 178 683 619 for the group (30 June 2024: R2 045 672 855) and
R1 178 683 619 (30 June 2024: R844 261 869) for the company. Actual stock written-off during the year amounted to R17 182 809 for the
group (30 June 2024: R57 413 525) and R17 182 809 (30 June 2024: R37 842 041) for the company.

13. Trade and other receivables

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 1 062 093 750 640 028 058 1 062 093 750 640 028 058
Loss allowance (109 601 473) (101 601 473) (109 601 473) (101 601 473)

Trade receivables at amortised cost 952 492 277 538 426 585 952 492 277 538 426 585
Deposits 258 331 10 890 038 258 331 10 890 038
Staff loans 20 429 25 929 20 429 25 929
Other receivables * 60 403 673 - 60 403 673 -

Non-financial instruments:
Value added tax 7 291 956 8 996 025 7 291 956 8 996 025

Total trade and other receivables 1 020 466 666 558 338 577 1 020 466 666 558 338 577

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments:

At amortised cost 1 013 174 710 549 342 552 1 013 174 710 549 342 552
Non-financial instruments 7 291 956 8 996 025 7 291 956 8 996 025

1 020 466 666 558 338 577 1 020 466 666 558 338 577

* Included in other receivables are claims receivable, advances from contractors and other general receivables.

Exposure to credit risk

Trade receivables inherently expose the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial loss if customers fail to make
payments as they fall due. A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is
monitored at the end of each reporting period. In addition to the loss allowance, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation. Trade receivables which have been written off are not
subject to enforcement activities.
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

13. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables by applying the simplified approach which is prescribed by IFRS 9. In accordance
with this approach, the loss allowance on trade receivables is determined as the lifetime expected credit losses on trade receivables. These
lifetime expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix, which is presented below. The provision matrix has been developed by
making use of past default experience of debtors but also incorporates forward looking information and general economic conditions of the
industry as at the reporting date.

The group's historical credit loss experience does show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The segmentation
is based on grouping customers with similar loss patterns (i.e. by geographical region, product type, customer type). Customers have therefore
been grouped into two segments for this purpose namely - Low Risk and Other Trade Receivables.The provision for credit losses is
accordingly based on past due status together with disaggregating the receivables into these two risk profiles. The Low Risk segment includes
large listed groups, blue chip entities and large retail chains all who have historically had no collection issues. The loss allowance provision is
determined as follows:

31 December
2024

30 June 2024 31 December
2024

30 June 2024

Expected credit loss category and rate:

Low risk receivables

Estimated
gross carrying

amount at
default

Loss
allowance
(Lifetime
expected

credit loss)

Estimated
gross carrying

amount at
default

Loss
allowance
(Lifetime
expected

credit loss)

Current: 0.00% (30 June 2024: 0.66%) 48 808 976 - 150 720 463 (1 044 396)
30 days: 0.00% (30 June 2024: 1.06%) 39 319 945 - 70 918 525 (752 753)
60 days: 0.00% (30 June 2024: 1.62%) 39 716 721 - 15 088 808 (244 106)
90 days and longer: 0.00% (30 June 2024: 2.75%) 36 570 421 - 9 924 533 (272 712)

164 416 063 - 246 652 329 (2 313 967)

31 December
2024

30 June 2024 31 December
2024

30 June 2024

Other trade receivables

Estimated
gross carrying

amount at
default

Loss
allowance
(Lifetime
expected

credit loss)

Estimated
gross carrying

amount at
default

Loss
allowance
(Lifetime
expected

credit loss)

Current: 7,28% (30 June 2024: 17.66%) 556 174 688 (40 497 989) 250 032 543 (44 143 788)
30 days: 17,58% (30 June 2024: 44.96%) 181 852 901 (31 973 156) 100 839 746 (45 333 432)
60 days: 21,75% (30 June 2024: 24.61%) 71 240 238 (15 495 519) 16 471 987 (4 053 430)
90 days and longer: 24,47% (30 June 2024: 31.93%) 88 409 860 (21 634 809) 18 031 453 (5 756 856)

897 677 687 (109 601 473) 385 375 729 (99 287 506)

Total 1 062 093 750 (109 601 473) 640 028 058 (101 601 473)

Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses) for trade and other receivables:

Opening balance (101 601 473) (16 714 466) (101 601 473) -
Increase in loss allowances (8 000 000) (84 887 007) (8 000 000) -

Closing balance (109 601 473) (101 601 473) (109 601 473) -
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31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

13. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Concentration of credit risk

Concentration per sales channel
Wholesale 530 624 280 354 288 209 551 258 839 354 288 209
Retail 403 298 671 240 340 603 403 298 671 240 340 603
Exports 79 012 944 42 590 256 79 012 944 42 590 256
Other 49 157 855 2 808 990 49 157 855 2 808 990

1 062 093 750 640 028 058 1 082 728 309 640 028 058

Concentration per region
South Africa 983 080 806 597 437 802 1 003 715 365 597 437 802
International 79 012 944 42 590 256 79 012 944 42 590 256

1 062 093 750 640 028 058 1 082 728 309 640 028 058

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts due to their short-term nature.

14. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand - 193 - 193
Bank balances 23 652 283 34 097 044 23 652 283 34 097 044
Bank overdraft (574 618 883) (363 030 614) (574 618 883) (363 030 614)

(550 966 600) (328 933 377) (550 966 600) (328 933 377)

Current assets 23 652 283 34 097 237 23 652 283 34 097 237
Current liabilities (574 618 883) (363 030 614) (574 618 883) (363 030 614)

(550 966 600) (328 933 377) (550 966 600) (328 933 377)

The group has the following facilities with banking institutions:

Rand Merchant Bank 

The total amount of undrawn facilities available for future
operating activities and commitments

222 157 528 36 969 386 - -

Direct card facility 7 000 000 7 000 000 - -
Contingent facility 2 100 000 2 100 000 - -

Refer to note 6 for details of the assets pledged and ceded for facilities provided by Rand Merchant Bank to the group. Refer to note 17 for
details of the Rand Merchant Bank financial liability.

Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the group's finance department in accordance with the group
policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. The
credit risk associated with such counterparty is limited due to the fact that the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit agencies. The credit risk of cash at banks and short-term deposits is therefore considered to be low.
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31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
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15. Share capital

Authorised
10 000 000 (June 2024: 10 000 000) ordinary shares

Issued - number of shares
Ordinary shares 2 124 920 2 124 920 2 124 920 2 124 920

Issued - Rand value
Ordinary shares 849 967 798 849 967 798 849 967 798 849 967 798

16. Loans from shareholders

Varun Beverages Limited 650 000 000 650 000 000 650 000 000 650 000 000

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate. The loan is repayable in 2 instalments, the 1st instalment of 50% of the capital
amount is repayable on the fifth anniversary of the disbursement of the loan and the balance of the loan is payable within 7 years of the loan
disbursement.

The above loan has been subordinated in favour of the loan provided by Rand Merchant Bank to the company. The subordination agreements
were extended to August 2026 after year end. Accordingly, the loan may only be settled subsequent to the Rand Merchant Bank loan being
settled at the end of August 2026.

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current liabilities 650 000 000 650 000 000 650 000 000 650 000 000

17. Other financial liabilities

Held at amortised cost
Rand Merchant Bank 900 000 000 899 999 999 900 000 000 899 999 999

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current liabilities 900 000 000 899 999 999 900 000 000 899 999 999

The loan is secured by a mortgage bond over the company's assets and trademarks to the value of R2.28 billion, bears interest at the JIBAR
rate plus 3.8% and has quarterly repayments of interest. The facility is to be settled on 26 March 2027.

Financial covenants for the Rand Merchant Bank loan

The funding facilities to the group provided by Rand Merchant Bank are subject to the following financial covenants. All financial covenants
were met in the respective periods.

a) The Net Debt/EBITDA ratio shall not exceed:

 Measurement period ending on or before 31 March 2026, ratio of 3.75:1 and;

 Measurement period after 31 March 2026, ratio of 3.50:1 and;

 The shareholder shall ensure that the ratio shall not exceed 2.5:1

b) The Net Interest Cover ratio shall be equal to or more than:

 Measurement period ending on or before 31 March 2026, ratio of 2.50:1
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17. Other financial liabilities (continued)

Refer to note 6 for details of the assets pledged and ceded for facilities provided by Rand Merchant Bank to the company. Refer to note 14 for
details of the banking facilities with Rand Merchant Bank.

Exposure to liquidity risk

Refer to note 33 for details of liquidity risk exposure and management.

18. Deferred tax

Deferred tax liability

Prepaid expenses (3 502 380) (421 085) (3 502 380) (421 085)
Right-of-use assets (143 924 054) (95 414 383) (143 924 054) (95 414 383)
Property, plant and equipment (101 610 290) (98 139 959) (101 610 290) (98 139 959)
Intangible assets (59 504 546) (66 593 119) (59 504 546) (66 593 119)

Total deferred tax liability (308 541 270) (260 568 546) (308 541 270) (260 568 546)

Deferred tax asset

Lease liability 154 724 583 102 380 705 154 724 583 102 380 705
Provision for bad debts 17 755 439 16 459 439 17 755 439 16 459 439
Income received in advance - 2 060 387 - 2 060 387
Provisions 24 707 780 18 689 793 24 707 780 18 689 793

Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other than
unused tax losses

197 187 802 139 590 324 197 187 802 139 590 324

Tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income 29 604 713 49 548 992 29 604 713 49 548 992

Total deferred tax asset 226 792 515 189 139 316 226 792 515 189 139 316

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law allows net settlement. Therefore,
they have been offset in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability (308 541 270) (260 568 546) (308 541 270) (260 568 546)
Deferred tax asset 226 792 515 189 139 316 226 792 515 189 139 316

Total net deferred tax liability (81 748 755) (71 429 230) (81 748 755) (71 429 230)

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability

At beginning of year (71 429 230) (143 003 963) (71 429 230) -
Tax loss available for set off against future taxable income (19 944 279) 5 310 190 (19 944 279) 49 548 992
Temporary difference movement on computer software - 392 889 - -
Temporary difference movement on property, plant and
equipment

(3 470 331) 28 402 159 (3 470 331) (98 139 959)

Temporary difference movement on income received in
advance

(2 060 387) (516 384) (2 060 387) 2 060 387

Temporary difference movement on provisions 6 017 987 9 156 545 6 017 987 18 689 793
Temporary difference movement on provision for doubtful
debts

1 296 000 13 751 696 1 296 000 16 459 439

Temporary difference movement on prepaid expenses (3 081 295) (123 951) (3 081 295) (421 085)
Temporary difference movement on intangible assets 7 088 573 13 533 729 7 088 573 (66 593 119)
Temporary difference movement on right-of-use asset (48 509 671) (70 286 357) (48 509 671) (95 414 383)
Temporary difference movement on lease liability 52 343 878 71 954 217 52 343 878 102 380 705

(81 748 755) (71 429 230) (81 748 755) (71 429 230)
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18. Deferred tax (continued)

Change in tax rate

Effective 31 March 2023, the South African corporate income tax rate changed from 28% to 27%.

Utilisation of assessed losses

For tax years ending on or after 31 March 2023, Section 20 of the Income Tax Act of South Africa was amended to limit the deduction of
carried forward accumulated assessed losses, as a deduction from taxable income, to the higher of R1 million and 80% of the entity’s taxable
income for the year, determined before taking into account this provision. The balance of accumulated assessed losses remains available for
utilisation in future years, subject to the same provisions.

19. Trade and other payables

Financial instruments:
Trade payables 785 551 090 286 914 301 785 551 083 286 914 293
Other payables * 72 191 327 15 187 263 72 191 327 15 187 263
Accrued interest 52 094 570 18 029 508 52 094 570 18 029 508
Other accrued expenses ** 182 223 299 153 491 160 182 223 299 153 491 160
Non-financial instruments:
Accrued leave pay 21 804 122 19 269 882 21 804 122 19 269 882
Accrued employee expenses 14 731 248 10 617 564 14 731 248 10 617 564

1 128 595 656 503 509 678 1 128 595 649 503 509 670

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other payables

At amortised cost 1 092 060 286 473 622 232 1 092 060 279 473 622 224
Non-financial instruments 36 535 370 29 887 446 36 535 370 29 887 446

1 128 595 656 503 509 678 1 128 595 649 503 509 670

Other payables *

* Included in other payables is short term capital creditors and other dues payable.

Other accrued expenses **

* Included in other accrued expenses is accrued transport costs, resin purchase accruals and trade rebate accruals.
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20. Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of goods 2 389 329 127 4 090 478 289 2 389 329 127 1 655 782 301

Composition of revenue

The group composition of revenue is as follows:

Sale of goods
Sale of goods - Soft drinks 2 735 570 876 5 551 053 871 2 735 570 876 2 226 953 183
Rebates, discounts and allowances (346 241 749) (1 460 575 582) (346 241 749) (571 170 882)

2 389 329 127 4 090 478 289 2 389 329 127 1 655 782 301

Revenue by sales channel
Wholesale 1 347 646 234 2 246 230 209 1 347 646 234 911 289 585
Retail 701 497 470 1 262 580 458 701 497 470 509 115 525
Exports 196 916 579 315 337 621 196 916 579 126 171 326
Other 143 268 844 266 330 001 143 268 844 109 205 865

2 389 329 127 4 090 478 289 2 389 329 127 1 655 782 301

Timing of revenue recognition

At a point in time
Sale of goods 2 389 329 127 4 090 478 289 2 389 329 127 1 655 782 301

Transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied

No portion of the transaction price included in revenue has been allocated to performance obligations which are unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied at the reporting date.

21. Cost of sales

Sale of goods 1 311 327 800 2 232 947 104 1 311 327 800 931 244 046

Manufactured goods:
Depreciation 48 165 847 69 169 222 48 165 847 30 524 820

1 359 493 647 2 302 116 326 1 359 493 647 961 768 866

22. Other operating income

Other recoveries 589 390 2 825 463 589 390 1 374 055
Claims, refunds and sundry income * 4 041 427 3 823 276 4 041 427 384 572
Discount received - 23 352 - 11 336
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 134 165 317 415 134 165 -

4 764 982 6 989 506 4 764 982 1 769 963

* Comprises mainly of income from the sale of raw materials, supplier re-imbursement for defective materials, co-pack income for co-packing
service and re-imbursements from transporters for damages or lost goods.
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23. Other operating gains and losses

Gains (losses) on disposals, scrappings and settlements
Property, plant and equipment 3 (623 577) 840 512 (623 577) 840 512

Foreign exchange losses
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) 3 629 146 (674 706) 3 629 146 (235 082)

Total other operating gains 3 005 569 165 806 3 005 569 605 430

24. Operating profit (loss)

Operating profit (loss) for the 6 months is stated after accounting for the following, amongst others:

Employee costs

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 237 516 984 531 577 769 237 516 984 301 233 850
Retirement plans: defined contribution expense 9 110 314 15 336 209 9 110 314 5 231 405

Total employee costs in operating expenses 246 627 298 546 913 978 246 627 298 306 465 255

Short-term and low value leases

Operating lease charges
Premises 11 694 562 14 592 929 11 694 562 4 994 328
Equipment 26 566 970 56 737 159 26 566 970 25 289 368

38 261 532 71 330 088 38 261 532 30 283 696

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 47 148 119 73 837 619 47 148 119 34 094 925
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 56 069 207 96 356 003 56 069 207 45 256 740
Amortisation of intangible assets 22 993 571 55 058 052 22 993 571 21 444 870
Amortisation of security deposits 571 322 - 571 322 -

Total depreciation and amortisation 126 782 219 225 251 674 126 782 219 100 796 535
Less: Depreciation included in cost of merchandise sold and
inventories

(48 165 847) (69 169 222) (48 165 847) (30 524 820)

78 616 372 156 082 452 78 616 372 70 271 715

Other material items
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) (3 629 146) 674 706 (3 629 146) 235 082
Motor vehicle expenses 15 172 869 34 058 857 15 172 869 13 357 369
Repairs and maintenance 67 258 160 133 693 786 67 258 160 50 827 412
Integration costs - 862 580 - 862 580
Merchandising expenses 23 198 900 39 825 514 23 198 900 14 902 639
IT expenses 22 391 596 21 766 431 22 391 596 9 090 185
Municipal expenses and utilities 4 747 738 9 553 858 4 747 738 3 260 220
Advertising and promotion expenses 70 497 704 169 937 745 70 497 704 51 340 004
Depot costs 80 416 668 179 246 557 80 416 668 77 819 594
Legal fees 2 772 818 2 800 838 2 772 818 589 631
Deal costs - 48 933 414 - 35 760 300
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

25. Investment revenue

Dividend income
Subsidiaries - - - 1 041 496 206

Bank 529 928 158 097 529 928 57 948
Shareholders 2 902 475 2 097 033 2 902 475 -
Other related parties - 585 980 - 82 968 434

3 432 403 2 841 110 3 432 403 83 026 382

3 432 403 2 841 110 3 432 403 1 124 522 588

26. Finance charges

Loans to related parties 39 853 347 96 370 695 39 853 347 96 370 695
Lease liabilities 28 235 518 30 395 468 28 235 518 17 624 498
Bank overdraft 28 284 011 32 669 124 28 284 011 14 119 256
Other interest paid 477 495 8 423 073 477 495 5 128 856
Finance facility 44 265 205 55 994 203 44 265 205 28 841 259
Guarantee fee 7 560 129 - 7 560 129 -

148 675 705 223 852 563 148 675 705 162 084 564

27. Other non-operating losses

Impairment losses on
Investments in subsidiaries - - - (808 973 596)
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

28. Taxation

Major components of the tax expense / (income)

Current
Local income tax - current period - 434 733 - -

Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences 10 319 556 (69 933 687) 10 319 556 71 429 230

10 319 556 (69 498 954) 10 319 556 71 429 230

Reconciliation of the tax expense / (income)

Reconciliation between accounting profit / (loss) and tax expense / (income):

Accounting loss (39 900 139) (564 911 672) (39 900 139) (224 353 965)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 27% (June 2024: 27%) (10 773 038) (152 526 151) (10 773 038) (60 575 571)

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenses 32 86 651 32 68
Legal fees 359 575 78 668 359 575 74 364
Deal costs - 13 212 022 - 9 655 281
Fines and penalties 8 333 53 835 8 333 40 622
Depreciation on leasehold improvements 321 648 694 076 321 648 291 681
Non-deductible interest 635 522 - 635 522 -
Plant and machinery deferred tax adjustments - 12 437 259 - 56 089
Dividend received - - - (281 203 976)
Tax losses carried forward - - - 218 422 870
Assessed losses carried forward - 14 534 904 - -
Section 23N interest not deductible 12 295 039 40 333 376 12 295 039 26 020 088
Other deferred tax adjustments 7 472 445 1 161 673 7 472 445 -
Section 45 transfers - - - 158 647 714
Assessed loss limitation - 434 733 - -

10 319 556 (69 498 954) 10 319 556 71 429 230

The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R161 741 656 (30 June 2024: R183 514 787).

Change in tax rate

Effective 31 March 2023, the South African corporate income tax rate changed from 28% to 27%.
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

29. Cash generated from / (used in) operations

Loss before taxation (39 900 139) (564 911 672) (39 900 139) (224 353 965)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 126 210 897 225 251 674 126 210 897 100 796 535
(Profit) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 623 577 (840 512) 623 577 (21 950)
Credit loss allowances 8 000 000 84 887 007 8 000 000 101 601 473
Dividend income - - - (1 041 496 206)
Investment revenue (3 432 403) (2 841 110) (3 432 403) (83 026 382)
Interest expense 148 675 705 223 852 563 148 675 705 162 084 564
Impairments - 31 457 000 - 808 973 596
Movement in stock loss provision (8 547 751) 13 185 276 (8 547 751) 14 679 288
Other non-cash items - (3 282 092) - -
Changes in working capital:
Inventories (103 799 430) 27 582 718 (103 799 430) 14 036 878
Trade and other receivables (446 775 895) 18 388 673 (446 775 895) 183 912 092
Prepayments 33 420 693 (76 446 368) 33 420 693 (74 326 160)
Trade and other payables 506 702 006 (31 419 545) 506 702 006 18 867 313

221 177 260 (55 136 388) 221 177 260 (18 272 924)

30. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Group - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Interest
accrued

New leases Other
non-cash

movements

Total
non-cash

movements

Cash flows Closing balance

Other financial liabilities 899 999 999 - - 1 1 - 900 000 000
Loans from shareholders 650 000 000 - - - - - 650 000 000
Lease liabilities 379 187 796 28 235 518 226 813 563 - 255 049 081 (61 182 868) 573 054 009

1 929 187 795 28 235 518 226 813 563 1 255 049 082 (61 182 868) 2 123 054 009

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Group - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Interest
accrued

New leases Other
non-cash

movements

Total
non-cash

movements

Cash flows Closing balance

Other financial liabilities 399 999 999 - - - - 500 000 000 899 999 999
Loans from shareholders 992 079 157 96 370 695 - - 96 370 695 (438 449 852) 650 000 000
Lease liabilities 112 690 696 30 395 468 108 915 589 233 163 835 372 474 892 (105 977 792) 379 187 796
Preference share liabilities 30 311 811 - - - - (30 311 811) -

1 535 081 663 126 766 163 108 915 589 233 163 835 468 845 587 (74 739 455) 1 929 187 795

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Company - 31 December 2024

Opening
balance

Interest
accrued

New leases Other
non-cash

movements

Total
non-cash

movements

Cash flows Closing balance

Other financial liabilities 899 999 999 - - 1 1 - 900 000 000
Loans from shareholders 650 000 000 - - - - - 650 000 000
Lease liabilities 379 187 796 28 235 518 226 813 563 - 255 049 081 (61 182 868) 573 054 009

1 929 187 795 28 235 518 226 813 563 1 255 049 082 (61 182 868) 2 123 054 009
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

30. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Company - 30 June 2024

Opening
balance

Interest
accrued

New leases Other
non-cash

movements

Total
non-cash

movements

Cash flows Closing balance

Other financial liabilities - - - 404 637 259 404 637 259 495 362 740 899 999 999
Loans from shareholders 992 079 157 96 370 695 - - 96 370 695 (438 449 852) 650 000 000
Lease liabilities - 17 624 498 15 929 547 383 536 605 417 090 650 (37 902 854) 379 187 796
Preference share liabilities 30 311 811 - - - - (30 311 811) -

1 022 390 968 113 995 193 15 929 547 788 173 864 918 098 604 (11 301 777) 1 929 187 795

31. Related parties

`

Relationships

Holding company Varun Beverages Limited 

Subsidiaries The Beverage Company BIDCO Proprietary Limited
Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited
SoftBev Proprietary Limited 
 

Fellow subsidiaries Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt Limited
VBL Mozambique, SA
Lunarmech Technologies Private Limited 
 

Shareholders Varun Beverages Limited
Varun Beverages SA Proprietary Limited
The Bevco Employee Trust 

Directors and key management WR Nidd
PW Spies
SK Iyer
K Naidoo
SR Mehmood
S Sharma

Related party balances

Loan accounts - Owing (to) by related parties
Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited - - - 2 966 656
Varun Beverages Limited (650 000 000) (650 000 000) (650 000 000) (650 000 000)
Varun Beverages SA Proprietary Limited - 48 765 821 - 48 765 821
The Bevco Employee Trust (original capital) 48 179 841 - 48 179 841 -
The Bevco Employee Trust (interest receivable) 3 488 455 - 3 488 455 -

Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable)
regarding related parties
Varun Beverages Limited (52 094 570) (18 029 508) (52 094 570) (18 029 508)
Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt Limited 942 671 - 942 671 -
VBL Mozambique, SA 706 560 - 706 560 -
Lunarmech Technologies Private Limited (2 017 802) - (2 017 802) -
Varun Beverages Limited (4 144 943) - (4 144 943) -
Varun Beverages Limited (347 527) - (347 527) -
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Group Company

6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 December 30 June 31 December 30 June
Figures in Rand 2024 2024 2024 2024

R R R R

31. Related parties (continued)

Related party transactions

Interest earned from related parties
Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited - - - (81 823 294)
Little Green Beverages Management Trust - (3 311 449) - -
Varun Beverages SA Proprietary Limited - (585 980) - (585 980)
The Bevco Employee Trust (2 902 475) - (2 902 475) -
The Beverage Company BIDCO Proprietary Limited - - - (1 145 139)

Interest accrued to related parties
BOE Private Equity Investments Proprietary Limited - 22 117 743 - 5 805 901
Ethos Capital VI GP (SA) Limited - 6 532 836 - 6 532 836
Ethos Capital VI GP (Jersey) Limited - 48 124 621 - 48 124 621
Ethos Fund VI GP Co-Investment Trust - 1 565 987 - 1 565 987
Gilbert Marketing CC - 247 795 - 247 795
Harlequin Holdings Trust - 1 384 154 - 1 384 154
Varun Beverages Limited 39 853 347 18 029 508 39 853 347 18 029 508

Dividends paid to / (received from) related parties
The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited - - - (1 041 496 104)

Guarantee fees paid to related parties
Varun Beverages Limited 7 560 129 - 7 560 129 -

Sales to related parties
Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt Limited (2 599 556) - (2 599 556) -

Capital expenses from related parties
Lunarmech Technologies Private Limited 1 976 600 - 1 976 600 -
Varun Beverages (Zimbabwe) Pvt Limited 15 514 800 - 15 514 800 -

32. Commitments and contingencies

The group is suvject to capital commitments amounting to R44 570 000 and contingencies amounting to R573 000.
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33. Financial instruments and risk management

Financial risk management

Overview

The group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
Ÿ Credit risk;
Ÿ Liquidity risk; and
Ÿ Interest rate risk.

The board of directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group's risk management framework. The board
has established the risk committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the group's risk management policies. The committee
reports quarterly to the board of directors on its activities.

The group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the group, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and the group's activities.

The group's management oversees how management monitors compliance with the risk management policies and procedures and reviews the
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the group. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc
reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

The group is exposed to credit risk on other receivables, trade and other receivables, and  cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk for exposures other than those arising on cash and cash equivalents, are managed by making use of credit approvals, limits and
monitoring. The group only deals with reputable counterparties with consistent payment histories. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also
obtained when necessary. Each counterparty is analysed individually for creditworthiness before terms and conditions are offered. The analysis
involves making use of information submitted by the counterparties as well as external bureau data (where available). Counterparty credit limits
are in place and are reviewed and approved by credit management committees. The exposure to credit risk and the creditworthiness of
counterparties is continuously monitored. 

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents is managed by the group through dealing with well-established financial institutions
with high credit ratings. 

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are recognised for all debt instruments.

In order to calculate credit loss allowances, management determines whether the loss allowances should be calculated on a 12 month or on a
lifetime expected credit loss basis. This determination depends on whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, then the loss allowance is calculated based on lifetime expected credit losses.
If not, then the loss allowance is based on 12 month expected credit losses. This determination is made at the end of each financial period.
Thus the basis of the loss allowance for a specific financial asset could change year on year.

Management applies the principle that if a financial asset's credit risk is low at year end, then, by implication, the credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition. In all such cases, the loss allowance is based on 12 month expected credit losses. Credit risk is assessed
as low if there is a low risk of default (where default is defined as occurring when amounts are 120 days past due). When determining the risk
of default, management considers information such as payment history to date, industry in which the customer operates, period for which the
customer has been in existence, external credit references etc. In any event, if amounts are 30 days past due, then the credit risk is assumed
to have increased significantly since initial recognition. Credit risk is not assessed to be low simply because of the value of collateral associated
with a financial instrument. If the instrument would not have a low credit risk in the absence of collateral, then the credit risk is not considered
low when taking the collateral into account. Trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component are the exceptions and
are discussed below.

Where necessary, the assessment for a significant increase in credit risk is made on a collective basis. Management typically adopts this
approach when information relevant to the determination of credit risk is not available on an individual instrument level. Often, the only
information available on individual instruments which could indicate an increase in credit risk, is "past due" information. It is typical that more
forward-looking information is generally more readily available on a collective basis. Therefore, making the determination on a collective basis,
helps to ensure that credit loss allowances are determined on the basis of lifetime expected credit losses before they reach the point of being
past due. Forward looking, macro-economic information is applied on a collective basis when it is readily available without undue cost or effort.
When loss allowances are determined on a collective basis, management determines the loss allowances by grouping financial instruments on
the basis of shared credit risk characteristics.
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33. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

For trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component, the loss allowance is determined as the lifetime expected credit
losses of the instruments. Management has chosen as an accounting policy, to make use of lifetime expected credit losses. Management does
therefore not make the annual assessment of whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition for trade receivables.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

Group 31 December
2024

30 June 2024

Note Gross carrying
amount

Credit loss
allowance

Amortised
cost / fair

value

Gross carrying
amount

Credit loss
allowance

Amortised
cost / fair

value

Loans to shareholders 9 48 179 841 - 48 179 841 48 765 821 - 48 765 821
Other receivables 133 128 441 - 133 128 441 - - -
Other financial assets 10 20 038 181 - 20 038 181 - - -
Trade and other receivables 13 1 122 776 183 (109 601 473) 1 013 174 710 650 944 025 (101 601 473) 549 342 552
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 - 23 652 283 34 097 237 - 34 097 237

1 347 774 929 (109 601 473) 1 238 173 456 733 807 083 (101 601 473) 632 205 610

Company 31 December
2024

30 June 2024

Note Gross carrying
amount

Credit loss
allowance

Amortised
cost / fair

value

Gross carrying
amount

Credit loss
allowance

Amortised
cost / fair

value

Loans to related parties 8 - - - 2 966 656 - 2 966 656
Loans to shareholders 9 48 179 841 - 48 179 841 48 765 821 - 48 765 821
Other receivables 133 128 441 - 133 128 441 - - -
Other financial assets 10 20 038 181 - 20 038 181 - - -
Trade and other receivables 13 1 122 776 183 (109 601 473) 1 013 174 710 650 944 025 (101 601 473) 549 342 552
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 - 23 652 283 34 097 237 - 34 097 237

1 347 774 929 (109 601 473) 1 238 173 456 736 773 739 (101 601 473) 635 172 266

Refer to the notes specific to the exposures in the table above, for additional information concerning credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The group is exposed to liquidity risk, which is the risk that the group will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations as they become due.
The group manages its liquidity risk by effectively managing its working capital, capital expenditure and cash flows. The financing requirements
are met through a mixture of cash generated from operations and long and short-term borrowings. Committed borrowing facilities are available
for meeting liquidity requirements and deposits are held at central banking institutions. There have been no significant changes in the liquidity
risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial assets held to mitigate the risk, are presented in
the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted contractual amounts.

Group - 31 December 2024

Note On demand Less than one
year

More than one
year

Total Carrying
amount

Non-current liabilities
Loans from shareholders 16 - - (668 029 508) (668 029 508) (650 000 000)
Other financial liabilities 17 - - (1 198 484 999) (1 198 484 999) (900 000 000)
Lease liabilities 4 - - (763 445 878) (763 445 878) (430 365 520)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 - (1 092 060 286) - (1 092 060 286) (1 092 060 286)
Lease liabilities 4 - (142 727 854) - (142 727 854) (142 688 489)
Bank overdraft 14 (574 618 883) - - (574 618 883) (574 618 883)

(574 618 883) (1 234 788 140) (2 629 960 385) (4 439 367 408) (3 789 733 178)
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Non-current assets
Loans to shareholders 9 - - 48 179 841 48 179 841 48 179 841
Other financial assets 10 - - 20 038 181 20 038 181 20 038 181
Other receivables 11 - - 9 299 346 9 299 346 9 299 346

Current assets
Other receivables 11 - 123 829 095 - 123 829 095 123 829 095
Trade and other receivables 13 - 1 013 174 710 - 1 013 174 710 1 013 174 710
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 - - 23 652 283 23 652 283

23 652 283 1 137 003 805 77 517 368 1 238 173 456 1 238 173 456

(550 966 600) (97 784 335) (2 552 443 017) (3 201 193 952) (2 551 559 722)

Group - 30 June 2024

Note On demand Less than one
year

More than one
year

Total Carrying
amount

Non-current liabilities
Loans from shareholders 16 - - (668 029 508) (668 029 508) (650 000 000)
Other financial liabilities 17 - - (1 198 484 999) (1 198 484 999) (899 999 999)
Lease liabilities 4 - - (440 005 776) (440 005 776) (271 125 108)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 - (473 622 232) - (473 622 232) (473 622 232)
Lease liabilities 4 - (108 170 513) - (108 170 513) (108 062 688)
Bank overdraft 14 (363 030 614) - - (363 030 614) (363 030 614)

(363 030 614) (581 792 745) (2 306 520 283) (3 251 343 642) (2 765 840 641)

Non-current assets
Loans to shareholders 9 - - 48 765 821 48 765 821 48 765 821

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 13 - 549 342 552 - 549 342 552 549 342 552
Cash and cash equivalents 14 34 097 237 - - 34 097 237 34 097 237

34 097 237 549 342 552 48 765 821 632 205 610 632 205 610

(328 933 377) (32 450 193) (2 257 754 462) (2 619 138 032) (2 133 635 031)

Company - 31 December 2024

Note On demand Less than one
year

More than one
year

Total Carrying
amount

Non-current liabilities
Loans from shareholders 16 - - (650 000 000) (650 000 000) (650 000 000)
Other financial liabilities 17 - - (1 198 484 999) (1 198 484 999) (900 000 000)
Lease liabilities 4 - - (763 445 878) (763 445 878) (430 365 520)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables - (1 092 060 279) - (1 092 060 279) (1 092 060 279)
Lease liabilities 4 - (142 727 854) - (142 727 854) (142 688 489)
Bank overdraft 14 (574 618 883) - - (574 618 883) (574 618 883)

(574 618 883) (1 234 788 133) (2 611 930 877) (4 421 337 893) (3 789 733 171)
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33. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Non-current assets
Other receivables 11 - - 9 299 346 9 299 346 9 299 346
Loans to shareholders 9 - - 48 179 841 48 179 841 48 179 841
Other financial assets 10 - - 20 038 181 20 038 181 20 038 181

Current assets
Other receivables 11 - 123 829 095 - 123 829 095 123 829 095
Trade and other receivables 13 - 1 013 174 710 - 1 013 174 710 1 013 174 710
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 - - 23 652 283 23 652 283

23 652 283 1 137 003 805 77 517 368 1 238 173 456 1 238 173 456

(550 966 600) (97 784 328) (2 534 413 509) (3 183 164 437) (2 551 559 715)

Company - 30 June 2024

Note On demand Less than one
year

More than one
year

Total Carrying amount

Non-current liabilities
Loans from shareholders 16 - - (668 029 508) (668 029 508) (650 000 000)
Other financial liabilities 17 - - (1 198 484 999) (1 198 484 999) (899 999 999)
Lease liabilities - - (440 005 776) (440 005 776) (271 125 108)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 - (473 622 224) - (473 622 224) (473 622 224)
Lease liabilities - (108 062 688) - (108 062 688) (108 062 688)
Bank overdraft 14 (363 030 614) - - (363 030 614) (363 030 614)

(363 030 614) (581 684 912) (2 306 520 283) (3 251 235 809) (2 765 840 633)

Non-current assets
Loans to shareholders 9 - - 48 765 821 48 765 821 48 765 821
Loans to related parties 8 - - 2 966 656 2 966 656 2 966 656

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 13 - 549 342 552 - 549 342 552 549 342 552
Cash and cash equivalents 14 34 097 237 - - 34 097 237 34 097 237

34 097 237 549 342 552 51 732 477 635 172 266 635 172 266

(328 933 377) (32 342 360) (2 254 787 806) (2 616 063 543) (2 130 668 367)

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of investments and financing activities, giving rise to interest rate risk.

The debt of the group is comprised of different instruments, which bear interest at either fixed or floating interest rates. The ratio of fixed and
floating rate instruments in the loan portfolio is monitored and managed, by incurring either variable or fixed rate bank loans.

There have been no significant changes in the interest rate risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.
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33. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis has been prepared using a sensitivity rate which is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. All other variables
remain constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk which were recognised at the reporting
date. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous
reporting period.

Group 31 December
2024

30 June 2024 31 December
2024

30 June 2024

Increase or decrease in rate by 2% Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Impact on profit or loss: 
Varun Beverages Limited (13 000 000) 13 000 000 (13 000 000) 13 000 000

Company 31 December
2024

30 June 2024 31 December
2024

30 June 2024

Increase or decrease in rate by 2% Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Impact on profit or loss: 
Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited (prime interest rate plus
2%)

- - 59 333 (59 333)

Varun Beverages Limited (13 000 000) 13 000 000 (13 000 000) 13 000 000

(13 000 000) 13 000 000 (12 940 667) 12 940 667

Capital risk management

The group's objective when managing capital (which includes share capital, borrowings, working capital and cash and cash equivalents) is to
maintain a flexible capital structure that reduces the cost of capital to an acceptable level of risk and to safeguard the group's ability to continue
as a going concern while taking advantage of strategic opportunities in order to maximise sustainable stakeholder returns.

The group manages capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the shareholders, return
capital to the shareholders, repurchase shares currently issued, issue new shares, issue new debt, issue new debt to replace existing debt with
different characteristics and/or sell assets to reduce debt.

The financial covenants of the Rand Merchant Bank loan imposes capital requirements on the group. Refer to note 17 for further details.
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33. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial assets

Group - 31 December 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value

Loans to shareholders 9 48 179 841 48 179 841 48 179 841
Other financial assets 10 20 038 181 20 038 181 20 038 181
Other receivables 133 128 441 133 128 441 133 128 441
Trade and other receivables 13 1 013 174 710 1 013 174 710 1 013 174 710
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 23 652 283 23 652 283

1 238 173 456 1 238 173 456 1 238 173 456

Group - 30 June 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value

Loans to shareholders 9 48 765 821 48 765 821 48 765 821
Trade and other receivables 13 549 342 552 549 342 552 549 342 552
Cash and cash equivalents 14 34 097 237 34 097 237 34 097 237

632 205 610 632 205 610 632 205 610

Company - 31 December 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value

Loans to shareholders 9 48 179 841 48 179 841 48 179 841
Other financial assets 10 20 038 181 20 038 181 20 038 181
Other receivables 11 133 128 441 133 128 441 133 128 441
Trade and other receivables 13 1 013 174 710 1 013 174 710 1 013 174 710
Cash and cash equivalents 14 23 652 283 23 652 283 23 652 283

1 238 173 456 1 238 173 456 1 238 173 456

Company - 30 June 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value

Loans to related parties 8 2 966 656 2 966 656 2 966 656
Loans to shareholders 9 48 765 821 48 765 821 48 765 821
Trade and other receivables 13 549 342 552 549 342 552 549 342 552
Cash and cash equivalents 14 34 097 237 34 097 237 34 097 237

635 172 266 635 172 266 635 172 266

Categories of financial liabilities

Group - 31 December 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Leases Total Fair value

Trade and other payables 19 1 092 060 286 - 1 092 060 286 1 092 060 286
Loans from shareholders 16 650 000 000 - 650 000 000 650 000 000
Other financial liabilities 17 900 000 000 - 900 000 000 900 000 000
Lease liabilities 4 - 573 054 009 573 054 009 573 054 009
Bank overdraft 14 574 618 883 - 574 618 883 574 618 883

3 216 679 169 573 054 009 3 789 733 178 3 789 733 178
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33. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Group - 30 June 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Leases Total Fair value

Trade and other payables 19 473 622 232 - 473 622 232 473 622 232
Loans from shareholders 16 650 000 000 - 650 000 000 650 000 000
Other financial liabilities 17 899 999 999 - 899 999 999 899 999 999
Lease liabilities 4 - 379 187 796 379 187 796 379 187 796
Bank overdraft 14 363 030 614 - 363 030 614 363 030 614

2 386 652 845 379 187 796 2 765 840 641 2 765 840 641

Company - 31 December 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Leases Total Fair value

Trade and other payables 19 1 092 060 279 - 1 092 060 279 1 092 060 279
Loans from shareholders 16 650 000 000 - 650 000 000 650 000 000
Other financial liabilities 17 900 000 000 - 900 000 000 900 000 000
Lease liabilities 4 - 573 054 009 573 054 009 573 054 009
Bank overdraft 14 574 618 883 - 574 618 883 574 618 883

3 216 679 162 573 054 009 3 789 733 171 3 789 733 171

Company - 30 June 2024

Note(s) Amortised cost Leases Total Fair value

Trade and other payables 19 473 622 224 - 473 622 224 473 622 224
Loans from shareholders 16 650 000 000 - 650 000 000 650 000 000
Other financial liabilities 17 899 999 999 - 899 999 999 899 999 999
Finance lease obligations - 379 187 796 379 187 796 379 187 796
Bank overdraft 14 363 030 614 - 363 030 614 363 030 614

2 386 652 837 379 187 796 2 765 840 633 2 765 840 633
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34. Transfer of business from Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited

In the prior year following the change of the ultimate shareholder of The Beverage Company Proprietary Limited to Varun Beverages Limited,
and in terms of a group reorganisation, Little Green Beverages Proprietary Limited transferred its business as a going concern to The Beverage
Company Proprietary Limited as a distribution in anticipation of its liquidation. The sale of business was effected on 6 February 2024.

Carrying value of assets and liabilities transferred
Property, plant and equipment 599 550 665
Intangible assets 271 537 025
Right-of-use assets 155 726 722
Goodwill 606 135 487
Inventories 328 459 701
Trade and other receivables 839 393 872
Trade and other payables (470 401 104)
Lease liabilities (167 711 344)
Borrowings (404 637 259)
Cash 2 155 135
Loans from group companies (1 987 079 543)
Loans to group companies 31 692 685
Bank overdraft (215 795 518)

(410 973 476)

Consideration
Dividend in specie declared 410 973 476

Net cash transferred
Bank overdraft transferred (215 795 518)
Bank balances transferred 2 155 135

(213 640 383)
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arun Foods (Zimbabwe) (Private) Limited
Balance sheet as at37Dec2024

Opening
Add: Loss

Reserve & Surplus

Liabilities
Other Current Liabilities

1.0,347.30

10,347.30

10,000.00

393.81,

393.81

10,347,30

Fot Vatun Foods (Zimbabwe) (Private) Limited



Statement of Profit and Loss for the period ended 3lDec 2024

46.51,

46.51

(46.51)

Bank Charges

Ptofit befote tax

Fot Vatun Foods (Zimbabwe) (Private) Limited

22-01-2025 (Directot)

Particular ,, u$D :

3rl)cb 4024
























































































































































